
 

 

Notice of Meeting 
 

CABINET 
 

Tuesday, 24 September 2013 - 5:00 pm 
Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Dagenham 

 
Members: Councillor L A Smith (Chair); Councillor R Gill (Deputy Chair); Councillor J L 
Alexander, Councillor H J Collins, Councillor C Geddes, Councillor M A McCarthy, 
Councillor L A Reason, Councillor P T Waker, Councillor J R White and Councillor M M 
Worby 
 
 
Date of publication: 16 September 2013      Graham Farrant 
          Chief Executive 
 

Contact Officer: Alan Dawson 
Tel. 020 8227 2348 

E-mail: alan.dawson@lbbd.gov.uk 
 

 
AGENDA 

  
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declaration of Members' Interests   
 
 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Members are asked to declare any 

interest they may have in any matter which is to be considered at this meeting.  
 

3. Minutes - To confirm as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 23 July 
2013 (Pages 3 - 6)  

 
4. Budget Monitoring 2013/14 - April to July 2013 (Month 4) (Pages 7 - 42)  
 
5. Corporate Priority Performance Reporting - Quarter 1 Update (Pages 43 - 52)  
 
6. Second Local Implementation Plan 2014/15 - 2016/17 Delivery and Monitoring 

Plan and Borough Cycling Programme 2013/14 - 2016/17 (Pages 53 - 75)  
 
7. Barking and Dagenham Employment Areas Local Development Order (Pages 

77 - 108)  
 
8. Future Arrangements for the Management of Scrattons Community Centre 

(Pages 109 - 116)  
 
9. May and Baker Sports Ground (Pages 117 - 125)  
 



 

 

10. Delegation of Enforcement Powers for Regulating Illegal Money Lending 
Activity (Pages 127 - 140)  

 
11. Debt Management Performance and Write-Offs 2013/14 (Quarter 1) (Pages 141 

- 160)  
 
12. Any other public items which the Chair decides are urgent   
 
13. To consider whether it would be appropriate to pass a resolution to exclude 

the public and press from the remainder of the meeting due to the nature of 
the business to be transacted.   

 
Private Business 

 
The public and press have a legal right to attend Council meetings such as the 
Cabinet, except where business is confidential or certain other sensitive 
information is to be discussed.  The list below shows why items are in the private 
part of the agenda, with reference to the relevant paragraph of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).  There are no 
such items at the time of preparing this agenda.  

 
14. Any other confidential or exempt items which the Chair decides are urgent   
 



 

 
 
Barking and Dagenham’s Vision 
 
Encourage growth and unlock the potential of Barking and Dagenham and its 
residents. 

 
Priorities 
 
To achieve the vision for Barking and Dagenham there are five priorities that underpin its 
delivery: 

 
1. Ensure every child is valued so that they can succeed 
 

• Ensure children and young people are safe, healthy and well educated 

• Improve support and fully integrate services for vulnerable children, young people 
and families  

• Challenge child poverty and narrow the gap in attainment and aspiration  

 
2. Reduce crime and the fear of crime  
 

• Tackle crime priorities set via engagement and the annual strategic assessment 

• Build community cohesion 

• Increase confidence in the community safety services provided 

 
3. Improve health and wellbeing through all stages of life 
 

• Improving care and support for local people including acute services 

• Protecting and safeguarding local people from ill health and disease 

• Preventing future disease and ill health 

 
4. Create thriving communities by maintaining and investing in new and high 

quality homes 
 

• Invest in Council housing to meet need 

• Widen the housing choice 

• Invest in new and innovative ways to deliver affordable housing 

 
5. Maximise growth opportunities and increase the household income of borough 

residents  
 

• Attract Investment 

• Build business  

• Create a higher skilled workforce 

Agenda Annex

Page 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF 

CABINET 

 
Tuesday, 23 July 2013 
(5:00  - 5:47 pm)  

  
Present: Councillor R Gill (Deputy Chair in the Chair), Councillor J L Alexander, 
Councillor C Geddes, Councillor M A McCarthy, Councillor L A Reason, Councillor 
P T Waker, Councillor J R White and Councillor M M Worby 
 
Apologies: Councillor L A Smith and Councillor H J Collins 
 

22. Declaration of Members' Interests 
 
 The following declarations of non-pecuniary interests were made in respect of 

agenda item 11 (Barking Abbey and Robert Clack Comprehensive Schools: 
Acceptance of Football Foundation Grants for Artificial Grass Pitches): 
 
� Councillor Geddes - Council-appointed Governor of Barking Abbey 
Comprehensive; 

� Councillor Gill - Council-appointed Governor of Barking Abbey 
Comprehensive; 

� Councillor White - Council-appointed Governor of Robert Clack 
Comprehensive. 

 
23. Minutes (25 June 2013) 
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 25 June 2013 were confirmed as correct. 

 
24. Budget Monitoring 2013/14 - April to May 2013 
 
 The Deputy Chief Finance Officer presented a report on the Council’s revenue and 

capital budget position for the 2013/14 financial year as at 31 May 2013. 
 
The General Fund position showed a projected end of year surplus of £6.4m 
against the total approved budget of £178.1m, which would result in the General 
Fund balance increasing to £23.9m.  The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
showed a projected break-even position. 
 
In respect of the Capital Programme, the Deputy Chief Finance Officer referred to 
a number of proposed amendments to existing schemes and the inclusion of new 
schemes relating to Direct Payment Adaptations (£0.4m), Disabled Facilities Grant 
(£0.575m) and Community Capacity Grant (£0.491m). 
 
Cabinet resolved: 
 
(i) To note the projected outturn position for 2013/14 of the Council’s revenue 

budget at 31 May 2013, as detailed in paragraphs 2.3 to 2.11 and Appendix 
A of the report; 

 
(ii) To note the progress against the 2013/14 savings targets at 31 May 2013, 

as detailed in paragraph 2.12 and Appendix B of the report; 

AGENDA ITEM 3

Page 3



 
(iii) To note the position for the HRA at 31 May 2013, as detailed in paragraph 

2.13 and Appendix C of the report; 
 
(iv) To note the projected outturn position for 2013/14 of the Council’s capital 

budget at 31 May 2013, as detailed in paragraph 2.14 and Appendix D of 
the report; and 

 
(v) To approve the reprofiled Capital Programme as detailed in Appendix D 

plus the adjustments detailed in paragraph 2.12 of the report. 
 

25. Future Management Arrangements for the Library Service 
 
 The Divisional Director of Culture and Sport introduced a report on options for the 

future provision of library services in the Borough. 
 
The Divisional Director explained that the options were developed in the context of 
the budget saving requirements for 2014/15 and had been the subject of extensive 
public consultation and scrutiny via the Safer and Stronger Select Committee.  The 
preferred option (Option 2) represented a ‘mixed economy’ approach which 
included:  
 
� The Council continuing to directly manage Dagenham Library, Barking 
Learning Centre, Valence Library and Thames View Library; 

� Reduced opening hours at Valence library (43 hours per week down to 36) 
and Thames View library (43 hours per week down to 30); 

� A community management arrangement introduced at Robert Jeyes Library; 
� A volunteer-delivered service at Marks Gate Library with the facility 
continuing to be managed by the Council. 

� Closure of Rush Green library in view of the enhanced service to be 
provided at Barking and Dagenham College (Rush Green Campus); 

� A service restructure to be undertaken to produce savings of £400,000 by 
2014/15. 

 
In outlining the anticipated timetable for implementing the new measures, the 
Divisional Director stressed that the ability to recruit volunteers was crucial to their 
success and would also strongly influence longer term proposals for the library 
service in view of the continuing pressures on Council funding for 2015/16 and 
beyond. 
 
With regard to the future of the Rush Green Library premises, the intention was to 
return the premises to housing accommodation although it was agreed that the 
final decision should be taken in consultation with the Cabinet Members for 
Finance and Housing to ensure that all parties were satisfied with the financial 
arrangements associated with the appropriation.  Members also discussed the 
need to strengthen the arrangements for reviewing vacant land and property. 
 
Cabinet resolved: 
 
(i) To approve the implementation of Option 2 as set out in the report in 

respect of the future management arrangements for the Library Service; 
 

(ii) To authorise the Corporate Director of Adult and Community Services, in 

Page 4



consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services, to: 
 
a. conclude the transfer of the Rush Green Library building to the Housing 
Service subject to agreement by the Chief Finance Officer, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Members for Finance and Housing, of the 
sum required, and  

b. approve the leasing arrangements for the Robert Jeyes Library; 
 
(iii) To note that savings of £400,000 would be achieved from implementing the 

above proposals in 2014/15;  
 
(iv) To agree that the difference between the agreed budget saving of £593,000 

and the anticipated saving of £400,000 be managed by the application of 
corporate contingency funds in 2014/15, and that for 2015/16 the shortfall 
be addressed as part of the budget savings requirement; and 

 
(v) To agree that, where appropriate and feasible, officers bring forward the 

implementation of these proposals into 2013/14. 
 

26. A Library Strategy for Barking and Dagenham 
 
 The Divisional Director of Culture and Sport introduced the report and confirmed 

that the proposed Strategy was compatible with the proposals approved via the 
preceding report. 
 
Cabinet resolved to approve the Libraries Strategy 2013 - 2016 as attached at 
Appendix 1 to the report. 
 

27. "Creative Barking and Dagenham": An Arts Strategy for the Borough 2013-16 
 
 The Divisional Director of Culture and Sport presented the report and suggested 

that the draft Arts Strategy was a proportionate reflection of the vision for the 
delivery and promotion of arts in the Borough over the next few years.  The 
Divisional Director also commented on the importance of an Arts Strategy in terms 
of attracting external funding for projects. 
 
Cabinet resolved to approve the Arts Strategy 2013-16 as attached at Appendix 1 
to the report. 
 

28. Children's Social Care Review 2012/13 
 
 The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services presented the report which reviewed 

the significant operational service developments and inspections during the 
2012/13 financial year. 
 
The Cabinet Member referred to the ongoing improvement in most service areas 
and the future pressures that would faced in the light of financial constraints and 
the changing demographics in the Borough. 
 
Cabinet resolved: 
 
(i) To note the service improvements and development areas contained within 

Page 5



the review report and action taken in response to local demand pressures; 
and 

 
(ii) To note the improvements to local corporate parenting arrangements and in 

particular the requirement of all officers and Councillors to continue to 
contribute to the Council’s statutory requirements, as a corporate parent, 
with regards to the Borough’s looked after children. 

 
29. Community Safety Partnership Annual Report 2012-13 
 
 The Cabinet Member for Crime, Justice and Communities introduced the 

Community Safety Partnership’s Annual Report for 2012/13. 
 
The Cabinet Member referred to the considerable successes during the year in the 
four priority areas of anti-social behaviour, serious youth violence, serious 
acquisitive crime and drugs and alcohol, and confirmed that those areas would 
remain the main focus for 2013/14.  
 
Cabinet resolved to note the Barking and Dagenham Community Safety 
Partnership Annual Report 2012/13. 
 

30. Disposal of Former Mayesbrook Nursing Home, Bevan Avenue, Barking 
 
 Further to Minute 83 (22 January 2013), the Cabinet Member for Finance advised 

on the outcome of the marketing of the former Mayesbrook Nursing Home site as 
a potential development site for private family housing. 
 
Cabinet resolved to approve the disposal of the Council’s freehold interest in the 
former Mayesbrook Nursing Home site, Bevan Avenue, shown edged red on the 
plan at Appendix 1, to Abbey Developments Limited on the terms set out in the 
report. 
 

Page 6



CABINET 
 

24 September 2013 
 

Title: Budget Monitoring 2013/14 - April to July 2013 (Month 4) 

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance 
 
Open Report For Decision 

 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Key Decision: Yes 

Report Author:  Steve Pearson, Group 
Accountant, Corporate Finance 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8227 5215 
E-mail: steve.pearson@lbbd.gov.uk 

Accountable Divisional Director: n/a 
 

Accountable Director: Jonathan Bunt, Chief Finance Officer 
 

Summary:  
 
This report provides Cabinet with an update of the Council’s revenue and capital position 
for the four months to the end of July 2013 projected to the year end.   
  
The Council began the current financial year in a stronger financial position than the 
previous year with a General Fund (GF) balance of £17.5m. 
 
At the end of July 2013 (Month 4), total service expenditure for the full year is projected to 
be £171.3m against the approved budget of £178.3m, a projected surplus of £7.0m.  This 
compares to the planned surplus of £5.2m agreed at Assembly in February 2013, which 
arose due to a late grant determination (Education Support grant (ESG)) and the decision 
to use a two year strategic approach to addressing funding issues in 2015/16.  Explanatory 
summaries are contained in section 2 of this report.  
 
The current projected surplus of £7.0m would result in the General Fund balance 
increasing to £24.4m. 
 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is projected to break even, maintaining the HRA 
reserve at £8.5m.  The HRA is a ring-fenced account and cannot make/receive 
contributions to/from the General Fund. 
 
The Capital Programme has been updated to reflect changes approved at Cabinet, and 
further adjustments requested.  The proposed budget will be  £129.6m.  Capital budgets 
cannot contribute to the General Fund or HRA revenue position although officers ensure 
that all appropriate capitalisations occur.  
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
(i) Note the projected outturn position for 2013/14 of the Council’s revenue budget at 

31 July 2013, as detailed in paragraphs 2.3 to 2.9 and Appendix A of the report; 

AGENDA ITEM 4

Page 7



 
(ii) Note the progress against the 2013/14 savings targets at 31 July 2013, as detailed 

in paragraph 2.10 and Appendix B of the report; 
 
(iii) Approve the charges for Scrap Metal licences as set out in paragraph 2.11 of the 

report; 
 
(iv) Note the position for the HRA at 31 July 2013, as detailed in paragraph 2.12 and 

Appendix C of the report; 
 
(v) Note the projected outturn position for 2013/14 of the Council’s Capital Programme 

at 31 July 2013, as detailed in paragraph 2.13 and Appendix D of the report; 
 
(vi) Approve the reprofiled Capital Programme as detailed in paragraph 2.13 and 

Appendix D; and 
 
(vii) Approve the use of £0.288m of the centrally held contingency for essential 

highways safety works as detailed in paragraph 2.13 (c) of the report. 
 

Reason(s) 
 
As a matter of good financial practice, the Cabinet should be regularly updated with the 
position on spend against the Council’s budget.  In particular, this paper alerts Members to 
particular efforts to reduce in-year expenditure in order to manage the financial position 
effectively. 
 

 
1 Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 This report provides a summary of the Council’s General Fund and HRA revenue 

and capital positions.  It also provides an update on progress made to date in the 
delivery of the agreed savings targets built into the 2013/14 budget setting out risks 
to anticipated savings and action plans to mitigate these risks. 

 
1.2 It is important that the Council regularly monitors its revenue and capital budgets to 

ensure good financial management.  This is achieved within the Council by 
monitoring the financial results on a monthly basis through briefings to the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and reports to Cabinet.  This ensures Members are regularly 
updated on the Council’s overall financial position and enables the Cabinet to make 
relevant financial and operational decisions to meet its budgets. 
 

1.3 The Budget report to Assembly in February 2013 provided for a target of £15m of 
General Fund balances, plus a planned surplus of £5.234m to be generated in 
2013/14 and carried forward into 2014/15.  The Outturn for 2012/13 led to a 
General Fund balance of £17.456m.  The current projected position keeps the 
Council on track to deliver a balanced budget and maintain the minimum general 
fund balance of at least £15m. 

 
2 Current Overall Position 
 
2.1 The following tables summarise the spend position and the forecast position of the 

General Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) balances. 
 

Page 8



 

Council Summary 
Net 

Budget 

Full year 
forecast 

at end July 
2013 

Over/(under) 
spend 

Forecast 

 £000 £000 £000 
Directorate Expenditure    
Adult and Community Services 57,349 57,349 - 
Children’s Services 68,509 68,509 - 
Housing and Environment 23,581 23,581 - 
Chief Executive 21,645 21,302 (343) 
Central Expenses 2,014 614 (1,400) 

 173,098 171,355 (1,743) 
Budget Surplus (Agreed MTFS) 5,234               - (5,234) 

Total Service Expenditure 178,332 171,355 (6,977) 
 
 

  
 

Balance at  
1 April  
2013 

 
Forecast 
Balance at  
31 March 
2014 

Budgeted 
Combined 
Balance at  
31 March 
2014* 

 £000 
 

£000 £000 

General Fund 17,456 24,433 20,234 
 
Housing Revenue Account 
(including Rent Reserve) 

8,461 8,461 8,461 

 
*Budget Combined Balance for General Fund comprises a target balance of £15m 
plus budgeted surplus of £5.2m 
 

2.2 The current Directorate revenue projections indicate a surplus of £7.0m for the end 
of the financial year, made up as follows:  

 
• £0.343m underspend in the Chief Executive department as a result of shared 

arrangements with Thurrock Council and vacancies within Legal and 
Democratic services; 

• £1.4m surplus in Central Expenses arising from interest budgets; and  
• £5.234m surplus as planned and agreed in the MTFS 2013/14. 

 
The initial forecast of a £7.0m underspend would result in the Council’s General 
Fund balance remaining above the budgeted target of £15.0m.  The Chief Finance 
Officer has a responsibility under statute to ensure that the Council maintains 
appropriate levels of balances. 

  
The Chief Finance Officer, after consideration of the factors outlined in the CIPFA 
guidance on Local Authority Reserves and Balances 2003 and the other financial 
provisions and contingency budgets held by the Council, set a target GF reserves 
level of £15.0m.  The General Fund balance at 31 March 2013 was £17.5m and the 
current forecast combined balance for the end of the financial year is £24.4m.  If 
maintained, this position will provide added flexibility for the Council in addressing 

Page 9



the forthcoming significant further reductions in funding from the government.  This 
compares with a budgeted combined General Fund balance of £15m plus a 
planned surplus of £5.2m within the two year 2013-15 strategy.   

 
 At the end of July 2013, the HRA is forecasting to break even, and maintain the 

HRA reserve at £8.5m. 
 

2.3 Directorate Performance Summaries 
 

The key areas of risk which might lead to a potential overspend are outlined in the 
paragraphs below.  
 

2.4 Adult and Community Services 
 

Directorate Summary 
2012/13 
Outturn 

2013/14 
Budget 

2013/14 
Forecast 

 £000 £000 £000 

Net Expenditure 60,701 57,349 57,349 

Projected over/(under)spend    - 

 
The Adult and Community Services directorate is forecasting a balanced budget 
position for 2013/14.  It is important to note this reported position is masking a 
number of pressures within the service, particularly for Mental Health (£400k) and 
personal budgets & direct payments for all client groups (£924k).  These pressures 
are being managed by management actions within the service and draw down from 
funding set aside to offset anticipated service pressures.  
 
Looking forward the future funding regime is going to become increasingly difficult 
with a number of existing funding streams being rolled up into a single grant that the 
local authority will have to agree with NHS England following local agreement 
through the Health and Wellbeing Board.  This comes at the same time as the 
planned implementation of the Care and Support Bill with significant costs for local 
authorities.  

 
A challenging savings target of £4.324m is built into the 2013/14 budget.  There are 
pressures against some of the savings, these are being reviewed and addressed in 
order to ensure their delivery.  The net budget includes the full allocation of 
£3.268m social care funding transfer from NHS England, this is allocated by local 
Section 256 agreement taken to Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

2.5 Children’s Services 
 

Directorate Summary 
2012/13 
Outturn 

2013/14 
Budget 

2013/14 
Forecast 

 £000 £000 £000 

Net Expenditure 69,448 68,509 68,509 

Projected over/(under)spend    - 

 
The Children’s Service delivered a balanced budget for 2012/13 but it was reported 
that this financial position was masking significant demand pressures within the 
Complex Needs and Social Care division.  As at the end of 2012/13 referral activity 

Page 10



had increased consistently since the start of 2013 and shows no sign of reducing 
which suggests more of a trend rather than a ‘spike’ in demand.   
 
In 2012/13 the number of core assessments was double the level of 2011/12 and 
section 47 child protection investigations has increased by 37% over 2012/13 
levels.  The OFSTED Safeguarding and Looked After Children inspection of June 
2012 reported that caseloads were high but manageable.  However, increases in 
demand at the end of 2012 persisting into 2013 have required additional resourcing 
to ensure risks are more manageable. 

  
 The increases in demand and mitigating actions bring with it an increased  pressure 

on the revenue account.  Although the service is forecasting a balanced budget 
provision for 2013/14 this is masking £4.1m of management actions, a number of 
which are one-off and will not continue into 2014/15: 

 
- The change from LACSEG to Education Support Grant and the changes to the 

funding of statutory services for two years olds from General Fund to the 

Dedicated Schools Grant have released £2.7m of ongoing funding;  

- Grant flexibility of £604k is available in 2013/14 but, at present, there is no 

confirmation this grant will continue in 2014/15; 

- A draw down of £857k from the Children’s Services set aside funds brought 

forward. 

 
 The £4.1m of management actions is also being supported by current underspends 

in Targeted Support and Commissioning and Safeguarding of £1.2m but these are 
largely as a result of the early achievement of approved savings for 2014/15 which 
means the forecast under spend is unlikely to continue into the next financial year.   

 
 The Children’s Service set aside funds brought forward are estimated to last until 

the end of 2014/15. 
 

2.6 Dedicated School Grant (DSG) 
 
The DSG is a ring fenced grant to support the education of school aged pupils 
within the borough.  The grant is allocated between the Schools and Centrally 
Retained budget in agreement with the Schools Forum.  The indicative 2013/14 
DSG allocation is £218m which is inclusive of pupil premium and sixth form funding. 

 
2.7 Housing and Environment 
 

Directorate Summary 
2012/13 
Outturn 

2013/14 
Budget 

2013/14 
Forecast 

 £000 £000 £000 

Net Expenditure 24,040 23,581 23,581 

Projected over/(under)spend    - 

 
The Housing and Environment General Fund budget is currently forecast to 
breakeven as at period 4.  Whilst it is relatively early in the year, there are potential 
pressures which have been identified within these budgets.  It is expected that 
pressures will be managed within the service.  

 

Page 11



The main area of pressure relates to the achievement of Parking budgets, where 
early indications show fewer than normal issue of PCNs.  The service is also 
undergoing significant system upgrades and structural changes designed to make 
the service more efficient and the benefits of those should arise towards the latter 
part of the year.  The Parking Service is in the process of bidding for additional 
capital funding which will be invested in schemes to deliver improved efficiency and 
effectiveness.  This will contribute to mitigating the risk.      

 
There is potential risk in the Housing General Fund, particularly in relation to the 
high numbers of homeless placements in Bed and Breakfast accommodation.  
These placements are a significant cost to the Council due to the cap on benefits on 
this type of accommodation.  Pressure is being mitigated within the service.   

 
The department started the year with a savings target of £1.67m.  A high proportion 
of the savings will be fully delivered but there is currently an overall pressure of 
around £44k.  This is mainly due to the pressures facing the Environmental 
Services budget. 

 
There is additional risk within Housing & Environment and the Housing Revenue 
Account due to the potential impact of Welfare Reform.  It is difficult to project the 
extent of the financial impact at this stage.  However, the combination of the 
bedroom tax, benefit cap and Universal Credit are expected to impact income levels 
within the HRA as well as possibly leading to more homelessness cases within the 
General Fund. 
 

2.8 Chief Executive Department 
 

Directorate Summary 
2012/13 
Outturn 

2013/14 
Budget 

2013/14 
Forecast 

 £000 £000 £000 

Net Expenditure 19,059 21,645 21,302 

Projected (under)spend    (343) 

  
The Chief Executive department has been expanded, to include the former Finance 
and Resources department.  
 
The Chief Executive (CEX) department is currently forecast to underspend at year 
end by £343k.  This position is mainly as a result of in year vacancies that have 
arisen across the divisions and prudent use of supplies and services budgets.   
 
It should also be noted that the Assets & Facilities Management section has been 
split and the Facilities Management teams have now transferred to the Housing & 
Environment department.  The teams retained within the CEX department’s Asset 
Management division are Asset Strategy and Energy & Compliance.  
 
 

  

Page 12



2.9 Central Expenses 
 

Directorate Summary 
2012/13 
Outturn 

2013/14 
Budget 

2013/14 
Forecast 

 £000 £000 £000 

Net Expenditure 1,021 2,014 614 

Projected (under)spend    (1,400) 

    

Budget Surplus  
(Assembly agreed MTFS) 

 5,234 - 

Projected Surplus   (5,234) 

 
There is a (£1.4m) surplus expected due to the management of our cash balances 
enabling a lower than budgeted cost for the revenue implications of capital financing 
to be charged to the General Fund in 2013/14.  Should the overall financial position 
of the Council remain broadly unchanged to year end, it is anticipated that a request 
will be made to use this element to reduce the Council’s overall debt position, in 
order to secure recurring revenue benefits which will ease pressure for further 
operational savings.   
 
As planned within the MTFS a budget surplus of £5.2m has been built into the base 
budget and the current position is projected to meet this target.  
 

2.10 In Year Savings Targets - General Fund 
 

The delivery of the 2013/14 budget is dependent on meeting a savings target of 
£16.6m.  Directorate Management Teams are monitoring their targets and providing 
a monthly update of progress which is summarised in the table below.  A detailed 
breakdown of savings and explanations for variances is provided in Appendix B. 
 

Directorate Summary of 
Savings Targets 

Target 
£000 

Forecast 
£000 

Shortfall 
£000 

Adult and Community Services 4,324 4,229 95 

Children’s Services 2,708 2,708 - 

Housing and Environment 1,665 1,621 44 

Chief Executive 2,733 2,583 150 

Central Expenses 5,199 5,199 - 

Total 16,629 16,340 289 

 
2.11 Charges for Scrap Metal licences 

 
New legislation for scrap metal licensing will be reported to Licensing Board on 23 
September 2013.  The Act gives Councils more powers to regulate and license 
scrap dealing from domestic premises and regulate both site and mobile operators 
or collectors.  It comes into force on 1 October 2013 and there are transitional 
arrangements for those currently registered with the council to allow for applications 
to be submitted up to 15 October 2013. 

  
This is a significant change in that previously dealers were only required to register 
with the Council.  There will now be a fee charged and mobile operators will be 
required to hold photo ID and to display their license on their vehicles.  Each local 

Page 13



authority requires separate registration which will impact more directly on mobile 
operators.  Licences will be valid for 3 years. 

 
It will be an offence to carry on a business as a scrap metal dealer in breach of the 
requirement to hold a licence.  Conviction fines may be up to £5,000. 

 
Guidance on the setting of fees was issued on 16 August and London Local 
Authorities met to consider the guidance on the 29 August 

 
Fees have been set based on the proportionate time and applicable officer rates for 
the allowable activities together with proportionate overhead recharges.  In future 
fees will be reviewed as part of the Council’s annual fees and charges process and 
to maintain transparency around the fee setting process. 
 
The Council’s Scheme of Delegation places the responsibility for assessing and 
determining fees and charges with the Cabinet.  In order for the Council to comply 
with the transitional arrangements and to be able to accept and process 
applications from 1st October 2013, the following fee structure is proposed: 

 

3 Year Site License 

 
New  Renewal Variation 

£420 £320 £155 

 
 

3 Year Collectors License 
 

New  Renewal Variation 

£250 £170 £105 

 
 
2.12 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
  

The HRA is currently forecast to breakeven in 2013/14.  Although the overall 
position is not expected to change, there are a number of variances that are 
offsetting each other. 

 
Income - Increased voids on garages of £141k as well as other smaller pressures 
give a net pressure in the income budgets of £160k. 
 
Expenditure - It is not yet possible to provide a full projection on the R&M in-house 
function for July due to ongoing systems issues.  The issues are being resolved by 
the service and we expect full reporting from August.  Early indications are that 
there may be pressures relating to the set up of the DLO in the region of £290k due 
to one-off procurement costs and severance payments following reintegration of the 
service.  
 
There are further pressures in Supervision & Management relating to staffing and 
transport costs.  The service is in the process of aligning to the Localities structure 
and evaluating budget requirement.  Current projections indicate that expenditure 
pressures will be managed through underspends on other budgets.  
 

Page 14



As part of the 2013/14 budget agreed by February Cabinet, the Service committed 
to delivering savings of £1.4m from its Supervision & Management budget.  Of the 
savings options identified, and currently going through validation process, 
approximately £1m is non-staff related and forecast to be achievable.  The 
remaining £400k is subject to staffing restructures and if not delivered will add to the 
pressure. 
 
As with the General Fund, the introduction of welfare reform this year is expected to 
increase pressure on the HRAwith the combination of the bedroom tax, benefit cap 
and Universal Credit impacting on income levels.  Some provision has been made 
within the budget through increased bad debt provision plus the availability of 
discretionary housing payments.  The actual position is being monitored closely.    
 
HRA Balance - Overall, the HRA is forecasting to breakeven.  The HRA started the 
year with revenue reserves balance of £8.461m.  Currently it is anticipated that this 
will be maintained at £8.461m by the end of 2013/14.   
 
There is a budgeted contribution to capital resources of £35.5m.  This may be 
reviewed to accommodate expenditure pressures. 

 
2.13 Capital Programme 
 

a) Approved programme 
The total approved capital programme currently stands at £155.349m.  This 
comprises the £153.884m presented to Cabinet at its last meeting, plus the 
£1.465m of new additions within Adult Social Care also approved by Cabinet at its 
last meeting. 
 
This month, Cabinet is asked to approve an increase in the HRA capital budget of 
£13.399m, as shown in the table below, in order to bring the total from £74.455m up 
to £87.854m.  This follows a detailed review of scheme budgets within the 
programme.  This budget, combined with the budget for Disabled Adaptations of 
£583k which sits within the ACS departmental total, forms the total HRA funded 
programme for 2013/14 of £88.437m.  A detailed breakdown of this budget is 
shown in Appendix D. 
 
The current spend forecasts are shown below: 
 

 Current 
Budget 
£’000 

 Revised 
Budget 
£’000 

Actual Year 
to Date 
£’000 

Projected 
Outturn 
£’000 

Variance 
against 
Budget 
£’000 

Adult and Community 
Services 

9,948 9,948 550 9,975 27 

Children’s Services 53,192 16,542 7,728 22,089 5,547 

Housing and 
Environment (non HRA) 

3,361 3,839 1,565 4,146 307 

HRA 74,455 87,854 8,675 87,854 - 

Chief Executive 14,393 11,393 1,096 10,801 (592) 

Total 155,349 129,576 19,614 134,865 5,289 

Page 15



 
The Year to date capital expenditure total is £19.6m, which represents only 15% of 
the total forecast for the financial year.  This leaves 85% of the projected 
expenditure to be spent in the remaining 8 months of the year, thus giving a risk 
that the approved programme may not be fully delivered this year.  The Finance 
Service will continue to monitoring this closely in conjunction with service Project 
Managers and Sponsors, in order to identify any potential year-end underspends or 
slippage as early as possible. 
 
The forecast for the year currently shows a projected £5.289m unfavourable 
variance compared to projected spend.  This is  mainly within Children’s Services 
and is likely to be removed as the Basic needs funding is allocated.  It is anticipated 
that this will happen at the next re-profiling exercise at  Month 6, and be reported to 
Cabinet in November.  
 
Environment is currently showing an overspend of £307k.  This mostly relates to a 
roll-forward from 2012/13 in respect of Parking Strategy Improvements, 

 
Chief Executive Directorate is currently reflecting an underspend of £592k.  This 
includes London Road/North Street Acquisitions (£235k), the LEGI business centres 
(£100k), and the corporate accommodation strategy (£126k).   
 
b) Funding with projects being developed 
The existing Capital Programme includes £35.8m in respect of schools Basic Needs 
Funding where the projects are currently in the process of being developed.  It is 
proposed to remove these from the Capital Programme until the projects are 
identified and robust schemes produced.  Once this has happened they will be 
brought forward for approval and addition to the Capital Programme.   
 
Future reports will include all sums with funding identified but projects not 
developed as a separate part of this report.  This will ensure that the Capital 
Programme monitor only reflects schemes where there is an active project plan to 
monitor progress against. 
 
c) Proposed additions/deletions to the Capital Programme 
In 2012 capital investment was established to resurface carriageways, with a 
projected spend of £6m over two years.  This programme channelled investment 
into the resurfacing of carriageways around schools and prioritised those in the 
worst condition according to safety inspections.  A total of 67 roads were 
resurfaced, bringing them up to a safe standard and extending their life by a further 
15 years.   
 
Our engineers have identified a further three roads that require urgent works to 
resurface carriageways. 
 
A further £288,000 is required.  It is proposed that this is funded from the Council’s 
central contingency.  The condition of roads are under constant review and when 
other roads are identified, they will be brought to Cabinet.  
 
The existing capital programme included provision for the capitalisation of staff 
redundancies.  The government has now flagged that it will not provide approval for 
capitalisation of staff redundancies until this sum is over £8m.  It is highly unlikely 

Page 16



the Council will reach this level, even with the pressures encountered in 2015/16, so 
these costs will need to be met from revenue reserves. 
 

2.14 Financial Control 
 

At the end of May all key reconciliations have been prepared and reviewed, and 
there are no major reconciling items unexplained. 

 
3 Options Appraisal 

 
3.1 The report provides a summary of the financial position at the relevant year end and 

as such no other option is applicable for appraisal or review. 
 

4 Consultation 
 
4.1 The relevant elements of the report has been circulated to appropriate Divisional 

Directors for review and comment.   
 

4.2 Individual Directorate elements have been subject to scrutiny and discussion at 
their respective Directorate Management Team meetings. 

 
5 Financial Implications  

 
5.1 This report details the financial position of the Council. 

 
6 Legal Issues 

 
6.1 Local authorities are required by law to set a balanced budget for each financial 

year.  During the year there is an ongoing responsibility to monitor spending and 
ensure the finances continue to be sound.  This does mean as a legal requirement 
there must be frequent reviews of spending and obligation trends so that timely 
intervention can be made ensuring the annual budgeting targets are met. 

 
Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report 
 

• Final Revenue and Capital Outturn 2012/13; Cabinet 25 June 2013; 

• Budget Framework 2013/14; Assembly 25 February 2013. 
 

Appendices  
 

A – General Fund expenditure by Directorate 
B – Savings Targets by Directorate 
C – Housing Revenue Account Expenditure 
D – Capital Programme 
 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Directorate
 Outturn 

2012/13 

 Original 

Budget 

 Revised 

Budget 

 Forecast 

Outturn 

 Forecast 

Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Adult & Community Services

Adult Care & Commissioning 43,122          39,149          39,178          39,178          -                

Mental Health 3,583            3,197            3,211            3,211            -                

Community Safety & Neighbourhood Services 3,665            2,772            2,801            2,801            -                

Culture & Sport 9,112            5,966            6,027            6,027            -                

Public Health -                -                -                -                -                

Management 1,219            6,145            6,132            6,132            -                

60,701          57,229          57,349          57,349          -                

Children’s Services

Education 4,645            1,781            1,865            1,925            60                 

Targeted Support 11,958          7,987            8,061            7,278            (783)

Complex Needs and Social Care 35,312          29,151          29,291          30,331          1,040            

Commissioning and Safeguarding 4,531            3,559            3,617            3,197            (420)

Other Management Costs                      13,002          25,449          25,675          25,778          103               

69,448          67,927          68,509          68,509          -                

Children's Services - DSG

Schools 195,018        171,315        171,315        171,315        -                

Early Years 4,621            16,285          16,285          16,285          -                

High Needs 12,489          24,407          24,407          24,407          -                

Non Delegated 2,508            2,850            2,850            2,850            -                

Growth Fund 688               3,070            3,070            3,070            -                

School Contingencies 1,544            -                -                

DSG/Funding (216,868) (217,927) (217,927) (217,927) -                

-                -                -                -                -                

Housing & Environment

Environment & Enforcement 21,858          20,378          21,347          21,347          -                

Housing General Fund 2,182            2,215            2,234            2,234            -                

24,040          22,593          23,581          23,581          -                

Chief Executive Services

Chief Executive Office (225) (597) (139) (188) (49)

Strategy & Communication (152) -                (33) (53) (20)

Legal & Democratic Services 304               410               605               518               (87)

Human Resources (8) -                289               219               (70)

Finance (861) (124) (45) (45) -                

Corporate Management 2,956            4,352            4,352            4,320            (32)

Regeneration & Economic Development 3,853            3,145            3,307            3,307            -                

Assets & Facilities Management 1,146            1,153            1,314            1,229            (85)

Customer Services, Contracts & Business 

Improvement 12,046          11,422          11,995          11,995          -                

19,059          19,761          21,645          21,302          (343)

Other

Central Expenses (7,921) (4,299) (7,405) (8,805) (1,400)

Levies 8,942            9,620            9,419            9,419            -                

Budget Surplus (Agreed MTFS) -                5,281            5,234            -                (5,234)

1,021            10,602          7,248            614               (6,634)

TOTAL 174,269        178,112        178,332        171,355        (6,977)

GENERAL FUND REVENUE MONITORING STATEMENT

July 2013/14

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 

G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 S
A
V
IN
G
S
 M
O
N
IT
O
R
IN
G
 S
T
A
T
E
M
E
N
T
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
1
3
/1
4
 

A
d
u
lt
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

R
e
f:
 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

 
 

 
£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/0
1
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
o
h
e
s
io
n
 a
n
d
 E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

T
e
a
m
 -
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
c
to
r 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
 

A
ll 
s
ta
ff
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
w
 m

o
v
e
d
 o
r 
le
ft
, 

v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 b
e
 m

e
t 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 d
iv
is
io
n
, 

n
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 

2
2
9
 

2
1
6
 

1
3
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/0
2
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 &
 C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 -
 

re
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 t
e
a
m

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

8
5
 

8
5
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/0
3
 

O
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
T
h
e
ra
p
y
 a
n
d
 S
e
n
s
o
ry
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 T
e
a
m
 -
 r
e
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

te
a
m

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
8
6
 

1
8
6
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/0
4
 

D
ru
g
 &
 A
lc
o
h
o
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 -
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

in
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
o
 d
ru
g
 a
n
d
 a
lc
o
h
o
l 

u
s
e
rs

 

B
u
d
g
e
t 
e
a
rm

a
rk
e
d
 f
o
r 
T
ie
r 
4
 R
e
h
a
b
, 

fu
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
w
h
ic
h
 c
a
n
 b
e
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
fr
o
m
 

N
H
S
, 
a
n
a
ly
s
is
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 c
o
n
fi
rm

 
s
ta
tu
s
 

1
6
5
 

1
6
5
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/0
5
 

Y
o
u
th
 O
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 -
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 w
o
rk
 

to
 p
re
v
e
n
t 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 b
e
c
o
m
in
g
 

in
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 c
ri
m
e
 a
n
d
 d
is
o
rd
e
r 
a
n
d
 

re
o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

5
0
 

5
0
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/0
6
 

W
it
h
d
ra
w
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

V
io
le
n
c
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
1
1
 

2
1
1
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/0
7
 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
c
to
r 
g
ra
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
1
0
 

1
1
0
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
a
) 

F
re
e
 L
e
is
u
re
 O
ff
e
r 
- 
fu
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
 P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 G
ra
n
t  

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
3
0
 

1
3
0
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
b
) 

A
c
ti
v
e
 A
g
e
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
 -
 f
u
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 G
ra
n
t 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
5
0
 

1
5
0
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
c
) 
 

A
d
v
ic
e
, 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 H
IV
/A
id
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 

P
o
s
it
iv
e
 E
a
s
t 
- 
fu
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 

P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 G
ra
n
t 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
9
 

4
9
 

0
 

Page 21



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 

R
e
f:
 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

 
 

 
£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
d
) 

A
lc
o
h
o
l 
C
o
-o
rd
in
a
to
r 
- 
fu
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 G
ra
n
t 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
2
 

4
2
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
e
) 

F
lo
a
ti
n
g
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
H
o
m
e
le
s
s
 P
e
o
p
le
 

- 
re
d
u
c
e
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
b
y
 

£
5
0
k
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

5
0
 

5
0
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
f)
 

S
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 m

e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 n
e
e
d
s
 

S
a
v
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 b
y
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 

fu
n
d
in
g
 f
ro
m
 C
C
G
, 
v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 b
e
 m
e
t 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 d
iv
is
io
n
, 
n
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

re
m
a
in
in
g
 

1
0
0
 

9
2
 

8
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
g
) 

D
e
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 6
 b
e
d
s
 o
f 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 b
a
s
e
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
1
6
 

- 
1
8
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 a
t 
th
e
 V
in
e
ri
e
s
 (
a
n
d
 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
o
f 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

C
h
ild
re
n
's
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
) 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
0
 

4
0
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
h
) 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
O
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 

fo
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 D
ru
g
 a
n
d
 A
lc
o
h
o
l 

p
ro
b
le
m
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

3
3
 

3
3
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
i)
 

D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 V
io
le
n
c
e
 -
 c
e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

R
e
fu
g
e
 F
lo
a
ti
n
g
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
0
5
 

1
0
5
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
j)
 

D
e
le
te
 A
d
m
in
is
tr
a
to
r 
p
o
s
t 
in
 t
h
e
 A
d
u
lt
 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 T
e
a
m

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

3
9
 

3
9
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
k
) 

D
V
 a
n
d
 H
a
te
 C
ri
m
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

- 
re
d
u
c
e
 p
o
s
t 
to
 0
.6
 F
T
E

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
1
 

2
1
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
l)
 

D
e
le
te
 p
o
s
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 a
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
th
e
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

B
o
a
rd

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
8
 

2
8
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
m
) 

C
e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

B
u
d
g
e
t 
fo
r 
O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

3
0
 

3
0
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
n
) 

M
a
x
im
is
in
g
 G
ra
n
t 
F
le
x
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

6
4
 

6
4
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
2
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 (
re
d
u
c
e
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 G
M
) 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
0
 

4
0
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
7
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
s
o
c
ia
l 
w
o
rk
 t
e
a
m

 
2
 P
o
s
ts
 d
e
le
te
d
, 
g
ra
d
e
 o
f 
d
e
le
te
d
 p
o
s
ts
 

to
 b
e
 c
h
e
c
k
e
d
 

8
4
 

7
4
 

1
0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
8
 

K
a
lla
r 
L
o
d
g
e
 s
ta
ff
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

P
o
s
t 
d
e
le
te
d
 t
b
c
 

2
3
 

0
 

2
3
 

Page 22



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 

R
e
f:
 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

 
 

 
£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/1
9
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
 A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
5
 

1
5
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/2
0
 

D
e
le
te
 A
rt
s
 T
e
a
m

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
5
 

2
5
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/2
4
 

E
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
re
a
te
 F
e
s
ti
v
a
l 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
5
 

2
5
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/2
7
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 C
C
T
V
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
5
3
 

1
5
3
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/2
8
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

p
o
s
ts

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
8
 

2
8
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/2
9
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

u
s
e
rs
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
rs

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
9
 

1
9
 

0
 

A
C
S
/S
A
V
/3
2
 

S
u
m
m
e
rs
 S
o
rt
e
d
 H
o
lid
a
y
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

3
0
 

3
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

N
o
n
 S
ta
ff
in
g
 S
u
p
p
lie
s
 &
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

B
u
d
g
e
ts

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

9
0
 

9
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

R
e
m
o
d
e
lli
n
g
 h
o
m
e
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 

lin
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 o
f 

p
e
rs
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

R
e
v
is
io
n
s
 t
o
 p
ri
c
in
g
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 

C
a
re
 H
o
m
e
 P
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
0
 

2
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 i
n
-h
o
u
s
e
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
c
a
re
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 a
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 

d
is
a
b
ili
ty
  
(8
0
 G
a
s
c
o
ig
n
e
) 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

7
5
 

7
5
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

R
e
c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 &
 P
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 

S
a
v
in
g
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
5
0
 

2
5
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 g
ra
n
ts
 t
o
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
1
5
 

2
1
5
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

R
e
m
o
d
e
l 
o
f 
le
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 d
a
y
, 

v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

B
ro
a
d
w
a
y
 t
h
e
a
tr
e
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

C
lo
s
u
re
 o
f 
G
o
re
s
b
ro
o
k
 L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

3
7
1
 

3
7
1
 

0
 

Page 23



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 

R
e
f:
 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

 
 

 
£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

O
ly
m
p
ic
 u
n
it
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
1
8
 

2
1
8
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 e
v
e
n
ts
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

£
3
0
k
 v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 d
u
e
 t
o
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
ts
 

m
a
d
e
 t
o
 s
ti
ll 
d
e
liv
e
r 
S
t.
 G
e
o
rg
e
s
 d
a
y
 

a
n
d
 c
la
s
s
ic
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rt
 e
v
e
n
ts
. 
S
h
o
rt
fa
ll 

to
 b
e
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 e
a
rl
y
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
E
v
e
n
ts
 

s
ta
ff
 s
a
v
in
g
, 
n
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 

9
0
 

6
0
 

3
0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

E
x
p
a
n
d
in
g
 c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 

a
t 
h
e
ri
ta
g
e
 v
e
n
u
e
s
 

P
la
n
s
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 b
ri
n
g
 i
n
 m

o
re
 

in
c
o
m
e
 f
ro
m
 w
e
d
d
in
g
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

e
v
e
n
ts
 h
a
s
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l.
 S
te
p
s
 

b
e
in
g
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 t
o
 o
ff
s
e
t 
th
e
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 t
a
rg
e
t.
 

1
0
 

0
 

1
0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

L
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 R
e
v
ie
w

 
A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
2
6
 

2
2
6
 

0
 

T
o
ta
l 
A
d
u
lt
 &
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

  
  

4
,3
2
4
 

4
,2
2
9
 

9
5
 

  
 

Page 24



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 C
h
il
d
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

R
e
f:
 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

 
 

 
£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/0
1
 

E
a
rl
y
 Y
e
a
rs
 -
 C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

fo
rm

a
t 
o
f 
P
h
a
s
e
 3
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

5
0
0
 

5
0
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/0
2
 

In
te
g
ra
te
d
 Y
o
u
th
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 -
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

in
 s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/0
3
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 A
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 -
 

R
e
m
o
v
a
l 
o
f 
a
p
p
re
n
ti
c
e
s
h
ip
 w
a
g
e
 

s
u
b
s
id
y
 t
o
 d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

in
 1
4
-1
9
 s
ta
ff
in
g
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/0
4
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 -
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
- 

re
ti
re
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

2
5
 

2
5
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/0
5
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 -
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
E
s
ta
te
s
 T
e
a
m
 

(c
a
p
it
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
) 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

7
5
 

7
5
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/0
6
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 -
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
£
1
0
0
k
 i
n
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 I
n
c
lu
s
io
n
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

5
0
 

5
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/0
8
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 &
 S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 -
 

T
ra
n
s
fe
r 
o
f 
c
o
s
ts
 t
o
 c
a
te
ri
n
g
 t
ra
d
e
d
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
a
s
 a
n
 o
v
e
rh
e
a
d
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

5
0
 

5
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
a
) 

T
a
rg
e
te
d
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 -
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

re
p
a
ir
s
, 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 

b
u
d
g
e
ts

 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

3
0
0
 

3
0
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
b
) 

T
ro
u
b
le
d
 F
a
m
ili
e
s
 C
o
-o
rd
in
a
to
r 

fu
n
d
in
g
 -
 F
o
r 
2
0
1
2
/1
3
, 
 1
3
/1
4
 a
n
d
 

1
4
/1
5
 (
n
o
n
-r
e
c
u
rr
e
n
t)
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
c
) 
 
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 -
 Y
o
u
th
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 c
a
rd
 

to
 b
e
 t
ra
n
s
fe
rr
e
d
 t
o
 P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

G
ra
n
t 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

1
5
0
 

1
5
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
d
) 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 -
 M

is
c
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
s
a
v
in
g
s
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

4
5
 

4
5
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
e
) 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 -
 D
e
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
1
 A
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 
(v
a
c
a
n
t 
fo
llo
w
in
g
 r
e
s
ig
n
a
ti
o
n
) 

a
n
d
 1
 A
d
m
in
 S
u
p
p
o
rt

 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t  

5
0
 

5
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
f)
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
p
le
x
 N
e
e
d
s
 -
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

8
0
 

8
0
 

0
 

Page 25



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 

R
e
f:
 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
E
P
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
g
) 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
ie
s
 w
it
h
in
 P
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 -
 L
o
n
g
 

T
e
rm

 C
a
re

 
O

n
 T

a
rg

e
t 

1
2
0
 

1
2
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 (
h
) 

M
a
x
im
is
in
g
 o
f 
g
ra
n
t 
fl
e
x
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

5
 

5
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
1
 

A
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 -
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 u
s
e
 o
f 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
s
o
c
ia
l 
w
o
rk
e
rs
  

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

7
0
 

7
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
2
 

C
o
m
p
le
x
 N
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
, 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 C
a
re
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t.
  

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

6
0
 

6
0
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
5
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
E
s
ta
te
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
- 
re
d
u
c
e
 

to
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 o
n
ly
 p
o
s
ts
, 
a
n
d
 c
h
a
rg
e
 f
o
r 

le
a
d
 m
a
n
a
g
e
r 
fr
o
m
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
fu
n
d
in
g
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

4
5
 

4
5
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/1
7
 

In
c
lu
s
io
n
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 -
 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 

c
e
n
tr
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
e
a
m
, 
w
io
u
ld
 o
n
ly
 b
e
 

fu
n
d
e
d
 f
ro
m
 D
S
G
 b
u
t 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
y
 

fe
e
l 
n
o
t 
e
q
u
ip
p
e
d
 t
o
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 c
o
m
p
le
x
 

s
p
e
c
ia
l 
n
e
e
d
s
 -
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
is
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 S
E
N
 c
o
s
ts

 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

3
5
 

3
5
 

0
 

C
H
S
/S
A
V
/2
0
 

Y
o
u
th
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 -
 R
e
d
u
c
e
 t
o
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
n
ly

 
O

n
 T

a
rg

e
t 

1
4
0
 

1
4
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

P
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
/C
ri
s
is
 I
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
/ 
F
a
m
ily
 

G
ro
u
p
 C
o
n
fe
re
n
c
in
g
 M
e
rg
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 

th
re
e
 p
re
v
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
ie
s
  

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

5
0
 

5
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

C
A
M
H
S
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 C
o
u
n
s
e
lli
n
g
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 

e
n
d
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 r
e
n
e
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 a
n
d
 e
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 

te
a
m

 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

 0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

D
is
a
b
le
d
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
e
a
m
 -
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 s
h
o
rt
 b
re
a
k
s
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 

o
n
 m

a
in
s
tr
e
a
m
e
d
 i
n
to
 b
a
s
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

A
d
u
lt
 C
o
lle
g
e
 -
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 

C
o
lle
g
e
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
c
o
s
ts
 /
 

o
v
e
rh
e
a
d
s
  

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 I
n
c
lu
s
io
n
/S
c
h
o
o
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
- 
S
ta
ff
in
g
 R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

Page 26



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 

R
e
f:
 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
  

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
In
c
o
m
e
 -
 

R
a
is
in
g
 t
h
e
 S
L
A
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 -
 c
h
a
rg
in
g
 

S
c
h
o
o
ls
 f
o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/O
th
e
r 
L
o
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
  

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

5
0
 

5
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
  

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

2
3
 

2
3
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
c
o
s
ts
 i
n
 

th
e
 M
u
lt
i-
a
g
e
n
c
y
 L
o
c
a
lit
y
 T
e
a
m
s
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

5
5
 

5
5
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

P
o
rt
a
g
e
 A
m
a
lg
a
m
a
ti
o
n
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

O
n

 T
a

rg
e
t 

3
0
 

3
0
 

0
 

T
o
ta
l 

 
 

2
,7
0
8
 

2
,7
0
8

 
0

 

  
 

Page 27



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

R
e
f 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

 
 

 
£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/0
1
(a
) 

C
a
te
ri
n
g
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 f
ro
m
 P
a
rk
s
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 
m
a
n
a
g
e
r 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y 
w
o
rk
in
g
 
to
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
t,
 n
o
t 
ye
t 
u
p
 a
n
d
 r
u
n
n
in
g
. 

2
0
 

2
0
 

0
  

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/0
1
(b
) 

P
a
rk
 R
a
n
g
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

R
e
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 C
o
m
p
le
te
 

2
6
0
 

2
6
0
 

0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/0
2
 

S
tr
e
e
t 
L
ig
h
ti
n
g
 -
 E
n
e
rg
y
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 

s
a
v
in
g
s
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

5
2
 

5
2
 

0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/0
3
 

R
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
c
h
a
rg
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

H
R
A
 -
 S
tr
e
e
t 
L
ig
h
ti
n
g
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

2
0
0
 

 
1
8
0
 

2
0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/0
4
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
ro
a
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 /
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
 p
a
tr
o
ls

 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

8
0
 

8
0
 

0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/0
7
 

C
e
s
s
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
ig
h
t 
ti
m
e
 c
le
a
n
s
in
g
 

N
ig
h
t 
c
le
a
n
in
g
 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 
s
ti
ll 

o
n
g
o
in
g
, 

h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 
p
o
s
ts
 
h
a
v
e
 
b
e
e
n
 

re
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
te
 

2
1
0
 

2
1
0
 

0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/0
9
 

C
o
n
s
o
lid
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 &
 P
la
n
t 
- 

5
%
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 o
n
 k
it
, 
fu
e
l 
&
 

v
e
h
ic
le
 u
s
e
 

R
e
c
o
n
c
ili
a
ti
o
n
 
w
o
rk
 
in
 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 
to
 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
ll 
k
it
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 

1
2
0
 

1
2
0
 

0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/1
1
 

L
a
n
d
 D
ra
in
a
g
e
 -
 E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 s
a
v
in
g
 o
n
 

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

6
0
 

6
0
 

0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/1
2
 

D
e
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 o
f 
D
e
p
o
ts

 
L
ik
e
ly
 
to
 
b
e
 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 
b
y
 
c
lo
s
in
g
 
o
f 

P
a
rs
lo
e
s
 d
e
p
o
t.
 

4
0
 

4
0
 

0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/1
5
 

R
e
c
h
a
rg
e
 G
F
 w
o
rk
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 P
a
rk
in
g
 

A
c
c
o
u
n
t 

L
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
; 
re
p
o
rt
 b
e
in
g
 

p
re
p
a
re
d
 
fo
r 
J
u
ly
 
C
a
b
in
e
t 
to
 
a
g
re
e
 

fu
n
d
in
g
. 

1
5
0
 

1
5
0
 

0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/1
8
 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

E
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

1
4
0
 

1
4
0
 

0
 

H
&
E
/S
A
V
/2
1
 

In
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 c
h
a
rg
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
 b
u
lk
y 
w
a
s
te
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

5
5
 

5
5
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 f
ro
m
 a
d
ju
s
tm
e
n
ts
 

fo
r 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 u
s
e
 

o
f 
b
u
s
e
s
 

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

o
n
 
A
C
S
 
re
d
u
c
in
g
 
th
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 

jo
u
rn
e
y
s
 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
, 

b
u
t 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 
s
ti
ll 
re
q
u
e
s
ti
n
g
 
s
a
m
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 
ro
u
te
s
. 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
d
 m

o
w
in
g
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

fi
g

u
re

s
 

fr
o

m
 

‘c
o
n

fi
rm

’ 
a
re

 
3
2
 

3
2
 

0
 

Page 28



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 R
e
f 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

n
a
tu
ra
lis
e
d
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
 

n
o

w
 

in
a
c
c
u

ra
te

, 
s
o

 
th

e
 

a
c
tu

a
l 

s
a

v
in

g
s
 w

ill
 n

e
e

d
 t

o
 b

e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 i

n
 

a
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 

w
a

y
. 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

M
a
k
in
g
 P
a
rk
s
 m
o
re
 c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
lly
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le

 

P
a
rk
in
g
 
c
h
a
rg
e
s
 
in
 
P
a
rk
s
 
n
o
t 
b
e
in
g
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 
(£
9
K
) 
a
s
 
p
e
r 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
, 
 
G
ra
z
in
g
 
a
n
d
 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 
a
t 

M
ill
e
n
n
iu
m
 
 
C
e
n
tr
e
 
n
o
t 
 
a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le
 

(£
4
.5
k
),
 
o
n
ly
 
h
a
lf
 
o
f 
B
o
w
lin
g
 
G
re
e
n
s
 

s
a
v
in
g
s
 

a
n
d
 

‘G
o
lf
w
is
e
’ 

a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le
 

(i
.e
.£
2
5
k
) 

a
s
 
o
ri
g
in
a
l 
c
o
s
ti
n
g
s
 
fr
o
m
 

‘C
o
n
fi
rm

’ 
n
o
w
 i
n
a
c
c
u
ra
te
, 
In
c
o
m
e
 f
ro
m
 

L
a
k
e
s
, 

T
e
n
n
is
 
a
n
d
 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 
a
n
d
 

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io
n
s
 a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le
. 
N
o
n
-e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 

s
p
e
n
d
 p
u
t 
o
n
 h
o
ld
 t
o
 c
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 d
e
fi
c
it
. 

9
6
 

7
2
 

2
4
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 

A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
ie
s
 w
it
h
in
  
P
a
rk
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
  

C
o

m
p
le

te
 

5
0
 

5
0
 

0
 

T
o
ta
l 

 
 

1
,6
6
5
 

1
,6
2
1
 

4
4
 

  
 

Page 29



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

R
e
f:
 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

 
 

 
£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/0
1
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 -
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 P
la
n
n
in
g
. 
 

In
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 L
IP
 t
o
p
 s
lic
e
 i
n
 2
0
1
3
/1
4
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
5
 

2
5
 

0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/0
6
 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
ie
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

O
ra
c
le
 R
1
2
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
0
0
 

2
0
0
 

0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/1
0
 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 e
x
 A
s
s
e
t 
&
 C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
b
u
d
g
e
ts
 i
.e
. 
s
u
p
p
lie
s
 

&
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 b
u
d
g
e
ts
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 b
u
d
g
e
t 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
u
n
c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 

b
u
d
g
e
ts
 a
ft
e
r 
E
le
v
a
te
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
2
0
 

1
2
0
 

0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/1
2
 

In
te
rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 -
 R
e
m
o
v
a
l 
o
f 
s
p
e
c
ia
l 

p
ro
je
c
ts
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

2
6
 

2
6
 

0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/1
3
 

R
is
k
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
- 
S
ta
ff
in
g
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

3
1
 

3
1
 

0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/1
4
 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 C
M
 U
n
it
 b
u
d
g
e
t 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/1
5
 

D
e
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 P
ro
je
c
t 
&
 T
e
c
h
n
ic
a
l 

o
ff
ic
e
r 
p
o
s
t 
- 
P
O
4
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

4
7
 

4
7
 

0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/1
6
 

T
ra
n
s
fe
r 
o
f 
A
s
s
e
ts
 a
n
d
 F
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 i
n
to
 E
le
v
a
te
, 
w
it
h
 

s
a
v
in
g
s
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 r
e
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
is
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
o
f 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
o
 

E
le
v
a
te
, 
to
 s
o
m
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 b
e
in
g
 

tr
a
n
s
fe
rr
e
d
 t
o
 H
&
E
. 
A
t 
p
re
s
e
n
t 
o
n
ly
 

£
1
5
0
k
 o
f 
th
e
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
iv
is
io
n
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y 

c
o
n
fi
rm

in
g
 d
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
t.
 

T
h
e
 d
iv
is
io
n
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
b
s
o
rb
in
g
 t
h
e
 

s
h
o
rt
fa
ll.
  

3
0
0
 

1
5
0
 

1
5
0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/1
7
 

In
c
re
a
s
e
d
 c
h
a
rg
in
g
 o
f 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
&
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 s
ta
ff
 t
im
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
R
A
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
5
3
 

1
5
3
 

0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/1
8
 

M
e
rg
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 C
lie
n
t 
a
n
d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
D
e
liv
e
ry
 T
e
a
m
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
2
5
 

1
2
5
 

0
 

R
e
f:
 

D
e
ta
il
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

Page 30



A
p
p

e
n

d
ix

 B
 

 

 
 

 
£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

£
0
0
0
 

F
IN
&
R
E
S
/S
A
V
/2
2
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 -
 D
e
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
o
n
e
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
o
s
t 
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

3
8
 

3
8
 

0
 

C
E
X
/S
A
V
/0
1
 

C
E
 O
ff
ic
e
 -
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
lie
s
 a
n
d
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
ir
d
 p
a
rt
y
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

3
0
 

3
0
 

0
 

C
E
X
/S
A
V
/0
2
 

P
o
lic
y
 &
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 -
R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

s
u
p
p
lie
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 o
n
e
 P
O
2
 

p
o
s
t 
fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m
 

P
o
lic
y
 r
e
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

1
0
2
 

1
0
2
 

0
 

C
E
X
/S
A
V
/0
5
 

M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 &
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 -
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
lie
s
 &
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
; 
a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 

g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 
s
u
p
p
lie
rs
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

C
E
X
/S
A
V
/0
6
 

L
e
g
a
l 
&
 D
e
m
o
 -
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 b
u
d
g
e
ts
, 
a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 

in
c
o
m
e
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

1
0
0
 

1
0
0
 

0
 

C
E
X
/S
A
V
/0
8
 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 R
e
v
ie
w
 

 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 –
 S
a
v
in
g
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 

P
A
S
S
C
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
is
 s
a
v
in
g
s
. 

6
2
2
 

6
2
2
 

0
 

C
E
X
/S
A
V
/1
0
 

P
o
lic
y
 -
 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 

o
f 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 c
e
n
tr
a
lis
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 

o
ff
ic
e
rs
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 

8
0
 

8
0
 

0
 

C
E
X
/S
A
V
/1
1
 

C
e
a
s
e
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 N
e
w
s
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 –
 P
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 c
e
a
s
e
d
. 

6
0
 

6
0
 

0
 

C
E
X
/S
A
V
/1
2
 

L
e
g
a
l 
- 
R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 

b
u
d
g
e
ts
 /
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
s
h
a
ri
n
g
 w
it
h
 

T
h
u
rr
o
c
k
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
s
h
a
ri
n
g
 o
f 
G
M
 

p
o
s
ts
 i
n
 L
e
g
a
l 

5
4
 

5
4
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 
S
a
v
in
g
s
 i
n
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
/ 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
re
a
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
0
 

4
0
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 
R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 c
o
s
ts
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 M

o
d
e
rn
 W

a
y
s
 o
f 
W
o
rk
in
g
 

p
ro
je
c
t  

S
o
m
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 c
lo
s
e
d
 a
n
d
 s
o
m
e
 y
e
t 
to
 

b
e
 c
lo
s
e
d
 

2
2
6
 

2
2
6
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 
R
e
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 o
f 
S
e
n
io
r 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
  

6
8
 

6
8
 

0
 

F
e
b
 2
0
1
2
 A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 
M
e
rg
e
 P
a
y
ro
ll 
a
n
d
 H
R
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 (
w
it
h
in
 

E
le
v
a
te
) 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

8
6
 

8
6
 

0
 

T
o
ta
l 

 
 

2
,7
3
3
 

2
,5
8
3
 

1
5
0
 

 

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 C

H
O
U
S
IN
G
 R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 A
C
C
O
U
N
T

 O
u
tt
u
rn
 

2
0
1
2
/1
3
 

 O
ri
g
in
a
l 

B
u
d
g
e
t 

 R
e
v
is
e
d
 

B
u
d
g
e
t 

 F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

O
u
tt
u
rn
 

 F
o
re
c
a
s
t 

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

 R
e
n
ts

(8
3
,9
0
1
)

(8
6
,6
2
7
)

(8
6
,6
2
7
)

(8
6
,6
1
7
)

1
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 N
o
n
 D
w
e
lli
n
g
 R
e
n
t

(2
,4
8
9
)

(2
,5
0
3
)

(2
,5
0
3
)

(2
,3
6
2
)

1
4
1

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 O
th
e
r 
In
c
o
m
e

(1
9
,7
8
5
)

(1
7
,5
3
0
)

(1
7
,5
3
0
)

(1
7
,5
2
1
)

9
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 C
a
p
it
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
R
e
p
a
ir
s

(2
,7
0
0
)

(1
,0
0
0
)

(1
,0
0
0
)

(1
,0
0
0
)

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 R
e
p
a
ir
s
 a
n
d
 M
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e

2
2
,9
6
0

  
  
  
  
  
 

2
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
 

2
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
 

2
0
,2
8
9

  
  
  
  
  
 

2
8
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 S
u
p
e
rv
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

3
7
,3
6
3

  
  
  
  
  
 

3
7
,0
2
5

  
  
  
  
  
 

3
7
,0
2
5

  
  
  
  
  
 

3
7
,9
1
2

  
  
  
  
  
 

8
8
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 R
e
n
t 
R
a
te
s
 a
n
d
 O
th
e
r

4
4
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

7
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

7
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

7
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 B
a
d
 D
e
b
t 
P
ro
v
is
io
n

6
3
2

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

3
,1
5
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
,1
5
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
,1
5
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 I
n
te
re
s
t 
C
h
a
rg
e
s

9
,2
9
4

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

9
,7
5
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

9
,7
5
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

9
,7
5
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 &
 D
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
 C
o
re

8
1
1

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

8
1
1

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

8
1
1

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

8
1
1

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 I
n
te
re
s
t

(6
4
2
)

(3
3
6
)

(3
3
6
)

(3
3
6
)

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
&
 D
e
p
re
c
ia
ti
o
n

1
1
,3
4
5

  
  
  
  
  
 

3
5
,5
4
2

  
  
  
  
  
 

3
5
,5
4
2

  
  
  
  
  
 

3
4
,2
0
6

  
  
  
  
  
 

(1
,3
3
6
)

S
e
rv
ic
e
 T
ra
n
s
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n

1
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

R
e
p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
D
e
b
t

T
ra
n
s
fe
r 
to
 M
a
jo
r 
R
e
p
a
ir
s
 R
e
s
e
rv
e

2
6
,3
4
2

  
  
  
  
  
 

S
u
b
s
id
y
 L
im
it
a
ti
o
n

1
3
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 H
R
A
 R
e
s
e
rv
e

(1
9
2
)

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

H
O

U
S

IN
G

 R
E

V
E

N
U

E
 A

C
C

O
U

N
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 S
T

A
T

E
M

E
N

T

J
u

ly
 2

0
1
3
/1

4

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



2
0
1
3
/2

0
1
4
 C

A
P

IT
A

L
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 D

P
ro

je
c
t 

N
o
.

P
ro

je
c
t 
N

a
m

e
B

u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 
J
u
ly

 

C
a
b
in

e
t 
A

p
p
ro

v
a
ls

A
d
d
it
io

n
s
 &

 R
e
-

p
ro

fi
le

s
 (
T
o
ta

l 

C
h
a
n
g
e
)

N
e
w

 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 
C

a
b
in

e
t

A
c
tu

a
l 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 a
s
 a

t 

3
1
s
t 
J
u
ly

 2
0
1
3

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

O
u
tt

u
rn

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

A
d
u
lt
 &
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re

2
8
7
2

F
e
w
s
 L
o
d
g
e
 E
x
tr
a
 C
a
re
 S
c
h
e
m
e

(1
8
,4
9
3
)

2
9
1
3

8
0
 G
a
s
c
o
ig
n
e
 R
o
a
d
 C
a
re
 H
o
m
e

1
9
7
,8

0
9

1
9
7
,8

0
9

(8
6
,3
0
7
)

1
9
7
,8
0
9

2
8
8
8

D
ir
e
c
t 
P
y
m
t 
A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s

4
0
0
,0

0
0

4
0
0
,0

0
0

1
3
7
,5
2
1

4
0
0
,0
0
0

1
0
0

D
is
a
b
le
d
 A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 (
H
R
A
)

5
8
2
,9

0
2

5
8
2
,9

0
2

2
6
9
,2
3
8

5
8
2
,9
0
2

1
0
6

P
ri
v
a
te
 S
e
c
to
r 
H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s

5
7
4
,7

1
7

5
7
4
,7

1
7

1
7
4
,8
8
0

5
7
4
,7
1
7

1
0
5

P
ri
v
a
te
 S
e
c
to
r 
H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 (
1
0
5
)

(2
6
,8

1
0
)

(2
6
,8

1
0
)

2
6
,8
1
0

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
a
p
a
c
it
y
 G
ra
n
t

4
9
0
,9

9
5

4
9
0
,9

9
5

4
9
0
,9
9
5

C
u
lt
u
re
 &
 S
p
o
rt

1
6
5
4

R
ip
p
le
 H
a
ll 
(S
t 
G
e
o
rg
e
s
/V
o
l 
G
ro
u
p
 R
e
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
)

1
,5

0
0

1
,5

0
0

1
,2
1
5

1
,5
0
0

1
9
1

E
a
s
tb
u
ry
 H
o
u
s
e

3
,1

9
8

3
,1

9
8

3
,1
9
8

2
2
3
3

V
a
le
n
c
e
 S
it
e
 R
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

1
8
,8

8
0

1
8
,8

8
0

1
0
,9
8
7

1
8
,8
8
0

2
2
6
6

B
a
rk
in
g
 P
a
rk
 R
e
s
to
ra
ti
o
n
 &
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

1
0
0
,2

4
7

1
0
0
,2

4
7

7
,4
8
7

1
0
0
,2
4
7

2
6
0
3

B
e
c
o
n
tr
e
e
 H
e
a
th
 L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e

1
5
9
,1

7
0

1
5
9
,1

7
0

1
5
9
,1
7
0

2
8
1
5

G
o
re
s
b
ro
o
k
 L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
 -
 O
ly
m
p
ic
 T
ra
in
in
g
 V
e
n
u
e

7
,6
2
5

2
8
5
5

M
a
y
e
s
b
ro
o
k
 P
a
rk
 A
th
le
ti
c
s
 A
re
n
a

2
5
1
,4

6
5

2
5
1
,4

6
5

1
7
,8
2
7

2
5
1
,4
6
5

2
8
7
0

B
a
rk
in
g
 L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
 1
2
-1
4

7
,1

9
3
,8

5
9

7
,1

9
3
,8

5
9

2
7
,6
4
3

7
,1
9
3
,8
5
9

T
o
ta

l 
F
o
r 
A

d
u
lt
 &

 C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

9
,9

4
7
,9

3
2

9
,9

4
7
,9

3
2

5
4
9
,6

2
4

9
,9

7
4
,7

4
2

2
6
,8

1
0

Page 35



P
ro

je
c
t 

N
o
.

P
ro

je
c
t 
N

a
m

e
B

u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 
J
u
ly

 

C
a
b
in

e
t 
A

p
p
ro

v
a
ls

A
d
d
it
io

n
s
 &

 R
e
-

p
ro

fi
le

s
 (
T
o
ta

l 

C
h
a
n
g
e
)

N
e
w

 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 
C

a
b
in

e
t

A
c
tu

a
l 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 a
s
 a

t 

3
1
s
t 
J
u
ly

 2
0
1
3

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

O
u
tt

u
rn

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

C
h
il
d
re
n
's
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

P
ri
m
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
ls

2
5
5
5

E
a
s
tb
u
ry

3
2
,4

7
7

3
2
,4

7
7

(7
5
,9
5
4
)

3
2
,0
0
0

(4
7
7
)

2
7
3
6

R
o
d
in
g
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
- 
C
a
n
n
in
g
to
n
 R
o
a
d
 A
n
n
e
x

1
4
6
,9

3
9

1
4
6
,9

3
9

1
5
4

1
4
6
,9
3
9

2
7
4
5

G
e
o
rg
e
 C
a
re
y
 C
E
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
(f
o
rm

e
rl
y
 B
a
rk
in
g
 R
iv
e
rs
id
e
 P
ri
m
a
ry
)

9
3
2
,7

0
0

9
3
2
,7

0
0

2
6
8
,9
8
4

2
7
8
,9
8
4

(6
5
3
,7
1
6
)

2
7
5
9

B
e
a
m
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n

8
1
,6

6
8

8
1
,6

6
8

8
1
,6
8
8

2
0

2
7
9
9

S
t 
J
o
s
e
p
h
's
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 -
 e
x
p
a
n
s
io
n

8
2
,5

0
3

8
2
,5

0
3

8
2
,5
0
3

2
8
0
0

S
t 
P
e
te
r'
s
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 -
 e
x
p
a
n
s
io
n

3
3
,8

6
9

3
3
,8

6
9

3
3
,8
6
9

2
7
7
6

T
h
a
m
e
s
 V
ie
w
 I
n
fa
n
ts
 -
 L
o
n
d
o
n
 T
G
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t

3
9
,9

3
7

3
9
,9

3
7

3
9
,9
3
7

2
7
8
7

C
a
m
b
e
ll 
J
u
n
io
r 
- 
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 &
 R
e
fu
rb

1
7
,6

2
6

1
7
,6

2
6

1
7
,6
2
6

2
7
8
6

T
h
a
m
e
s
 V
ie
w
 J
u
n
io
rs
 -
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 &
 R
e
fu
rb

3
3
3
,7

7
2

3
3
3
,7

7
2

2
,8
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

(2
3
3
,7
7
2
)

2
7
8
4

M
a
n
o
r 
L
o
n
g
b
ri
d
g
e
 (
F
o
rm

e
r 
U
E
L
 S
it
e
)

(2
9
,2

0
1
)

(2
9
,2

0
1
)

(3
3
6
,3
0
5
)

(3
3
6
,1
0
4
)

(3
0
6
,9
0
3
)

2
7
9
0

S
t 
G
e
o
rg
e
s
 -
 N
e
w
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
5
,3

8
5

2
5
,3

8
5

2
5
,3
8
5

2
8
6
0

M
o
n
te
a
g
le
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 (
Q
u
a
d
ra
n
g
le
 I
n
fi
ll)

9
5
,6

9
6

9
5
,6

9
6

2
0
,3
2
5

9
5
,6
9
6

2
8
6
1

E
a
s
tb
u
ry
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 (
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
)

8
7
3
,0

1
2

8
7
3
,0

1
2

1
4
4

4
5
0
,0
0
0

(4
2
3
,0
1
2
)

2
8
6
2

G
a
s
c
o
ig
n
e
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 (
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
)

9
8
8
,9

6
3

9
8
8
,9

6
3

5
5
3
,5
1
9

9
8
8
,9
6
3

2
8
6
3

P
a
rs
lo
e
s
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 (
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
)

4
9
,0

9
0

4
9
,0

9
0

1
0
,5
1
6

4
9
,0
9
0

2
8
6
4

G
o
d
w
in
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 (
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
)

1
,6

7
4
,0

1
8

1
,6

7
4
,0

1
8

1
,4
8
7
,1
1
1

1
,6
7
4
,0
1
8

2
8
6
5

W
ill
ia
m
 B
e
lla
m
y
 I
n
fa
n
ts
/J
u
n
io
rs
 (
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
)

2
,2

3
9
,1

9
0

2
,2

3
9
,1

9
0

1
1
,1
5
9

2
5
0
,0
0
0

(1
,9
8
9
,1
9
0
)

2
8
6
7

S
o
u
th
w
o
o
d
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 (
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
)

1
3
,1

6
3

1
3
,1

6
3

4
,1
5
1

1
3
,1
5
1

(1
2
)

2
9
0
0

B
e
c
o
n
tr
e
e
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n

4
1
,8

9
0

4
1
,8

9
0

2
9
,0
9
4

4
1
,8
9
0

2
9
2
4

S
t 
J
o
s
e
p
h
s
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 E
x
tn

3
5
2
,0

9
2

3
5
2
,0

9
2

9
5
,8
5
4

3
5
2
,0
9
2

2
9
1
8

R
o
d
in
g
 C
a
n
n
in
g
to
n
 2
0
1
3
-1
5

1
,5

1
1
,1

5
1

1
,5

1
1
,1

5
1

1
,0
1
5
,6
8
2

1
,5
1
1
,1
5
1

2
9
1
9

R
ic
h
a
rd
 A
lib
o
n
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n

4
1
,1

3
3

4
1
,1

3
3

2
1
,0
8
0

4
1
,0
0
0

(1
3
3
)

2
9
2
0

W
a
rr
e
n
/F
u
rz
e
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n

7
2
,8

2
5

7
2
,8

2
5

1
1
,4
1
0

7
3
,0
0
0

1
7
5

2
9
2
1

M
a
n
o
r 
In
fa
n
t 
J
n
r 
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n

6
5
,6

3
0

6
5
,6

3
0

9
,2
6
9

5
0
0
,0
0
0

4
3
4
,3
7
0

2
9
2
2

V
a
le
n
c
e
 H
a
lb
u
tt
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n

1
,6

4
9
,1

2
2

1
,6

4
9
,1

2
2

1
,0
9
9
,3
1
2

1
,6
4
9
,1
2
2

2
9
2
3

R
u
s
h
 G
re
e
n
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n

1
5
,0

0
0

1
5
,0

0
0

1
4
,0
8
9

1
5
,0
0
0

2
9
5
6

M
a
rs
h
 G
re
e
n
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 1
3
-1
5

1
0
0
,0
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

2
9
5
7

J
o
h
n
 P
e
rr
y
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 1
3
-1
5

1
9
5

1
0
0
,0
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

2
9
5
8

F
a
n
s
h
a
w
e
 A
d
u
lt
 C
o
lle
g
e
 R
e
fu
rb
 1
3
-1
5

5
2
3
,3
6
6

2
,2
5
9
,6
1
5

2
,2
5
9
,6
1
5

O
th
e
r 
S
c
h
e
m
e
s

U
A
C
1
2

N
e
w
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
A
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 -
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
e
a
rl
y
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
2
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s

8
8
9
,3

0
2

8
8
9
,3

0
2

8
8
9
,0
0
0

(3
0
2
)

2
7
9
3

S
M
F
 -
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
M
o
d
e
rn
is
a
ti
o
n
 F
u
n
d

2
1
2
,4

1
6

2
1
2
,4

1
6

1
8
5
,0
2
3

2
1
2
,4
1
6

2
7
5
1

S
c
h
o
o
l's
 K
it
c
h
e
n
 E
x
te
n
s
io
n
/R
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
1
0
/1
1

1
1
,5

5
6

1
1
,5

5
6

1
1
,5
5
6

Page 36



P
ro

je
c
t 

N
o
.

P
ro

je
c
t 
N

a
m

e
B

u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 
J
u
ly

 

C
a
b
in

e
t 
A

p
p
ro

v
a
ls

A
d
d
it
io

n
s
 &

 R
e
-

p
ro

fi
le

s
 (
T
o
ta

l 

C
h
a
n
g
e
)

N
e
w

 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 
C

a
b
in

e
t

A
c
tu

a
l 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 a
s
 a

t 

3
1
s
t 
J
u
ly

 2
0
1
3

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

O
u
tt

u
rn

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

2
7
2
4

B
a
s
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 P
ro
je
c
ts
 (
 f
o
rm

e
rl
y
 A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
S
c
h
o
o
l 
P
la
c
e
s
)2
0
1
1
/1
2

2
3
1
,2

2
6

2
3
1
,2

2
6

5
4
9

2
3
1
,2
2
6

2
8
2
6

5
1
2
a
 H
e
a
th
w
a
y
 -
 C
o
n
v
e
rs
io
n
 t
o
 a
 F
a
m
ily
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e

3
8
,1

7
1

3
8
,1

7
1

1
6
,6
4
5

3
8
,1
7
1

2
8
7
8

5
1
2
a
 H
e
a
th
w
a
y
 (
p
h
a
s
e
 2
)-
 C
o
n
v
e
rs
io
n
 t
o
 a
 F
a
m
ily
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 w
it
h
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
te
a
c
h
in
g
 s
p
a
c
e

7
,2

2
2

7
,2

2
2

7
,2
2
2

9
9
9
9

D
e
v
o
lv
e
d
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
F
o
rm

u
la

1
,0

1
9
,5

4
5

1
,0

1
9
,5

4
5

1
5
8
,6
3
7

1
,0
2
0
,0
0
0

4
5
5

2
9
0
6

S
c
h
o
o
l 
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 S
E
N
 P
ro
je
c
ts

8
6
2
,7

2
2

8
6
2
,7

2
2

1
6
0
,0
8
3

8
6
3
,0
0
0

2
7
8

2
9
0
9

S
c
h
o
o
l 
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 M
in
o
r 
P
ro
jc
ts

4
7
2
,9

7
3

4
7
2
,9

7
3

1
0
4
,4
5
2

4
7
2
,9
7
3

2
9
2
9

S
M
F
 2
0
1
2
/1
3

1
,6

0
0
,3

0
3

1
,6

0
0
,3

0
3

3
3
7
,7
3
2

1
,6
0
0
,3
0
3

C
h
ild
re
n
 C
e
n
tr
e
s

2
3
1
0

W
ill
ia
m
 B
e
lla
m
y
 C
h
ild
re
n
s
 C
e
n
tr
e

6
,4

5
8

6
,4

5
8

(1
4
,4
7
4
)

6
,0
0
0

(4
5
8
)

2
3
1
1

B
e
c
o
n
tr
e
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
s
 C
e
n
tr
e

(2
3
2
,3
1
9
)

2
2
1
7

J
o
h
n
 P
e
rr
y
 C
h
ild
re
n
s

9
,6

1
9

9
,6

1
9

(5
,0
7
9
)

1
0
,0
0
0

3
8
1

2
6
5
1

A
lib
o
n
 C
h
ild
re
n
s
 C
e
n
tr
e

(8
,8

1
2
)

(8
,8

1
2
)

8
,8
1
2

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
ls

2
8
1
8

S
y
d
n
e
y
 R
u
s
s
e
ll 
- 
S
c
h
o
o
ls
 F
o
r 
T
h
e
 F
u
tu
re

(1
,2

4
3
,8

7
6
)

(1
,2

4
3
,8

7
6
)

5
4
,0
7
5

2
1
0
,9
0
0

1
,4
5
4
,7
7
6

2
8
2
5

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m
 P
a
rk
 S
c
h
o
o
l

(3
6
,2

7
7
)

(3
6
,2

7
7
)

(1
1
,7
9
3
)

(1
1
,7
9
3
)

2
4
,4
8
4

2
9
3
2

T
ri
n
it
y
 6
th
 F
o
rm

 P
ro
v
is
o
n

(1
5
3
,2
3
8
)

(1
5
3
,0
0
0
)

(1
5
3
,0
0
0
)

2
9
5
2

B
a
rk
in
g
 A
b
b
e
y
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 1
3
-1
5

4
5
0
,0
0
0

4
5
0
,0
0
0

2
9
5
3

A
ll 
S
a
in
ts
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 1
3
-1
5

5
4
,5
9
8

1
8
8
,0
0
0

1
8
8
,0
0
0

2
9
5
4

J
o
 R
ic
h
a
rd
s
o
n
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 1
3
-1
5

1
5
0
,0
0
0

1
5
0
,0
0
0

2
9
5
5

B
a
rk
in
g
 R
iv
e
rs
id
e
 C
it
y
 F
a
rm

2
,5

9
1
,3

8
3

2
,5

9
1
,3

8
3

2
,1
6
2
,1
8
4

4
,4
2
5
,8
9
5

1
,8
3
4
,5
1
2

2
9
5
9

R
o
b
e
rt
 C
la
c
k
 E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 1
3
-1
5

3
0
0
,0
0
0

3
0
0
,0
0
0

S
k
ill
s
, 
L
e
a
rn
in
g
 &
 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e

2
7
2
3

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d
 S
k
ill
s
 C
e
n
tr
e

(8
0
,4

5
1
)

(8
0
,4

5
1
)

1
4
5
,0
9
4

5
0
0
,0
0
0

5
8
0
,4
5
1

H
o
ld
in
g
 C
o
d
e

U
A
C
1

N
e
w
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 P
la
c
e
s
 -
 B
a
s
ic
 N
e
e
d
s

3
5
,8

9
8
,2

3
6

(3
5
,8

9
8
,2

3
6
)

U
A
C
5

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
S
c
h
o
o
l 
P
la
c
e
s
 (
B
a
s
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
) 
C
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y

7
5
2
,3

0
4

(7
5
2
,3

0
4
)

T
o

ta
l 

C
h

il
d

r
e

n
's

 S
e

r
v
ic

e
s

5
3
,1

9
2
,2

7
8

(3
6
,6

5
0
,5

4
0
)

1
6
,5

4
1
,7

3
8

7
,7

2
8
,1

2
3

2
2
,0

8
8
,9

0
3

5
,5

4
7
,1

6
5

Page 37



P
ro

je
c
t 

N
o
.

P
ro

je
c
t 
N

a
m

e
B

u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 
J
u
ly

 

C
a
b
in

e
t 
A

p
p
ro

v
a
ls

A
d
d
it
io

n
s
 &

 R
e
-

p
ro

fi
le

s
 (
T
o
ta

l 

C
h
a
n
g
e
)

N
e
w

 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 
C

a
b
in

e
t

A
c
tu

a
l 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 a
s
 a

t 

3
1
s
t 
J
u
ly

 2
0
1
3

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

O
u
tt

u
rn

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

2
7
6
4

S
tr
e
e
t 
L
ig
h
t 
R
e
p
la
c
in
g

2
1
0
,8

6
9

2
1
0
,8

6
9

2
1
1
,0
0
0

1
3
1

2
8
4
2

F
la
ts
 r
e
c
y
c
lin
g
 b
a
n
k
s
 s
c
h
e
m
e

3
,8
0
0

2
8
7
3

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts

6
,4

3
2

6
,4

3
2

6
,0
0
0

(4
3
2
)

2
8
9
4

R
o
a
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 I
m
p
v
 S
c
h
 Y
e
a
r 
2
 (
T
F
L
)

(5
1
,4
5
7
)

2
9
6
4

R
o
a
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
2
0
1
3
-1
4
 (
T
fL
)

9
8
,4

0
0

9
8
,4

0
0

1
9
,1
1
6

9
8
,0
0
0

(4
0
0
)

2
8
8
7

F
ri
z
la
n
d
s
 W

k
s
h
p
 M
a
jo
r 
W
k
s

1
4
5
,4

4
7

1
4
5
,4

4
7

3
,9
5
3

1
4
5
,0
0
0

(4
4
7
)

2
8
8
6

P
a
rk
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 I
m
p

(3
4
2
,6

1
4
)

(3
4
2
,6

1
4
)

3
4
2
,6
1
4

2
9
0
8

B
ro
w
n
 W

h
e
e
le
d
 B
in
s
 R
e
c
y
c
lin
g

(3
2
,4

2
3
)

(3
2
,4

2
3
)

(1
8
,4
0
0
)

3
2
,4
2
3

2
9
3
0

H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

2
,9

5
3
,4

9
4

4
7
8
,1

8
7

3
,4

3
1
,6

8
1

1
,5
8
2
,3
0
2

3
,4
3
1
,6
8
1

P
G
S
S

2
4
2
1

S
ta
ff
 C
o
s
ts
 1
2
/1
4

3
8
,2

1
6

3
8
,2

1
6

3
8
,0
0
0

(2
1
6
)

2
5
6
7

A
b
b
e
y
 G
re
e
n
 P
a
rk
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

8
,9

1
3

8
,9

1
3

8
,9
1
3

2
8
1
7

M
a
y
e
s
b
ro
o
k
 P
a
rk
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 (
P
h
a
s
e
 1
)

6
7
,4

5
9

6
7
,4

5
9

5
1

(6
7
,4
0
8
)

2
9
1
1

Q
u
a
k
e
r 
B
u
ri
a
l 
G
ro
u
n
d

6
0
,0

0
0

6
0
,0

0
0

4
9
0

5
9
,5
0
0

(5
0
0
)

2
9
1
2

B
a
rk
in
g
 P
a
rk
 T
e
n
n
is
 P
ro
je
c
t

4
0
,5

3
1

4
0
,5

3
1

1
3
,1
3
4

4
1
,0
0
0

4
6
9

2
9
4
8

A
b
b
e
y
 G
re
e
n
- 
C
h
u
rc
h
y
a
rd
 W

a
ll

6
4
,9

5
9

6
4
,9

5
9

1
1
,8
3
9

6
4
,9
7
7

1
8

2
9
2
5

A
d
iz
o
n
e
 P
ro
je
c
t 
1
2
-1
3

4
0
,9

4
9

4
0
,9

4
9

4
1
,0
0
0

5
1

T
o
ta

l 
F
o
r 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 &

 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t

3
,3

6
0
,6

3
2

4
7
8
,1

8
7

3
,8

3
8
,8

1
9

1
,5

6
4
,7

7
6

4
,1

4
5
,6

3
4

3
0
6
,8

1
5

Page 38



P
ro

je
c
t 

N
o
.

P
ro

je
c
t 
N

a
m

e
B

u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 
J
u
ly

 

C
a
b
in

e
t 
A

p
p
ro

v
a
ls

A
d
d
it
io

n
s
 &

 R
e
-

p
ro

fi
le

s
 (
T
o
ta

l 

C
h
a
n
g
e
)

N
e
w

 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 
C

a
b
in

e
t

A
c
tu

a
l 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 a
s
 a

t 

3
1
s
t 
J
u
ly

 2
0
1
3

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

O
u
tt

u
rn

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

A
s
s
e
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y

U
A
C
8

A
s
s
e
t 
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
s
 (
A
ll 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
)

1
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

1
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

1
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

2
7
4
1

L
8
 C
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
f 
L
e
g
io
n
e
lla
 R
e
m
e
d
ia
l 
W
o
rk
s

6
0
,0

0
0

6
0
,0

0
0

2
,3
7
0

6
0
,0
0
0

2
5
7
8

A
s
b
e
s
to
s
 (
P
u
b
lic
 B
u
ild
in
g
s
)

1
0
,0

0
0

1
0
,0

0
0

1
0
,0
0
0

2
7
7
1

A
u
to
m
a
ti
c
 M
e
te
r 
R
e
a
d
in
g
 E
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t

3
1
,4

9
4

3
1
,4

9
4

3
,8
5
8

3
1
,4
9
4

2
5
8
7

E
n
e
rg
y
 E
ff
ie
c
ie
n
c
y
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

8
6
,1

7
3

8
6
,1

7
3

5
9
,8
7
2

8
6
,1
7
3

2
5
4
2

B
a
c
k
lo
g
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts

7
4
4
,8

5
0

7
4
4
,8

5
0

1
9
1
,7
4
2

7
4
4
,8
5
0

2
5
6
5

Im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 A
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 S
tr
a
te
g
y

6
6
3
,5

4
2

6
6
3
,5

4
2

4
6
,2
4
1

5
3
7
,5
4
2

(1
2
6
,0
0
0
)

IC
T 2
6
2
3

M
ic
ro
s
o
ft
 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t

8
8
,7

9
4

8
8
,7

9
4

8
8
,7
9
4

2
7
3
8

M
o
d
e
rn
is
a
ti
o
n
 &
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
C
a
p
it
a
l 
F
u
n
d

1
,6

9
8
,6

9
8

1
,6

9
8
,6

9
8

8
,6
1
3

1
,6
9
8
,6
9
8

2
8
7
7

O
ra
c
le
 R
1
2
 J
o
in
t 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

2
,6

3
2
,2

8
4

2
,6

3
2
,2

8
4

5
1
7
,5
8
2

2
,6
3
2
,2
8
4

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
4
5
8

N
e
w
 D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m
 L
ib
ra
ry
 &
 O
n
e
 S
to
p
 S
h
o
p

7
3
,6

6
6

7
3
,6

6
6

7
3
,6
6
6

2
5
9
6

L
e
g
i 
B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 C
e
n
tr
e
s

1
5
9
,9

7
8

1
5
9
,9

7
8

4
4
7

5
9
,9
7
8

(1
0
0
,0
0
0
)

2
9
6
9

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
G
ro
w
th
 F
u
n
d

3
2
5
,0

0
0

3
2
5
,0

0
0

3
2
5
,0
0
0

2
7
7
5

B
T
C
 P
u
b
lic
 R
e
a
lm
 -
 T
s
q
 &
 A
b
b
e
y

2
4
,7

7
1

2
4
,7

7
1

5
,4
5
5

2
4
,7
7
1

2
6
2
5

T
h
a
m
e
s
 V
ie
w
 R
e
g
e
n
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e

2
1
,4

9
9

2
1
,4

9
9

6
,3
8
7

2
1
,4
9
9

2
8
1
9

L
o
n
d
o
n
 R
o
a
d
/N
o
rt
h
 S
tr
e
e
t 
S
it
e
 A
c
q
u
is
it
io
n
s

2
5
7
,3

5
9

2
5
7
,3

5
9

1
6
,9
1
6

2
2
,3
5
9

(2
3
5
,0
0
0
)

2
8
3
1

B
a
rk
in
g
 S
ta
ti
o
n
 F
o
re
c
o
u
rt
 -
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 (
T
F
L
 &
 S
1
0
6
)

(2
6
,0
4
6
)

2
8
2
1

S
h
o
p
p
in
g
 P
a
ra
d
e
 E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts

3
6
5
,3

4
1

3
6
5
,3

4
1

(1
6
1
,4
1
1
)

3
6
5
,3
4
1

2
8
5
4

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
a
r 
o
f 
T
h
e
 M
a
ll,
 D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m
 H
e
a
th
w
a
y

1
7
0
,0

0
9

1
7
0
,0

0
9

5
9
,3
7
7

1
7
0
,0
0
9

2
9
0
1

C
re
e
k
m
o
u
th
 A
rt
s
 &
 H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 T
ra
il

5
0
,0

0
0

5
0
,0

0
0

9
,0
0
0

5
0
,0
0
0

2
9
0
2

S
h
o
rt
 B
lu
e
 P
la
c
e
 (
N
e
w
 M
a
rk
e
t 
S
q
u
a
re
 B
a
rk
in
 -
 P
h
a
s
e
 I
I)

1
5
8
,4

6
9

1
5
8
,4

6
9

1
2
8
,4
3
6

1
5
8
,4
6
9

2
9
2
6

O
u
te
r 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 F
u
n
d
 R
o
u
n
d
 2

1
1
9
,8

3
4

1
1
9
,8

3
4

3
3
,9
7
1

9
5
,8
3
4

(2
4
,0
0
0
)

2
9
2
7

C
h
e
q
u
e
rs
/A
b
b
e
y
 R
o
a
d
 P
u
b
lic
 R
e
a
lm
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

3
9
1
,6

7
7

3
9
1
,6

7
7

1
5
8
,2
8
3

3
9
1
,6
7
7

2
9
2
8

C
a
p
ta
in
 C
o
o
k
 S
it
e
 A
c
q
u
is
it
io
n
 a
n
d
 P
u
b
lic
 R
e
a
lm
 W

o
rk
s
 (
A
b
b
e
y
 L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
)

5
0
,0

0
0

5
0
,0

0
0

1
5
,1
8
8

1
6
,0
0
0

(3
4
,0
0
0
)

2
8
4
1

B
ik
in
g
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 (
T
F
L
)

9
1
,2

0
0

9
1
,2

0
0

2
3
,4
9
6

9
1
,2
0
0

2
8
9
1

M
e
rr
y
 F
id
d
le
rs
 J
n
c
t 
Im
p
 Y
e
a
r 
2
 (
T
F
L
)

3
8
4
,0

0
0

3
8
4
,0

0
0

(5
8
,8
0
2
)

3
8
4
,0
0
0

2
8
9
2

C
y
c
lin
g
 G
re
e
n
w
a
y
s
 Y
e
a
r 
2
 (
T
F
L
)

9
6
,0

0
0

9
6
,0

0
0

6
,6
9
7

9
6
,0
0
0

2
8
9
5

C
h
a
d
w
e
ll 
H
e
a
th
 S
ta
ti
o
n
 I
m
p
v
 (
T
F
L
)

2
8
8
,0

0
0

2
8
8
,0

0
0

(3
7
,2
4
6
)

2
8
8
,0
0
0

2
8
9
8

L
o
c
a
l 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 P
la
n
s
 (
T
F
L
)

9
6
,0

0
0

9
6
,0

0
0

4
0
,2
3
3

9
6
,0
0
0

2
8
9
9

R
iv
e
r 
R
o
d
in
g
 C
y
c
le
 L
in
k
 /
 G
o
re
s
b
ro
o
k
 P
a
rk
 C
y
c
le
 L
in
k
s

1
9
2
,0

0
0

1
9
2
,0

0
0

1
7
9

1
9
2
,0
0
0

Page 39



P
ro

je
c
t 

N
o
.

P
ro

je
c
t 
N

a
m

e
B

u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 
J
u
ly

 

C
a
b
in

e
t 
A

p
p
ro

v
a
ls

A
d
d
it
io

n
s
 &

 R
e
-

p
ro

fi
le

s
 (
T
o
ta

l 

C
h
a
n
g
e
)

N
e
w

 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 
C

a
b
in

e
t

A
c
tu

a
l 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 a
s
 a

t 

3
1
s
t 
J
u
ly

 2
0
1
3

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

O
u
tt

u
rn

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

2
9
6
2

P
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
R
o
a
d
 R
e
s
u
rf
a
c
in
g
 2
0
1
3
-1
4
 T
fL

5
3
0
,1

3
7

5
3
0
,1

3
7

5
3
0
,1
3
7

2
9
6
3

M
a
y
e
s
b
ro
o
k
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 (
D
IY
 S
tr
e
e
ts
) 
2
0
1
3
-1
4

2
8
8
,0

0
0

2
8
8
,0

0
0

3
,3
3
0

2
8
8
,0
0
0

2
9
6
5

S
a
fe
r 
&
 S
m
a
rt
e
r 
T
ra
v
e
l 
P
la
n
s
 2
0
1
3
-1
4
 (
T
fL
)

1
1
1
,3

6
0

1
1
1
,3

6
0

5
6
,1
4
6

1
1
1
,3
6
0

2
9
1
0

B
a
rk
in
g
 S
tn
 P
a
ra
d
e
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t

6
0
,0

0
0

6
0
,0

0
0

6
0
,0
0
0

2
9
1
4

B
a
rk
in
g
 J
o
b
 S
h
o
p
 R
e
lo
c
a
ti
o
n

7
3
,0

0
3

7
3
,0

0
3

(1
4
,1
9
2
)

3
(7
3
,0
0
0
)

U
A
C
9

C
a
p
it
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
R
e
d
u
n
d
a
n
c
ie
s

3
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

(3
,0

0
0
,0

0
0
)

T
o

ta
l 

F
o

r
 C

E
O

1
4
,3

9
3
,1

3
8

(3
,0

0
0
,0

0
0
)

1
1
,3

9
3
,1

3
8

1
,0

9
6
,1

2
3

1
0
,8

0
1
,1

3
8

(5
9
2
,0

0
0
)

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

G
ra
n
d
 T
o
ta
l 
G
e
n
e
ra
l 
F
u
n
d

8
0
,8
9
3
,9
8
0

(3
9
,1
7
2
,3
5
3
)

4
1
,7
2
1
,6
2
7

1
0
,9
3
8
,6
4
6

4
7
,0
1
0
,4
1
7

5
,2
8
8
,7
9
0

Page 40



P
ro

je
c
t 

N
o
.

P
ro

je
c
t 
N

a
m

e
B

u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 
J
u
ly

 

C
a
b
in

e
t 
A

p
p
ro

v
a
ls

A
d
d
it
io

n
s
 &

 R
e
-

p
ro

fi
le

s
 (
T
o
ta

l 

C
h
a
n
g
e
)

N
e
w

 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 
C

a
b
in

e
t

A
c
tu

a
l 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 a
s
 a

t 

3
1
s
t 
J
u
ly

 2
0
1
3

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

O
u
tt

u
rn

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

H
R
A

2
6
4
0

M
A
J
O
R
 W

O
R
K
S
 (
R
&
M
) 
P
R
O
J
.

1
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

1
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

4
1
6
,4
6
1

1
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
6
4
1

H
e
a
ti
n
g
 w
o
rk
s
 (
T
h
a
x
te
d
, 
M
a
x
e
y
 &
 H
u
m
p
h
ri
e
s
 H
o
u
s
e
s
)

0
0

2
6
4
5

P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 C
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
ie
s

5
1
9
,0

8
4

4
,0

9
6

5
2
3
,1

8
0

3
5
3
,6
5
9

5
2
3
,1
8
0

0

2
7
2
5

E
x
te
n
s
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 d
e
c
o
n
v
e

1
2
,9

1
7

1
2
,9

1
7

1
2
,9
1
7

0

2
7
2
6

E
x
te
rn
a
l 
E
n
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 W

o
rk

2
5
1
,2

4
4

2
5
1
,2

4
4

2
5
1
,2
4
4

0

2
7
2
8

E
le
c
tr
ic
a
l 
S
w
it
c
h
g
e
a
r 
P
ro
je
c
t

9
7
,6

8
5

9
7
,6

8
5

9
7
,6
8
5

0

2
7
3
0

S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 A
la
rm

s
 U
p
g
ra
d
e

(1
3
7
,8
7
4
)

0
0

2
7
3
1

C
o
ln
e
 &
 M
e
rs
e
a
 B
lo
c
k
s

1
8
7
,5

0
0

1
8
7
,5

0
0

(1
7
4
,7
2
0
)

1
8
7
,5
0
0

0

2
7
5
7

C
o
u
n
c
il 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 -
 N
e
w
 B
u
ild
s

2
3
5
,4

7
8

2
3
5
,4

7
8

2
3
5
,4
7
8

0

2
7
7
2

K
in
g
 W

ill
ia
m
 S
t 
Q
tr

9
7
,8

7
9

9
7
,8

7
9

9
7
,8
7
9

0

2
7
7
3

N
e
w
 B
u
ild
 p
h
a
s
e
 2
 &
 3

2
2
5
,3

6
5

2
2
5
,3

6
5

1
3
4
,2
8
3

2
2
5
,3
6
5

0

2
8
1
1

C
a
p
it
a
lis
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
W
o
rk
s

3
6
0
,0

0
0

3
6
0
,0

0
0

6
,8
7
8

3
6
0
,0
0
0

0

2
8
1
3

E
s
ta
te
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
je
c
t

6
0
0
,0

0
0

6
0
0
,0

0
0

3
,0
2
9

6
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
8
2
2

C
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
L
ig
h
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 E
le
c
tr
ic
a
l 
S
w
it
c
h
g
e
a
r

8
7
,9

3
0

8
7
,9

3
0

3
,1
8
8

8
7
,9
3
0

0

2
8
2
3

N
e
w
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
h
a
s
e
 3

1
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

1
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

1
6
4
,4
8
8

1
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
8
2
4

O
ld
m
e
a
d
 &
 B
a
rt
le
tt
 R
e
m
e
d
ia
l 
W
o
rk
s

5
,0

0
0

5
,0

0
0

(3
0
,2
0
2
)

5
,0
0
0

0

2
8
4
4

D
o
o
r 
E
n
tr
y
 P
ro
je
c
t 
1
1
/1
2

1
,2

0
0
,0

0
0

(9
0
0
,0

0
0
)

3
0
0
,0

0
0

1
3
1
,4
6
6

3
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
8
4
5

E
x
te
rn
a
l 
E
n
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 &
 F
ir
e
 p
ro
o
fi
n
g
 p
ro
je
c
t 
(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 w
a
lk
w
a
y
s
)

1
,2

0
0
,0

0
0

1
,2

0
0
,0

0
0

1
5
,1
7
1

1
,2
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
8
4
6

D
e
fe
c
ti
v
e
 O
v
e
rf
lo
w
 W

o
rk
s

7
,5

8
9

7
,5

8
9

7
,5
8
9

0

2
8
4
7

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
H
e
a
ti
n
g
 I
n
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
 i
n
c
. 
C
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
B
o
ile
r 
R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t

3
0
2
,7

3
9

3
0
2
,7

3
9

1
,2
0
0

3
0
2
,7
3
9

0

2
8
4
8

K
it
c
h
e
n
 &
 B
a
th
ro
o
m
 R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
je
c
t

6
4
,0

0
0

6
4
,0

0
0

4
5
,5
7
6

6
4
,0
0
0

0

2
8
4
9

H
ig
h
 R
is
e
 S
u
rv
e
y
s

3
9
2
,0

0
0

3
9
2
,0

0
0

3
9
2
,0
0
0

0

2
8
5
0

C
a
p
it
a
lis
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
W
o
rk
s
 (
E
s
ta
te
s
)

1
5
8
,0

0
0

1
5
8
,0

0
0

8
,0
8
6

1
5
8
,0
0
0

0

2
8
5
2

A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 -
 H
o
u
s
in
g

1
2
0
,2

2
0

1
2
0
,2

2
0

1
6
,0
2
7

1
2
0
,2
2
0

0

2
8
5
3

E
s
ta
te
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts

6
8
,5
4
6

0
0

2
8
8
0

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
H
e
a
ti
n
g
 I
n
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 (
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
)

1
4
,2

3
9

1
4
,2

3
9

3
4
,1
3
8

1
4
,2
3
9

0

2
8
8
1

K
it
c
h
e
n
 ,
 B
a
th
ro
o
m
, 
C
e
n
tr
a
l 
H
e
a
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 R
e
-w
ir
in
g
 (
E
n
h
)

7
3
,8

3
9

7
3
,8

3
9

4
5
0

7
3
,8
3
9

0

2
8
8
2

E
le
c
tr
ic
a
l 
R
e
w
ir
in
g
 (
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
)

1
2
,0

2
1

1
2
,0

2
1

1
2
,0
2
1

0

2
9
3
3

V
o
id
s
 1
2
-1
4

1
,5

0
0
,0

0
0

1
,5

0
0
,0

0
0

4
3
7
,4
3
3

1
,5
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
9
3
4

R
o
o
f 
R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
je
c
t

2
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

2
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

8
,8
2
2

2
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
9
3
5

In
te
rn
a
l 
W
o
rk
s
 M
u
lt
ip
le
 E
lm
n
ts

8
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

8
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

4
5
4
,0
3
1

8
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
9
3
6

R
e
w
ir
in
g
 (
in
c
l 
S
m
o
k
e
 A
la
rm

s
)

1
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

1
0
0
,0

0
0

1
,1

0
0
,0

0
0

3
,0
3
9

1
,1
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
9
3
7

C
C
T
V
/S
A
M
S
 P
h
a
s
e
 2

3
1
5
,0

0
0

3
1
5
,0

0
0

3
1
5
,0
0
0

0

2
9
3
8

F
ir
e
 S
a
fe
ty
 W

o
rk
s
 

4
8
8
,0

6
0

4
8
8
,0

6
0

5
0
,0
9
0

4
8
8
,0
6
0

0

2
9
3
9

R
iv
e
rs
id
e
 H
o
u
s
e
 R
e
fu
rb

2
,3

0
0
,0

0
0

2
,3

0
0
,0

0
0

1
5
,6
9
5

2
,3
0
0
,0
0
0

0

Page 41



P
ro

je
c
t 

N
o
.

P
ro

je
c
t 
N

a
m

e
B

u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 
J
u
ly

 

C
a
b
in

e
t 
A

p
p
ro

v
a
ls

A
d
d
it
io

n
s
 &

 R
e
-

p
ro

fi
le

s
 (
T
o
ta

l 

C
h
a
n
g
e
)

N
e
w

 B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
ft

e
r 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 
C

a
b
in

e
t

A
c
tu

a
l 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 a
s
 a

t 

3
1
s
t 
J
u
ly

 2
0
1
3

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

O
u
tt

u
rn

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

2
9
4
0

D
o
o
r 
E
n
tr
y
 P
ro
je
c
t 
1
2
/1
3
 P
h
a
s
e
 I
I

9
8
0
,6

5
0

5
4
5
,4

8
0

1
,5

2
6
,1

3
0

2
,5
6
6

1
,5
2
6
,1
3
0

0

2
9
4
1

R
e
n
e
w
a
b
le
s
 (
P
V
s
) 
&
 C
E
S
P
s
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
E
x
te
rn
a
l 
E
n
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 W

o
rk
s

1
,9

2
6
,7

3
2

1
,9

2
6
,7

3
2

6
6
,9
8
6

1
,9
2
6
,7
3
2

0

2
9
4
2

T
ra
v
e
lle
rs
 S
it
e
 R
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t

2
3
7
,0

0
0

2
3
7
,0

0
0

1
9
4
,5
6
0

2
3
7
,0
0
0

0

2
9
4
3

A
s
b
e
s
to
s
 R
e
m
o
v
a
l 
(C
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
A
re
a
s
 o
n
ly
)

5
0
0
,0

0
0

5
0
0
,0

0
0

5
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
9
4
4

R
&
 M
 S
e
t 
u
p
 C
o
s
ts

3
,1

2
9
,4

6
8

3
,1

2
9
,4

6
8

(4
2
4
,2
8
4
)

3
,1
2
9
,4
6
8

0

2
9
4
5

S
tr
e
e
t 
P
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 A
c
q
u
is
it
io
n

1
,2

6
6
,9

3
9

1
,3

0
0
,0

0
0

2
,5

6
6
,9

3
9

2
,5
6
6
,9
3
9

0

2
9
4
6

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
rs
o
n
s
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 P
h
a
s
e
 1

4
0
0
,0

0
0

4
0
0
,0

0
0

4
0
0
,0
0
0

0

2
9
4
9

E
x
te
rn
a
l 
E
n
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 i
n
c
l.
 W

a
lk
w
a
y
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 I
I

1
,4

2
2
,8

6
3

1
,4

2
2
,8

6
3

9
,2
8
6

1
,4
2
2
,8
6
3

0

2
9
5
0

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
H
e
a
ti
n
g
 I
n
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
 I
n
c
. 
C
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
B
o
ile
r 
R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
P
h
a
s
e
 I
I

1
,9

4
2
,8

7
4

1
,9

4
2
,8

7
4

5
,0
6
7

1
,9
4
2
,8
7
4

0

2
9
5
1

E
le
c
tr
ic
a
l 
S
w
it
c
h
g
e
a
r 
in
c
. 
C
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
&
 E
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 L
ig
h
ti
n
g
 P
h
a
s
e
 I
I

4
8
3
,1

5
8

4
8
3
,1

5
8

1
3
,0
2
2

4
8
3
,1
5
8

0

2
8
2
0

B
o
ro
u
g
h
w
id
e
 E
s
ta
te
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
- 
G
a
s
c
o
ig
n
e
 D
e
c
a
n
ts

9
6
8
,2

5
9

9
6
8
,2

5
9

2
1
1
,3
4
8

9
6
8
,2
5
9

0

2
8
2
8

B
o
ro
u
g
h
w
id
e
 E
s
ta
te
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
- 
L
e
y
s
 D
e
c
a
n
ts

1
6
8
,0

7
2

1
6
8
,0

7
2

4
9
,3
7
3

1
6
8
,0
7
2

0

2
8
2
9

B
o
ro
u
g
h
w
id
e
 E
s
ta
te
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
- 
G
o
re
s
b
ro
o
k
 V
ill
a
g
e
 D
e
c
a
n
ts

5
0
,0

0
0

5
0
,0

0
0

6
6
,0
8
2

5
0
,0
0
0

0

2
8
5
6

B
o
ro
u
g
h
w
id
e
 E
s
t 
R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
- 
L
e
a
s
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 B
u
y
b
a
c
k
s
 (
a
ll)

2
,8

3
4
,0

3
5

4
,2

0
6
,3

2
1

7
,0

4
0
,3

5
6

2
,8
5
1
,4
4
6

7
,0
4
0
,3
5
6

0

2
8
5
7

B
o
ro
u
g
h
w
id
e
 E
s
t 
R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
- 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
/M
a
s
te
rp
la
n
n
in
g

1
,1

9
8
,1

6
0

1
,1

9
8
,1

6
0

8
9
,4
3
6

1
,1
9
8
,1
6
0

0

2
8
5
8

B
o
ro
u
g
h
w
id
e
 E
s
t 
R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
- 
D
e
m
o
lit
io
n

3
,8

9
4
,5

0
0

3
,8

9
4
,5

0
0

1
,9
9
1
,2
3
7

3
,8
9
4
,5
0
0

0

2
9
1
5

B
o
ro
u
g
h
w
id
e
 E
s
ta
te
 R
e
n
e
w
a
l 
- 
A
lt
h
o
rn
e
 W

a
y

1
7
1
,0

0
0

1
7
1
,0

0
0

4
3
,9
3
5

1
7
1
,0
0
0

0

2
9
1
6

L
a
w
n
s
 &
 W

o
o
d
 L
a
n
e
 D
v
lp
m
n
t

7
,0

0
3
,1

8
2

7
,0

0
3
,1

8
2

4
6
0
,5
9
3

7
,0
0
3
,1
8
2

0

2
9
1
7

A
b
b
e
y
 R
o
a
d
 C
IQ

1
3
,4

9
3
,2

5
0

1
3
,4

9
3
,2

5
0

1
3
,4
9
3
,2
5
0

0

2
9
3
1

L
e
y
s
 N
e
w
 B
u
ild
 D
e
v
 (
H
R
A
)

2
,6

5
4
,7

8
8

2
,6

5
4
,7

8
8

7
0
6
,0
6
1

2
,6
5
4
,7
8
8

0

2
9
6
1

G
o
re
s
b
ro
o
k
 V
ill
a
g
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
1
3
-1
5

3
,2

7
0
,0

0
0

3
,2

7
0
,0

0
0

1
9
3
,2
9
3

3
,2
7
0
,0
0
0

0

2
9
7
0

M
a
rk
s
 G
a
te
 O
p
e
n
 G
a
te
w
a
y
 R
e
g
e
n
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 

2
,6

0
0
,0

0
0

2
,6

0
0
,0

0
0

1
1
5
,5
4
8

2
,6
0
0
,0
0
0

0

N
e
w
7

D
e
c
e
n
t 
H
o
m
e
s
 B
a
c
k
lo
g
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

6
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

6
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

6
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

0

N
e
w
8

B
e
c
o
n
tr
e
e
 H
e
a
th
 E
n
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 P
ro
je
c
t

1
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

1
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

1
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

0

N
e
w
9

W
e
s
t 
G
a
s
c
o
ig
n
e
 U
p
g
ra
d
in
g

2
5
0
,0

0
0

2
5
0
,0

0
0

2
5
0
,0
0
0

0

N
e
w
3

S
ta
n
s
g
a
te
 N
e
w
 B
u
ild

2
2
5
,0

0
0

2
2
5
,0

0
0

2
2
5
,0
0
0

0

N
e
w
4

M
a
rg
a
re
t 
B
o
n
d
fi
e
ld
 N
e
w
 B
u
ild

1
0
0
,0

0
0

1
0
0
,0

0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

0

N
e
w
5

Il
c
h
e
s
te
r 
R
o
a
d
 N
e
w
 B
u
ilt

1
0
0
,0

0
0

1
0
0
,0

0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

0

N
e
w
6

A
b
b
e
y
 R
o
a
d
 P
h
a
s
e
 I
I 
N
e
w
 B
u
ild

5
0
0
,0

0
0

5
0
0
,0

0
0

5
0
0
,0
0
0

0

G
ra
n
d
 T
o
ta
l 
H
R
A

7
4
,4
5
5
,3
2
9

1
3
,3
9
8
,2
8
7

8
7
,8
5
3
,6
1
6

8
,6
7
4
,5
1
1

8
7
,8
5
3
,6
1
6

0
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

T
O
T
A
L
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E

1
5
5
,3
4
9
,3
0
9

-2
5
,7
7
4
,0
6
6

1
2
9
,5
7
6
,2
4
3

1
9
,6
1
4
,1
5
8

1
3
4
,8
6
5
,0
3
3

5
,2
8
8
,7
9
0

Page 42



CABINET 

24 September 2013 

Title:  Corporate Priority Performance Reporting - Quarter 1 2013/14 
 

Report of the Leader of the Council 
 

Open Report  
 

For Decision  

Wards Affected: All 
 

Key Decision: No 

Report Author: Karen Wheeler, Head of 
Strategy 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8227 2317 
E-mail: karen.wheeler@lbbd.gov.uk 

Accountable Divisional Director:  N/A 
 

Accountable Director:  Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 
 

Summary 
 
A wide range of performance is monitored and managed across the Council and is 
reported in a number of ways including in portfolio holder meetings and to partnership 
boards. The Corporate Priority Indicators provide a collective overview of performance 
across the Council/borough in order to inform decision making and use of resources, and 
to provide Members with a clear snap-shot of how priorities are being managed and 
implemented. 
 
This report aims to focus on current performance in areas of real interest to Members by 
providing detail of where performance has improved or deteriorated since last quarter as 
well as updating on progress against targets. 
 
Detailed performance data for all quarterly performance indicators is provided in 
Appendix A. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
(i) Note performance in Quarter 1 and make comments on any actions to be taken 

where performance has dipped; and 
 
(ii) Agree that the corporate target for responding to complaints within deadline at all 

stages should be raised from 80% to 100% from quarter 4 (January 2014) to allow 
communication to officers and changes to reporting systems.  
 

Reason(s) 
Performance data is reported to enable Members to more easily monitor and challenge 
performance and delivery of the policy priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan 2013/14. 
 

 
  

AGENDA ITEM 5

Page 43



1. Introduction and Background  
 

1.1 The Community Strategy 2013-2016 and Corporate Plan 2013/14 were agreed at 
Assembly in May 2013, and new priority performance indicators developed for 
2013/14. These indicators were agreed by Cabinet in June 2013 and reflect the 
priorities, high volume front line services and being a ‘well run organisation’. 
 

1.2 The new framework provides an overview of performance across the 
Council/borough in order to inform decision making and use of resources, and to 
provide Members with a clear snap-shot of how priorities are being managed and 
implemented. 

 
2. Performance Summary 

 

2.1 In order to report the latest performance in a concise manner, a number of symbols 
have been incorporated in the report. Please refer to the table below for a summary 
of each symbol and an explanation of their meaning. 

 

Symbol Detail 

� Performance has improved when compared to the same period last year 

� 
Performance has remained static when compared to the same period 
last year 

� 
Performance has deteriorated when compared to the same period last 
year 

G Performance is expected to achieve or has exceeded the target 

A Performance is within 10% of the target 

R Performance is 10% greater than the target 

 
 

2.2 Of all the Corporate Priority Indicators which are reported on a quarterly basis, the 
following table provides a summary of performance at Quarter 1. This should be 
considered in the context of significant budget reductions and our continuation to 
improve services.  
 

� � � G A R 

63% 7% 30% 48% 23% 29% 

 

 
3. Corporate Priority Performance – Quarter 1 Highlight 

 
3.1 The table in Appendix A provides a high-level summary of performance at Quarter 1 

for all Corporate Priority indicators reported on a quarterly basis. 
 

3.2 The new Corporate Priority Performance Framework was presented to Cabinet on 
25 June 2013.  This report was also discussed at PAASC and Members requested 
that the framework incorporate additional indicators to strengthen the focus on our 
Housing priorities.  As a result, two additional indicators (one quarterly and one 
annual) have been included within the priority indicators. 

Page 44



 

4. Corporate Priority Performance – Focus on Performance  
 
4.1 For Quarter 1 performance reporting, focus has been given to a small selection of 

indicators where performance has either greatly improved or has shown a 
deterioration.  It is hoped that by focusing on specific indicators, Members will be 
able to challenge performance and identify where action is required more easily. 

 
4.2 These selected indicators have been presented in a graphical format in order to 

provide a clearer picture of our current position, trend, target and performance when 
compared to the rest of London. Commentary is also provided to explain the 
improvement or action being taken to address a dip in performance. 
 
 

Ref. 18 
The proportion of spend on care and support in the 
home via direct payments � G 

 

 
 
The proportion of clients receiving care and support in the home via a direct payment 
continues to grow. This growth is in line with the personalisation agenda within Adult Social 
Care and the continued promotion of personal assistants within the borough. Providing direct 
payments instead of services gives people greater control over their lives and provides the 
means to decide how and when that care is provided. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
  

51.60% 49.07%
61.30%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2011/12 2012/13 Quarter 1 2013/14

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
sp

e
n

d

Our Performance Target

Page 45



Ref. 20 
Average time taken to re-let local authority housing 
(calendar days) � R 

 

 
 
Turnaround time has increased, however since repairs and maintenance services have been 
brought back in house we have greatly improved our void standard (which takes longer to 
turnaround). This has caused issues with capacity of contractors which is now being 
addressed. In addition to this we have recently brought a number of our long term voids back 
into use which has contributed towards the increase in overall turnaround time. 

 
 

 

Ref.  
31, 32, 33 

Percentage of Stage 1, 2 and 3 complaints 
responded to within deadline � R 

 

 

23

43

63.33

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2011/12 2012/13 Quarter 1 2013/14

C
a

le
n

d
a

r 
d

a
y

s

Our Performance Target

60%

76%

67%

58%

64%

49%

71%

84%

67%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

2011/12 2012/13 Quarter 1 2013/14

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 w

it
h

in
 d

e
a

d
li

n
e

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Target

Page 46



 
Stage 1 
From April 2013 the deadline for responding to Stage 1 complaints changed from 5 to 10 
working days in line with the majority of other London Boroughs and to better align with 
Member Enquiry timescales.    
 
A number of service areas have recorded poor performance within deadline during Quarter 1 
which has resulted in the low borough wide performance.  This includes housing repairs, 
children’s services and the capital delivery team. 
 
Housing repairs complaints accounted for 26% of the total Stage 1 complaints during this 
period (186 complaints), and only 28% were responded to within deadline.  While 
performance for May and June was poor, with a spike in cases being escalated to Stage 3, 
July’s Stage 1 figures are much improved at 81% responded to within deadline.  
 
Stage 2 
Stage 2 performance within deadline remains low, and is because the higher volume Stage 
2 complaint areas, specifically Environmental Services (36% of the Stage 2 complaints 
received this year) and Housing Repairs (43% of the Stage 2 complaints) are recording low 
performance, 62% and 46% respectively.  
 
Remedial action 
The Customer Services, Contracts and Business Improvement team has initiated a more 
detailed investigation to identify areas of poor quality work and to develop an action plan. A 
full complaints report will be presented to the Corporate Management Team (CMT) and the 
Portfolio Holder in October which will summarise mid year performance. This report will also 
present the initial findings of the quality control investigation and make appropriate 
recommendations. 
 
Open Case reports are now being sent to more services on a weekly basis to allow them to 
identify problem areas.  In some cases complaints teams are meeting with individual 
services to ensure quality and accuracy can be increased and complaints are not 
unnecessarily escalated.   
 
In addition it is recommended that the corporate target for responding to complaints within 
deadline at all stages should be raised from 80% to 100% from quarter 4 (January 2014) to 
allow communication to officers and changes to reporting systems.  

 
Prior to the introduction of this proposed change, the Customer Services, Contracts and 
Business Improvement team will be working closely with Directorates and services to 
develop an action plan to support changes to meet the revised target. CMT will also now 
receive quarterly exception reports of all failures to meet the target timescale. 

 
 
 
5.       Options Appraisal  
 
5.1 There is no legal requirement to prepare a performance report, however, it is good 

governance to do so and provides a collective overview of performance across the 
Council / borough in order to inform decision-making, use of resources and delivery 
of the priorities. 

 
  

Page 47



6. Consultation  
 
6.1 Corporate Management Team (CMT) and departments (through Departmental 

Management Teams) have informed the approach, data and commentary in this 
report. 

 
7. Financial Implications  
 

Implications verified by: Steve Pearson, Principal Accountant  
 

7.1 There are no specific financial implications, however, some key performance 
indicators do have quantifiable cost benefits, such as additional income from higher 
leisure centre usage or improved Council Tax collection rates (note - there is also a 
gain share for Elevate if they achieve over the agreed Council Tax collection 
percentage stated in their contract). 

 
7.2 Due to the financial constraints of the Council these key performance indicators 

must be delivered within the existing budgets of the relevant services. 
 
7.3 Where external funding is involved there can be financial implications if outcome 

based targets are not met, as funding may have to be returned to the provider. 
 
8.  Legal Implications  
 

  Implications verified by: Fiona Taylor, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 

8.1  The Legal Practice has been consulted in the preparation of this report and 
confirms there are no legal implications to highlight. 

 
9.  Other Implications 

 
9.1  Risk Management - The identification of clear performance measures to deliver 

against the priorities is part of a robust approach to risk management.   
 

9.2  Contractual Issues - Any contractual issues relating to improving performance 
measures will be addressed as part of the delivery plan for each project or action. 

 
9.3  Staffing Issues - Any staffing issues relating to improving performance measures 

will be addressed as part of the delivery plan for each project or action. 
 
9.4  Customer Impact - Improvements in performance indicators will have a positive 

impact on customers e.g. increase in visits to leisure centres may impact on obesity 
and mortality and life expectancy in the long term.  Where performance 
deteriorates, service or choice for customers may be reduced e.g. the proportion of 
spend on care and support in the home via direct payments. 

 
9.5  Safeguarding Children - A number of indicators related to safeguarding children 

are contained within the Corporate Priority Performance Framework.  Monitoring 
and management of these indicators will ensure safeguarding is maintained or 
improved.   
 

9.6 Health Issues - A number of health and well being indicators are contained with the 
Corporate Priority Performance Framework.  Monitoring and management of these 

Page 48



indicators will ensure areas related to health can be maintained or improved in line 
with the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.   
 

9.7     Crime and Disorder Issues - A number of crime indicators are contained with the 
Corporate Priority Performance Framework. Monitoring and management of these 
indicators will ensure areas related to crime and disorder can be maintained or 
improved. Consideration of the Council’s Section 17 duties and issues arising is 
part of the mainstream work for this area.   

 
 
 
Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 

• Community Strategy 2013-16 and Corporate Plan 2013/14  

• Corporate Performance Framework 2013/14 

• Directorate and partnership board performance dashboards/reports 
 

List of appendices: 
 
Appendix A: Corporate Priority Quarterly Indicators 
 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



H
is

to
ri

ca
l 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

La
st

 Y
e

a
r'

s 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

2
0

1
1

/1
2

 

R
e

su
lt

 

E
n

d
 o

f 
Y

e
a

r 

2
0

1
2

/1
3

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
1

3
/1

4
Lo

n
d

o
n

 

A
v

e
ra

g
e

 

N
a

ti
o

n
a

l 

A
v

e
ra

g
e

 

1
1

6
 t

o
 1

8
 y

e
a

r 
o

ld
s 

w
h

o
 a

re
 n

o
t 

in
 e

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

, 
e

m
p

lo
y

m
e

n
t 

o
r 

tr
a

in
in

g
 

(N
E

E
T

)
6

.5
%

5
.4

%
7

.6
%

<
6

%
O

ff
 t

a
rg

e
t

A
6

.2
%

�
1

.4
%

4
.7

%
5

.8
%

2
C

a
re

 l
e

a
v

e
rs

 i
n

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t,
 e

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

 o
r 

tr
a

in
in

g
4

0
.4

%
5

6
.4

%

(P
ro

v
is

io
n

a
l)

4
4

.1
%

6
0

%
O

ff
 t

a
rg

e
t

R
3

3
.3

%
�

1
0

.8
%

6
6

%
6

1
%

3
C

h
il

d
re

n
's

 S
o

ci
a

l 
C

a
re

 A
ss

e
ss

m
e

n
ts

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 w

it
h

in
 t

im
e

sc
a

le
s 

(4
5

 

d
a

y
s)

N
o

t 
a

p
p

li
ca

b
le

N
o

t 
a

p
p

li
ca

b
le

4
8

.1
%

N
/A

4
T

im
e

li
n

e
ss

 o
f 

ch
il

d
re

n
 i

n
 c

a
re

 p
la

ce
d

 f
o

r 
a

d
o

p
ti

o
n

 f
o

ll
o

w
in

g
 a

n
 a

g
e

n
cy

 

d
e

ci
si

o
n

 t
h

a
t 

th
e

 c
h

il
d

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e
 p

la
ce

d
 f

o
r 

a
d

o
p

ti
o

n
6

3
.6

%
6

6
.7

%

(P
ro

v
is

io
n

a
l)

1
0

0
%

G
1

0
0

%
�

0
%

7
1

.5
%

7
4

.0
%

5
T

h
e

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
A

F
s 

/ 
F
C

A
F
s 

in
it

ia
te

d
8

1
8

6
4

7
1

6
2

7
5

0
O

n
 t

a
rg

e
t

G
2

1
4

�
2

4
%

6
T

h
e

 p
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

p
ri

m
a

ry
 s

ch
o

o
ls

 r
a

te
d

 a
s 

o
u

ts
ta

n
d

in
g

 o
r 

g
o

o
d

5
9

%
6

4
%

6
4

%
>

 6
5

%
O

n
 t

a
rg

e
t

A
5

9
%

�
5

%
7

3
.8

%
6

8
.8

%

7
T

h
e

 p
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

se
co

n
d

a
ry

 s
ch

o
o

ls
 r

a
te

d
 a

s 
o

u
ts

ta
n

d
in

g
 o

r 
g

o
o

d
6

7
%

8
9

%
8

9
%

>
 6

5
%

E
xc

e
e

d
in

g
 

ta
rg

e
t

G
6

7
%

�
2

2
%

7
9

.5
%

6
6

.2
%

8
T

h
e

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

d
o

m
e

st
ic

 v
io

le
n

ce
 o

ff
e

n
ce

s
1

7
0

6
1

5
8

8
4

3
0

R
e

d
u

ct
io

n
O

ff
 t

a
rg

e
t

R
3

8
4

�
1

2
%

9
R

e
p

e
a

t 
in

ci
d

e
n

ts
 o

f 
d

o
m

e
st

ic
 v

io
le

n
ce

2
2

.0
%

2
1

%
2

6
%

2
8

%
O

n
 t

a
rg

e
t

A
2

5
%

�
1

%

1
0

T
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
v

io
le

n
t 

cr
im

e
s

5
4

2
4

4
,6

8
0

1
,1

2
4

R
e

d
u

ct
io

n
O

n
 t

a
rg

e
t

G
1

,2
1

1
�

7
.2

%

1
1

T
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
se

ri
o

u
s 

y
o

u
th

 v
io

le
n

ce
 o

ff
e

n
ce

s
2

3
6

1
4

5
3

1
R

e
d

u
ct

io
n

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
G

4
2

�
2

6
.2

%

1
2

T
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
re

si
d

e
n

ti
a

l 
b

u
rg

la
ri

e
s

1
7

1
0

1
,8

3
5

4
0

1
R

e
d

u
ct

io
n

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
G

4
0

6
�

1
.2

5
%

1
3

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 u
p

ta
k

e
 o

f 
M

M
R

 v
a

cc
in

a
ti

o
n

 (
2

 d
o

se
s)

 a
t 

5
 y

e
a

rs
 o

ld
8

1
.9

6
%

8
5

.5
%

D
a

ta
 n

o
t 

y
e

t 

p
u

b
li

sh
e

d
9

5
%

n
/a

n
/a

8
5

.5
3

%
n

/a
n

/a
8

0
.4

%
8

8
.0

%

1
4

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 u
p

ta
k

e
 o

f 
D

T
a

P
/I

P
V

 v
a

cc
in

a
ti

o
n

 a
t 

a
g

e
 5

8
2

.6
5

%
8

6
.4

%
D

a
ta

 n
o

t 
y

e
t 

p
u

b
li

sh
e

d
9

5
%

n
/a

n
/a

8
5

.3
2

%
n

/a
n

/a
7

9
.8

%
8

9
.0

%

1
5

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

su
cc

e
ss

fu
l 

sm
o

k
in

g
 q

u
it

te
rs

 a
g

e
d

 1
6

 a
n

d
 o

v
e

r 
1

2
4

2
1

,4
8

0
2

0
0

(p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l)

1
,4

7
5

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
G

1
5

5
�

2
9

%
1

2
1

3
9

4
4

1
6

T
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
le

is
u

re
 c

e
n

tr
e

 v
is

it
s

9
9

3
,0

3
9

1
,1

0
1

,5
6

5
3

0
6

,9
0

7
1

,1
0

5
,0

0
0

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
G

2
7

8
,6

2
0

�
1

0
%

1
7

T
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
A

ct
iv

e
 A

g
e

 (
o

v
e

r 
6

0
's

) 
le

is
u

re
 m

e
m

b
e

rs
h

ip
s

3
,1

2
3

3
,2

4
5

3
,2

4
5

3
,8

0
0

O
ff

 t
a

rg
e

t
R

2
9

1
2

�
1

1
%

1
8

T
h

e
 p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n

 o
f 

sp
e

n
d

 o
n

 c
a

re
 a

n
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 i
n

 t
h

e
 h

o
m

e
 v

ia
 d

ir
e

ct
 

p
a

y
m

e
n

ts
5

1
.6

%
4

9
.0

7
%

6
1

.3
%

>
 5

0
%

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
G

4
0

.6
3

%
�

2
0

.7
%

1
9

T
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 w
it

h
 a

 D
e

la
y

e
d

 T
ra

n
sf

e
rs

 o
f 

C
a

re
 t

h
a

t 
a

re
 t

h
e

 

fa
u

lt
 o

f 
a

d
u

lt
 s

o
ci

a
l 

ca
re

 (
p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
)

4
.2

9
2

.3
8

0
.7

5
<

 3
.3

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
G

4
.1

�
8

2
%

n
/a

3
.3

2
0

A
v

e
ra

g
e

 t
im

e
 t

a
k

e
 t

o
 r

e
-l

e
t 

lo
ca

l 
a

u
th

o
ri

ty
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 (

ca
le

n
d

a
r 

d
a

y
s)

2
9

 d
a

y
s

4
3

 d
a

y
s

6
3

.3
3

 d
a

y
s

3
0

 d
a

y
s

O
ff

 t
a

rg
e

t
R

3
1

 d
a

y
s

�
1

0
4

%

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

ce
 2

0
1

3
/1

4
 -

 Q
u

a
rt

e
r 

1
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

ce

R
e

f.
 

N
o

.
K

e
y

 P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 M
e

a
su

re

C
u

rr
e

n
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 
P

ro
g

re
ss

 

a
g

a
in

st
 T

a
rg

e
t

T
a

rg
e

t 

R
A

G

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 

th
is

 t
im

e
 l

a
st

 

y
e

a
r

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 

im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
/ 

d
e

cl
in

e

B
e

n
ch

m
a

rk
in

g
2

0
1

3
/1

4
 

T
a

rg
e

t

E
n

su
re

 e
v

e
ry

 c
h

il
d

 i
s 

v
a

lu
e

d
 s

o
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
y

 c
a

n
 s

u
cc

e
e

d

R
e

d
u

ce
d

 c
ri

m
e

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 f
e

a
r 

o
f 

cr
im

e

C
re

a
ti

n
g

 t
h

ri
v

in
g

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s 
b

y
 m

a
in

ta
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 i

n
v

e
st

in
g

 i
n

 n
e

w
 a

n
d

 h
ig

h
 q

u
a

li
ty

 h
o

m
e

s

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Im
p

ro
v

e
 h

e
a

lt
h

 a
n

d
 w

e
ll

b
e

in
g

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 a
ll

 s
ta

g
e

s 
o

f 
li

fe

T
o

 b
e

 c
o

n
fi

rm
e

d

D
a

ta
 n

o
t 

a
v
a

il
a

b
le

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

T
o

 b
e

 c
o

n
fi

rm
e

d

D
a

ta
 n

o
t 

a
v
a

il
a

b
le

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

N
e

w
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
d

e
fi

n
it

io
n

 f
o

r 

2
0

1
3

/1
4

D
a

ta
 n

o
t 

a
v
a

il
a

b
le

Page 51



H
is

to
ri

ca
l 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

La
st

 Y
e

a
r'

s 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

2
0

1
1

/1
2

 

R
e

su
lt

 

E
n

d
 o

f 
Y

e
a

r 

2
0

1
2

/1
3

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
1

3
/1

4
Lo

n
d

o
n

 

A
v

e
ra

g
e

 

N
a

ti
o

n
a

l 

A
v

e
ra

g
e

 

R
e

f.
 

N
o

.
K

e
y

 P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 M
e

a
su

re

C
u

rr
e

n
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 
P

ro
g

re
ss

 

a
g

a
in

st
 T

a
rg

e
t

T
a

rg
e

t 

R
A

G

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

 

th
is

 t
im

e
 l

a
st

 

y
e

a
r

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 

im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
/ 

d
e

cl
in

e

B
e

n
ch

m
a

rk
in

g
2

0
1

3
/1

4
 

T
a

rg
e

t

2
1

T
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
h

o
m

e
le

ss
 a

p
p

li
ca

ti
o

n
s 

a
cc

e
p

te
d

2
4

6
6

6
4

2
2

8
4

8
n

/a
n

/a
3

5
9

.4
n

/a

2
2

T
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s 
li

v
in

g
 i

n
 t

e
m

p
o

ra
ry

 a
cc

o
m

m
o

d
a

ti
o

n
1

1
5

5
1

1
8

8
1

2
4

7
N

o
t 

se
t

n
/a

n
/a

1
1

7
2

n
/a

n
/a

1
1

8
9

n
/a

2
3

T
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
e

m
p

ty
 d

w
e

ll
in

g
s 

re
tu

rn
e

d
 t

o
 u

se
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 G

LA
 f

u
n

d
in

g
N

e
w

 P
I 

fo
r 

2
0

1
3

/1
4

N
e

w
 P

I 
fo

r 

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
6

0
 

b
y
 2

0
1

4
/1

5
O

ff
 t

a
rg

e
t

R
n

/a
n

/a
n

/a

2
4

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
e

co
n

o
m

ic
a

ll
y

 a
ct

iv
e

 p
e

o
p

le
 i

n
 e

m
p

lo
y

m
e

n
t

6
4

.3
%

6
2

.9
%

D
a

ta
 n

o
t 

y
e

t 

p
u

b
li

sh
e

d

2
%

-3
%

 g
a

p
 

w
it

h
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 

a
v
e

ra
g

e

O
ff

 t
a

rg
e

t
R

6
4

.9
%

n
/a

n
/a

6
9

.5
%

7
0

.9
%

2
5

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 
T

a
x
 c

o
ll

e
ct

e
d

9
4

.1
%

9
4

.6
%

2
9

.4
0

%
9

3
.5

%
O

n
 t

a
rg

e
t

G
2

9
.4

%
�

0
%

9
6

.4
3

%
9

7
.3

7
%

2
6

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
re

n
t 

co
ll

e
ct

e
d

9
5

.5
%

9
6

.9
5

%
9

7
.4

9
%

9
6

.5
%

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
G

9
7

.1
8

%
�

0
.3

%

2
7

T
h

e
 t

im
e

 t
a

k
e

n
 t

o
 p

ro
ce

ss
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 B

e
n

e
fi

t 
/ 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 

T
a

x
 b

e
n

e
fi

t 
n

e
w

 

cl
a

im
s

2
0

.0
5

 d
a

y
s

2
3

 d
a

y
s

2
8

 d
a

y
s

(p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l)

2
7

 d
a

y
s

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
A

1
8

.3
1

 d
a

y
s

�
5

3
%

2
5

 d
a

y
s

2
4

 d
a

y
s

2
8

T
h

e
 t

im
e

 t
a

k
e

n
 t

o
 p

ro
ce

ss
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 B

e
n

e
fi

t 
/ 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 

T
a

x
 b

e
n

e
fi

t 
ch

a
n

g
e

 

e
v

e
n

ts
1

3
.7

 d
a

y
s

2
1

 d
a

y
s

1
6

 d
a

y
s

(p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l)

1
5

 d
a

y
s

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
A

2
0

.3
8

 d
a

y
s

�
2

1
.5

%
1

2
 d

a
y
s

1
1

 d
a

y
s

2
9

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
la

n
d

 t
h

a
t 

h
a

s 
u

n
a

cc
e

p
ta

b
le

 l
e

v
e

ls
 o

f 
li

tt
e

r
7

%
4

%
N

o
t 

y
e

t 
a

v
a

il
a

b
le

7
%

n
/a

n
/a

6
%

n
/a

n
/a

3
0

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

 w
a

st
e

 t
h

a
t 

is
 r

e
cy

cl
e

d
 o

r 
co

m
p

o
st

e
d

2
9

.4
9

%
2

6
.3

8
%

2
8

.8
4

%
3

1
%

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
A

2
9

.9
2

%
�

1
.0

8
%

3
1

T
h

e
 a

v
e

ra
g

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
d

a
y

s 
lo

st
 d

u
e

 t
o

 s
ic

k
n

e
ss

 a
b

se
n

ce
9

.0
6

 d
a

y
s

9
.7

6
  
d

a
y

s
8

.7
0

 d
a

y
s

8
 d

a
y
s

b
y
 S

e
p

t 
2

0
1

4
O

n
 t

a
rg

e
t

A
9

.0
4

 d
a

y
s

�
4

%

3
2

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
S

ta
g

e
 1

 c
o

m
p

la
in

ts
 r

e
sp

o
n

d
e

d
 t

o
 w

it
h

in
 d

e
a

d
li

n
e

6
0

%
7

6
%

6
7

%
8

0
%

O
ff

 t
a

rg
e

t
R

7
3

%
�

6
%

3
3

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
S

ta
g

e
 2

 c
o

m
p

la
in

ts
 r

e
sp

o
n

d
e

d
 t

o
 w

it
h

in
 d

e
a

d
li

n
e

5
8

%
6

4
%

4
9

%
8

0
%

O
ff

 t
a

rg
e

t
R

7
0

%
�

2
1

%

3
4

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
S

ta
g

e
 3

 c
o

m
p

la
in

ts
 r

e
sp

o
n

d
e

d
 t

o
 w

it
h

in
 d

e
a

d
li

n
e

7
1

%
8

4
%

6
7

%
8

0
%

O
ff

 t
a

rg
e

t
R

9
0

%
�

2
3

%

3
5

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
m

e
m

b
e

r 
e

n
q

u
ir

ie
s 

re
sp

o
n

d
e

d
 t

o
 w

it
h

in
 d

e
a

d
li

n
e

8
2

%
8

2
%

8
7

%
8

0
%

E
xc

e
e

d
in

g
 

ta
rg

e
t

G
8

0
%

�
7

%

3
6

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
e

m
p

lo
y

e
e

s 
w

h
o

 w
o

u
ld

 r
e

co
m

m
e

n
d

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
a

s 
a

 

g
o

o
d

 e
m

p
lo

y
e

r

4
4

.5
%

(F
e

b
 2

0
1

2
)

4
8

.6
%

(J
a

n
 1

3
)

5
8

.7
%

(M
a

y
 1

3
)

T
a

rg
e

t 
n

o
t 

se
t

n
/a

n
/a

4
4

.5
%

(F
e

b
 1

2
)

�
1

4
%

3
7

T
h

e
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
re

v
e

n
u

e
 b

u
d

g
e

t 
a

cc
o

u
n

t 
p

o
si

ti
o

n
 (

o
v

e
r 

a
n

d
 u

n
d

e
r 

sp
e

n
d

)
£

2
m

 

u
n

d
e

r 
sp

e
n

d

£
3

.1
1

m
 u

n
d

e
r 

sp
e

n
d

£
6

.2
3

4
m

u
n

d
e

r 
sp

e
n

d

(i
n

cl
. 

£
5

.2
m

 

su
rp

lu
s)

B
a

la
n

ce
d

 

b
u

d
g

e
t 

w
it

h
 

a
d

d
it

io
n

a
l 

£
5

.2
m

 g
e

n
e

ra
l 

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t
G

£
0

.9
5

m
 

o
v
e

r 
sp

e
n

d
�

5
5

6
%

3
8

T
h

e
 p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
th

e
 p

la
n

n
e

d
 i

n
 y

e
a

r 
ca

p
it

a
l 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 d

e
li

v
e

re
d

 i
n

 

y
e

a
r

D
a

ta
 t

o
 b

e
 

co
n

fi
rm

e
d

7
8

%
 d

e
li

v
e

re
d

F
o

re
ca

st
 o

f 
1

0
0

%
1

0
0

%
O

n
 t

a
rg

e
t

G
9

9
%

�
1

%
Lo

ca
l 
m

e
a

su
re

M
a

x
im

is
e

 g
ro

w
th

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

a
n

d
 i

n
cr

e
a

se
 t

h
e

 h
o

u
se

h
o

ld
 i

n
co

m
e

 o
f 

B
o

ro
u

g
h

 r
e

si
d

e
n

ts

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

A
 w

e
ll

 r
u

n
 o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti

o
n

N
o

t 
a

p
p

li
ca

b
le

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

D
a

ta
 n

o
t 

a
v
a

il
a

b
le

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Lo
ca

l 
m

e
a

su
re

Page 52



CABINET 
 

24 September 2013 
 

Title: Second Local Implementation Plan 2014/15 - 2016/17 Delivery and Monitoring Plan 
and Borough Cycling Programme 2013/14 - 2016/17 
 

Report of the Cabinet Members for Regeneration and Environment 
 

Open Report For Decision  
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Key Decision: Yes 

Report Author: Tim Martin – Transport Planning & 
Policy Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0208 227 3939 
E-mail: timothy.martin@lbbd.gov.uk 
 

Accountable Divisional Director: Jeremy Grint, Divisional Director Regeneration 
 

Accountable Director: Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 
 

Summary 
 
The LB Barking & Dagenham second Local Implementation Plan (LIP2) is the borough’s 
transport strategy and Delivery Plan for improvements to the transport network in the 
borough for the 3-year period 2011/12 - 2013/14. It was approved by Cabinet on 23 
November 2010 and the Mayor of London in July 2011 (Minute 63 refers). 
 
Along with every local authority in London, the Council is required to prepare a new LIP2 
Delivery and Monitoring Plan in 2013 for the period 2014/15 – 2016/17, and update interim 
targets to cover the same period. The Council has been allocated circa £2.3 million for 
2014/15 and an indicative £4.35 million for the period 2015/16 – 2016/17. 
 
The draft 3 year Delivery Plan is provided in Appendix 1. This includes funding towards, 
Barking Station improvements/Dagenham East Station lifts, Renwick Road/Choats Road 
safety improvements ahead of Riverview School opening in September 2015, Ballards 
Road/New Road junction improvements, Barking Town Centre public realm improvements, 
Gale Street/Becontree Station safety, accessibility and shopping parade improvements, 
A12/Whalebone Lane/Rose Lane junction improvements, DIY Streets project in 
Dagenham, a road safety improvement fund and a range of Smarter Travel initiatives. 
 
This report also outlines the Council’s proposed application for funding under the Mayor’s 
Borough Cycling Programme for the period 2013/14 – 2016/17. This is provided in 
Appendix 2. 
 
Feedback from the 16 September 2013 Safer and Stronger Community Select Committee 
(SSCSC) meeting will also be provided to the Cabinet. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 6

Page 53



 

Recommendation(s) 
 
The Cabinet is asked to recommend the Assembly to approve: 
 
(i) the 2014/15 - 2016/17 LIP Delivery and Monitoring Plan submission to Transport for 

London, as set out at Appendix 1 to the report; and 
 

(ii) the 2013/14 - 2016/17 Borough Cycling Programme application to Transport for 
London, as set out at Appendix 2 to the report. 
 

Reason(s) 
 
To assist delivery of the community and council’s vision ‘Encourage Growth and unlock the 
potential of Barking and Dagenham and its residents’ and its priorities, in particular: 

• Ensure every child is valued so that they can succeed; 

• Reduced crime and the fear of crime; 

• Improve health and wellbeing through all stages of life; 

• Create thriving communities by maintaining and investing in new and high quality 
homes; 

• Maximise growth opportunities and increase the household income of Borough 
residents. 

 

 
 
1. Introduction and Background  
 
1.1 The Barking and Dagenham second Local Implementation Plan (LIP2) was 

approved by 23 November 2010 Cabinet and the Mayor of London in July 2011, 
(Minute 63 refers). This is the Council’s strategy to achieve a safe, sustainable and 
accessible transport system for the benefit of all those living and working in Barking 
and Dagenham. A key component of the LIP is a 3-year Delivery Plan for the period 
2011/12 – 2013/14 and a series of targets to measure progress towards the LIP 
objectives. As part of the ongoing development of the plan, the Council is required 
to produce a new LIP Delivery Plan for the period 2014/15 – 2016/17 and update 
interim targets for the same period.  

 

1.2 As part of plans for around £1 billion investment in cycling in the capital, the Mayor 
of London has published a Vision for Cycling with the aim of establishing a tube 
network for the bike, safer streets for the bike, more people travelling by bike and 
better places for everyone. A central part to this vision is the Borough Cycling 
Programme, which identifies the resources available to boroughs to increase the 
number of people cycling whilst improving conditions for cyclists. The Council is 
invited to submit an application for funding under this programme for the period 
2013/14 – 2016/17. 

 
 

Page 54



2. Proposal and Issues  
 
 LIP Delivery and Monitoring Plan – 2014/15 – 2016/17  
 
2.1 Each year, the Council is allocated LIP funding by Transport for London (TfL) for 

transport projects. This funding is split into three categories: 
 

1. Maintenance; 
2. Corridors, neighbourhoods and supporting measures 
3. Local transport fund of £100,000. 
 
This report suggests how this funding should be spent (the programme of investment) 
for the second Local Implementation Plan period 2014/15 – 2016/17. The 
programme, which includes a range of transport improvement schemes (including 
road safety, traffic management, highways maintenance, cycling and walking and 
travel awareness schemes), has been developed to meet the Council’s LIP objectives 
and address the various transport problems facing the borough. The report also 
details the LIP monitoring arrangements over the same period and outlines the 
proposed interim LIP targets for the five mandatory indicators set by TfL relating to 
mode share, bus service reliability, asset condition, road traffic casualties and CO2 
emissions. 

 
LIP Funding Allocation 

 
2.2 The total LIP budget for London for the period 2014/15 – 2016/17 is currently £445 

million1, of which the Council has been allocated circa £2.3 million for 2014/15 and an 
indicative £4.35 million for the period 2015/16 – 2016/17. The breakdown of the 
funding allocation for Barking & Dagenham is set out below: 

  

Funding Programme 
 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Principal Road Maintenance 
 

£705,000* £569,000 £569,000 

Corridors, Neighbourhoods and 
Supporting Measures 
(Includes schemes for Bus Priority/Bus Stop 
Accessibility; Cycling; Walking; Local Safety 
Schemes; 20mph Zones; Freight; 
Regeneration; Environment; Accessibility; 
CPZs; Schoo/Workplace Travel Plans; Travel 
Awareness; Education, Training & Publicity)  

 

£1,509,000 £1,509,000 £1,509,000 

Local Transport Funding 
(Funding for small scale schemes of the 
Borough’s choice and to undertake future 
scheme feasibility work) 
 

£100,000 £100,000 £100,000 

Bridge Assessment/Strengthening 
 

Subject to 
application 
£8.3m 
available 
pan London 
 

Subject to 
application 
£8.6m 
available 
pan London 
 

Subject to 
application 
£8.9m 
available 
pan London 
 

                                            
1
 Subject to Government settlement to TfL for 2015/16 and beyond.  

Page 55



Funding Programme 
 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Major Schemes 
(Large schemes with value above £1m. 
Emphasis on delivering ‘transformational’ 
projects) 

 

Subject to 
application 
£28m 
available 
pan London 
 

Subject to 
application 
£28m 
available 
pan London 
 

Subject to 
application 
£28m 
available 
pan London 
 

Traffic Signal Modernisation 
(Boroughs to avoid new signals where possible 
– if new signals are required consideration to 
be given to removing poorly used signals) 

Subject to 
application 
£12.7m 
available 
pan London 
 

Subject to 
application 
£13.8m 
available 
pan London 
 

Subject to 
application 
£10.3m 
available 
pan London 
 

TOTAL 
 

£2,314,000 £2,178,000 £2,178,000 

* Borough has been allocated additional £136,000 in 2014/15 on top of original allocation of 
£569,000 as part of the £10.836m DfT allocation to London for additional highway maintenance. 

 
 Key Priorities 
 
2.3  The focus for the 2014/15 – 2016/17 Delivery Plan is the implementation of a small 

number of comprehensive corridor/neighbourhood schemes, which will deliver 
multiple objectives and lead to economies of scale/less disruption; individual ‘stand-
alone’ schemes, which address a particular issue/problem that has been identified; 
investigative studies to explore emerging issues and inform potential future schemes; 
maintenance schemes; and a range of supporting measures, including education and 
training schemes. A number of priorities/opportunities have been identified which form 
the basis of the three-year delivery programme. They include: 

 
• Barking Station improvements/Dagenham East Station lifts - contribution to 

operator development costs (subject to franchise timings/TfL investment plan); 
• Renwick Road/Choats Road safety improvements – road safety improvements 

ahead of Riverview School opening in September 2015; 
• Ballards Road/New Road junction improvements –safety/congestion improvements 

to busy junction which is an identified accident hotspot; 
• Barking Town Centre public realm improvements – includes highways/ 

environmental improvements at several key sites; 
• Gale Street/Becontree Station - safety/accessibility improvements and shopping 

parade improvements; 
• A12/Whalebone Lane/Rose Lane junction improvements – to address local 

safety/congestion problems;  
• DIY Streets project – building on successful Sustrans project underway in 

Becontree, look to expand community lead area improvement scheme to a 
neighbourhood in Dagenham;  

• Road safety improvements at accident hotspots - emphasis on improving 
conditions for vulnerable road users, including cyclists/pedestrians and areas 
around schools; and 

• Range of Smarter Travel initiatives - including continuation of successful cycle 
training scheme, road safety education initiatives, school travel plans and travel 
awareness promotions. 

 

Page 56



LIP Programme of Investment  
 
2.4 A summary of the schemes that the Council is proposing under the Corridor, 

Neighbourhood and Supporting Measures programmes for 2014/15 – 2016/17 is set 
out below. A more detailed programme is included in Appendix 1. For each scheme 
an indication of costs and the measures proposed are given. It is considered that the 
measures proposed will help deliver the Council’s LIP objectives whilst also being 
consistent with the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) and a range of other national, 
regional, sub-regional and local plans and policies.   

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2.5 The three-year LIP programme is sufficiently flexible to allow for schemes to be 

brought forward/put back, or for projects to be changed altogether, to cater for 
changing priorities, reduced funding levels or where identified schemes cannot 
physically be implemented.  
 
Maintenance Programme 
 

2.6 Borough funding for principal road maintenance is based on an assessment of need 
taken from road condition surveys. On that basis, Barking and Dagenham has been 
allocated £705,000 in 2014/15 for such schemes, and an indicative £569,000 in 
both 2015/16 and 2016/17. The Borough has been allocated an additional £136,000 
in 2014/15 on top of original allocation of £569,000 as part of the £10.836m 
Department for Transport (DfT) allocation to London for additional highway 
maintenance.  

 
2.7 The Council is required to identify proposals for principal road maintenance, 

including details of the priorities and criteria that will be used to identify proposed 
areas of spend, within the LIP Delivery Plan. The exact schemes to be taken 
forward are still to be confirmed, but the key priorities include: 

 
• A1306 New Road 
• Abbey Road 
• Longbridge Road (UEL) 

 2014/15  2015/16  2016/17  

Barking Station/Dagenham East Station 
Improvements 

-  -  £900,000  

Renwick Road/Choats Road Safety 
Improvements 

£750,000  -  -  

Ballards Road/New Road Junction  £100,000  £400,000  -  

Barking Town Centre Improvements  £250,000  £250,000  -  

Gale Street Safety/Accessibility Measures -  £50,000  £300,000  

A12/Whalebone Junction Improvements £50,000  £250,000  -  

DIY Streets Project – Dagenham £50,000  £250,000  -  

Road Safety Improvements Fund £200,000  £200,000  £200,000  

Safer/Smarter Travel Programme £109,000  £109,000  £109,000  

TOTAL: £1,509,000  £1,509,000  £1,509,000  

Page 57



 
2.8 Funding for bridge assessment and strengthening schemes is allocated to boroughs 

on a priority basis based on the relative condition of bridges/structures. £8.3 million 
is available across London in 2014/15, rising to an indicative £8.6m in 2015/16 and 
£8.9m in 2016/17. Work to identify those structures in the borough most in need of 
repair is currently underway as part of the work to produce the Council’s Highways 
Asset Management Plan (HAMP).  

 
 LIP Monitoring/Targets 
 
2.9 The Council is required to update the interim LIP targets for the five mandatory 

indicators relating to mode share, bus service reliability, asset condition, road traffic 
casualties and CO2 emissions, to cover the period to 2016/17. The new interim 
targets need to be ambitious, but realistic, given the indicative funding levels 
available and based on a scenario which assumes no other TfL funding beyond that 
already committed. Details of these targets are set out in Appendix 3 of this report. 

 
 Borough Cycling Programme 2013/14 – 2016/17 
 
2.11 The Borough Cycling Programme is a £60 million 10 year programme focusing on 

encouraging more people across the capital to cycle by improving cycle facilities 
and making roads safer for cyclists. It forms a key component of the Mayor of 
London’s Vision for cycling in London. This report outlines the Council’s proposed 
application for funding under this programme for the period 2013/14 – 2016/17. 

 
2.12 Around £60m has been earmarked for the Borough Cycle Programme over the 

current 10 year TfL Business Plan period, with £23m available to boroughs for the 
4-year period to 2016/17 (each borough can bid for up to £1.03m of funding during 
this period). Funding is available for a number of programmes, including ‘safer 
streets for the bike’; ‘more people travelling by bike’; and ‘support for cycling’. 
Details of what the Council can bid for are set out in the table below. Details of the 
Council’s proposed submission to TfL are set out in Appendix 2.  

  

Funding Programme 
 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Safer streets for the bike – improving the perception and reality of cycle safety. 

 
Cycle training for adults and children 
(Bikeability cycle training) 
 

- £59,000 £59,000 £68,000 

Safer lorries and vans 
(Promotion of Freight Operator Recognition 
Scheme and application of Construction 
Logistic Plans) 
 

CPC Safer Urban Driver Training 
(Courses for internal/contractor fleet drivers) 
 

More people travelling by bike – enabling a wider range of people to shift to cycling or 
cycle more. 

 
Cycle to school partnerships 
(Partnership pilots to deliver infrastructure 

- £190,000 £225,000 £225,000 

Page 58



Funding Programme 
 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

improvements; ‘Bike It Plus’ community 
cycling projects; cycle grants for schools) 
  

Cycle parking 
(Including on-street, residential and station 
cycle parking facilities) 
 

Support for cycling – helping boroughs deliver the Cycling Vision. 

 
Monitoring 
(Measuring impacts of cycling, including 
cycle counts, impact/outcome monitoring) 
  

£13,000 £66,000 £66,000 £66,000 
Staffing 
(Funding for 1 full-time officer) 
 

Borough cycling strategies 
(Development of comprehensive/ integrated 
local strategy) 
  

TOTAL FUNDING AVAILABLE: 
 

£13,000 £315,000 £350,000 £359,000 

 
2.13 To enable boroughs to kick-start the Borough Cycling Programme, TfL has made 

additional funding available for a number of projects in 2013/14, including £600,000 
for cycle training; £1.5m for cycle parking; £1.7m for school cycle partnerships/’Bike 
It Plus’ and cycle grants for schools; and £330,000 towards a community cycling 
fund. To date, the Council has successfully bid for £50,000 towards providing cycle 
training and new cycle parking facilities.     

 
3. Options Appraisal  
 
3.1 The Council is required by TfL to develop a LIP Delivery and Monitoring Plan, 

incorporating a three-year programme of investment, and an update of the interim 
LIP targets to cover the period to 2016/17. The programme and targets have been 
developed following careful analysis of the key transport issues and opportunities 
facing the borough. 

 
Policy Context 

 
3.2 Whilst the focus of the three-year delivery programme is to address local transport 

objectives as set out in the Local Implementation Plan, the programme is also 
designed to help deliver the objectives of the Mayor of London’s Transport Strategy 
(MTS). Similarly, the Borough Cycling Programme is designed to meet the aspirations 
of the Mayor’s Vision for cycling in London, as well as increasing levels of cycling and 
improving conditions for cyclists in Barking and Dagenham.   

 
3.3 The LIP Delivery and Monitoring Plan and the Borough Cycling Programme are also 

required to be broadly consistent with a range of other national, regional and local 
plans and strategies. They include the work of the Mayor’s Roads Taskforce and the 
Mayor’s Road Safety Action Plan at the pan-London level; the updated East London 
Sub Regional Transport Plan at the sub-regional level; and the Community Strategy, 

Page 59



Economic Regeneration Strategy, Children and Young People’s Plan, Community 
Safety Partnership Plan and Health and Wellbeing Strategy at the local level.  

 
4. Consultation  
 
4.1 Ongoing engagement with a diverse range of stakeholders continues to inform the 

planning and implementation of our transport schemes and programmes. A wide-
range of consultation, participation and partnership working has been central to the 
development of the 2014/15 – 2016/17 LIP Delivery Programme and the Borough 
Cycling Programme, including London Buses, London Underground, Department for 
Transport, Rail Operators, and colleagues across the Council. 

 
5. Financial Implications  
 
 Implications completed by: Carl Tomlinson, Finance Group Manager 
 
5.1 The annual funding available for the LIP and Borough Cycling programme’s three 

year period is circa £2.6m in 2014/15 and £2.5m in both 2015/16 and 2016/17. The 
exact amount of funding for 2015/16 and beyond is, however, subject to 
confirmation following the actual Government settlement for TfL. These figures are 
broadly in line with the level of funding the Authority has received from TfL in both 
2012/13 and 2013/14. The funding will continue to be claimed from TfL periodically 
during the year in line with actual level of spending against each scheme. 

 
5.2 It is anticipated that the full programme of works will be carried out within the 

allocated funding and there will be no impact on the Authority’s internally funded 
capital programme or level of borrowing. Some of the proposed projects will be 
treated as revenue expenditure as, rather than enhancing the highways 
infrastructure, they relate to training, publicity or the staging of events. There will be 
no impact on existing revenue budgets. 

 
5.3 Paragraph 7.2 refers to the fact that the London Highway Alliance framework Contracts 

(LoHAC) is Transport for London’s preferred option for the delivery of LIP funded 
highway schemes. From 2014/15 onwards, the LIP financial assistance will be limited 
up to the amount that the scheme would have cost if it had been undertaken via 
LoHAC, or the full cost under the authorities chosen route where this is a lower 
amount. 

 
5.4 For the delivery of LIP schemes in the future, the Authority would be looking to 

continue with the existing contractor arrangements for a further 2.5 years. A 
comparison between these rates and those used by LoHAC has been recently 
undertaken by the Capital Delivery Team and this shows the Authority’s current 
contract rates to be the lower. There are, therefore, no significant financial implications 
in connection with this issue.   

  
5.5 Whilst it is likely that there will be some ongoing revenue implications associated with the 

programme (e.g. infrastructure maintenance costs), these are difficult to quantify as it is 
not clear what specific measures, if any, will be necessary. The cost of ongoing 
maintenance will be met through the existing highway maintenance programme budget 
with additional external funding sought where possible. 

 

Page 60



5.6 The revenue cost of monitoring the LIP targets and mandatory indicators will continue 
to be met from existing Regeneration and Economic Development budgets. 

 
6. Legal Implications  
 

Implications completed by: Paul Feild, Senior Governance Lawyer 
 
6.1 The Council is required under Section 146 of the Greater London Authority Act 

1999(‘the GLA Act’) to submit its Local Implementation Plans to the Mayor of 
London for his approval. These plans must include a timetable for implementing its 
proposals and a date by which all the proposals are delivered.  

 
6.2 In preparing a Local Implementation Plan the Council must have regard to the 

Mayor’s Transport Strategy. The Mayor will take into consideration whether the 
Plans is consistent with the Transport Strategy and the proposals and timetable are 
adequate for the implementation. The Council’s submission to the Mayor will consist 
of the version of the plans agreed by the Cabinet. 

 
7. Other Implications 
 
7.1 Risk Management – Failure to develop a 3-year LIP funding programme could 

result in the Council’s funding allocation for the period 2014/15 - 2016/17 being 
withdrawn and the Council having to bare the full costs of any planned transport 
schemes. In addition, not submitting an application for funding under the Borough 
Cycling Programme could result in under-investment in much need cycling 
infrastructure/training which in turn could impact on the Council’s ability to meet its 
LIP targets (e.g. increasing the mode share of cycling; reducing the number of cycle 
casualties). For both programmes, a number of the proposed schemes will require 
further investigation/detailed design work to be carried out before they can be 
progressed, to ensure all potential risks are properly mitigated.  

 
7.2. Contractual Issues - The London Highway Alliance framework Contracts (LoHAC) 

commenced on 1 April 2013. This is Transport for London’s preferred option for the 
delivery of LIP funded highway schemes – Corridor, Neighbour and Supporting 
measures programmes and maintenance programmes. During 2013 TfL will use the 
LoHAC schedule of rates to provide boroughs with comparisons of the costs of 
delivering works via LoHAC in comparison with their local contractors. Then from 
2014/15 onwards, the LIP financial assistance will be limited up to the amount that 
the scheme would have cost if it had been undertaken via LoHAC, or the full cost 
under the authorities chosen route where this is a lower amount. Ringway Jacobs is 
the contractor for the North East region which includes Barking and Dagenham. 

 
TfL will give consideration to the following matters in determining whether there is 
justification for undertaking a scheme at a higher cost than that achievable under 
LoHAC and where the higher cost may be met: 
 

• Health and Safety (including the safety of the travelling public in respect of 
vehicle operations, work sites, etc.); 

• Employment practices, opportunities, skills, training and pay; 

• Requirements for particular capabilities that are not covered by the LoHAC 
contracts; 

Page 61



• Procurement, supplier and payment practices (including environmental and 
responsible procurement). 

 
 TfL doesn’t expect LoHAC to be used where this would produce a material 

contractual breach by boroughs under their existing contracts. For example where 
boroughs have in their existing contracts (let prior to LoHAC start 1/4/2013) an 
exclusivity agreement that would preclude them from procuring works from another 
supplier for that particular activity. The Legal Practice will be consulted in entering 
into terms and conditions with suppliers in relation to such procurement. 

 
7.3 Customer Impact - The schemes in the LIP Programme and the Borough Cycling 

Programme will assist in the delivery of all the Community Strategy priorities and 
therefore have a positive impact on those who use transport in the borough. In 
addition, the LIP has been subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA), and it 
is considered that the measures proposed within it would not impact adversely on 
the various equality groups. Where LIP or Borough Cycling Programme works are 
planned at a similar location to planned Highways Investment Programme works, 
wherever possible, a coordinated approach will be taken so that local disruption can 
be kept to a minimum. 

 
7.4 Safeguarding Children – The LIP Programme and the Borough Cycling 

Programme include schemes to improve road safety both through highway safety 
measures and also through initiatives such as cycle training. 

 
7.5 Health Issues – It is widely acknowledged that cycling is one of the best ways for 

people to achieve good health and fitness. The promotion and enabling of cycling in 
Barking and Dagenham is a key component of our joint health and wellbeing 
strategy. People who cycle regularly live longer than those who do not and lead 
healthier lives. This simple fact means that cyclists cannot possibly be more 
vulnerable than the population at large to life-threatening injuries such as head 
injury. 
 
Indeed, cycling regularly to work (and, by extension, to school and on other regular 
journeys) has been shown to be the most effective thing an individual can do to 
improve health and increase longevity, and this applies even to people who are 
already active in sport and other physical activities. Cyclists typically have a level of 
fitness equivalent to being 10 years younger. A UK parliamentary health committee 
has noted: 
 

“If the Government were to achieve its target of trebling cycling in the period 
2000-2010 M that might achieve more in the fight against obesity than any 
individual measure we recommend within this report.” (TSO 2004) 
 

The health benefits of cycling outweigh the risks by a substantial margin. Some 
estimates take account not only of crashes, but also of the effects of air-borne 
pollution. While the pollutant effects are clearly relevant to an analysis of the overall 
health impacts of measures which increase or decrease cycle use, they are not 
relevant to the consideration of the point at which helmet policies are an effective 
intervention to reduce the effects of head injuries. Safe though cycling is by 
comparison with other common activities, it has been shown that cycling becomes 
safer still the more people who do it. 
 

Page 62



Many of the benefits are not unique to cycling but are a consequence of moderate 
physical activity. In several cases, however, cycling enables that benefit to be 
achieved more easily, more widely or more effectively. Cycling has numerous 
advantages that can directly affect quality of life, as it provides benefits both 
physically and emotionally. Regular exercise, taken as an integral part of daily life, 
is needed to permanently enhance the quality of life. More cycling, especially as an 
alternative to motor vehicle travel, would bring substantial health benefits for society 
as a whole due to improved air quality, reduced noise and danger, and greater 
independence for children. 

 
7.6 Crime and Disorder Issues - Personal safety has been highlighted as a concern 

by both users and non-users of the local transport network. The Council is 
addressing these concerns by working with TfL to ensure that roads and footways 
are well maintained and free from obstructions and infrastructure is safe and 
secure. The Crime and Disorder Act requires the Council to have regard to crime 
reduction and prevention in all its strategy development and service delivery.  The 
Council will work with partners to ensure that the infrastructure is delivered with due 
regard to safety and to reducing the fear of crime. 

 
 With more people cycling in the borough, there will be a need to ensure cycling is 

carried out safely and there may well be a call for more CCTV to make cyclists feel 
safe. The Police and Council will need to continue with bike marking, engagement 
with the community, especially young people, regarding general travel safety. 
Increased cycling results in increased use of parks and open spaces, which will 
have a marked impact on community vigilance and feeling safe. 

 
7.7 Property/Asset Issues – The precise nature of some of the LIP schemes is still to 

be determined, however, in general, very little of what is proposed represents ‘new’ 
infrastructure. In many cases, schemes are, in effect, ‘replacements’ for existing 
infrastructure which would otherwise require maintaining. Where new infrastructure 
is required, high quality design, durable products and well engineered schemes 
should ensure that short term maintenance is not required. In most circumstances, 
ongoing maintenance costs will be met through the existing highway maintenance 
programme budgets with additional external funding sought where possible. 

 
 
Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 
 
1. Local Implementation Plan (LIP) 2014/15 to 2016/17 Delivery Plan, Interim Targets 

and Annual Spending Submission Guidance, Transport for London, 2013; 
2. Borough Cycling Programme – Funding Guidance 2013/14 – 2016/17, Transport for 

London, 2013; 
3. LB Barking and Dagenham Second Local Implementation Plan (2011/12 – 2013/14), 

LBBD, 2011. 
 
 
List of appendices: 
 
Appendix 1: LB Barking & Dagenham Second Local Implementation Plan - 2014/15 – 

2016/17 Programme of Investment 
Appendix 2: LB Barking & Dagenham Borough Cycling Programme – 2013/14 – 2016/17 
Appendix 3: LIP Indicators/Targets 

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 1

: 
L

B
 B

a
rk

in
g

 &
 D

a
g

e
n

h
a

m
 S

e
c

o
n

d
 L

o
c

a
l 
Im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 -
 2

0
1
4

/1
5

 –
 2

0
1

6
/1

7
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 o
f 

In
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
  

S
c
h
e
m
e
 N
a
m
e
/ 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 S
u
m
m
a
ry
 

W
a
rd
(s
) 

A
ff
e
c
te
d
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 –
 

2
0
1
4
/1
5
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 –
 

2
0
1
5
/1
6
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 -
 

2
0
1
6
/1
7
 

M
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 –
 I
n
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
: 
 

£
7
0
5
,0
0
0
* 

£
5
6
9
,0
0
0
 

£
5
6
9
,0
0
0
 

P
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
R
o
a
d
 

R
e
s
u
rf
a
c
in
g
 

(V
a
ri
o
u
s
 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

C
a
rr
ia
g
e
w
a
y
 r
e
s
u
rf
a
c
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 a
t 
fo
llo
w
in
g
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 (
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 c
o
n
fi
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
 l
e
v
e
ls
 a
n
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
fu
tu
re
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
):
 

 2
0
1
4
/1
5
: 

•
 
L
o
n
g
b
ri
d
g
e
 R
o
a
d
 (
o
u
ts
id
e
 A
c
a
d
e
m
y
 C
e
n
tr
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t)
 

 2
0
1
5
/1
6
: 

•
 
A
1
3
0
6
 (
ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 B
a
lla
rd
s
 R
o
a
d
) 

 2
0
1
6
/1
7
: 

•
 
A
b
b
e
y
 R
o
a
d
 (
N
o
rt
h
e
rn
 R
e
lie
f 
R
o
a
d
 t
o
 R
e
ta
il 
P
a
rk
) 

 

     B
e
c
o
n
tr
e
e
 

  R
iv
e
r 

  A
b
b
e
y
, 

G
a
s
c
o
ig
n
e
 

 

£
7
0
5
,0
0
0
 

£
5
6
9
,0
0
0
 

£
5
6
9
,0
0
0
 

B
ri
d
g
e
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

S
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
in
g
 

(V
a
ri
o
u
s
 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
) 
 

 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
b
ri
d
g
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
in
g
 w
o
rk
 T
B
C
. 

(W
o
rk
s
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 c
o
n
fi
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
 l
e
v
e
ls
 a
n
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 

o
f 
fu
tu
re
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
).
 

 

T
B
C
 

  

T
B
C
 

T
B
C
 

T
B
C
 

T
O
T
A
L
: 

£
7
0
5
,0
0
0
 

£
5
6
9
,0
0
0
 

£
5
6
9
,0
0
0
 

* 
B

o
ro

u
g
h
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
£
1
3
6
,0

0
0
 i
n
 2

0
1
4
/1

5
 o

n
 t
o
p
 o

f 
o
ri
g
in

a
l 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
£
5
6
9
,0

0
0
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 £

1
0
.8

3
6
m

 D
fT

 a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

L
o
n
d
o
n
 f

o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
h
ig

h
w

a
y
 m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
. 

   

Page 65



S
c
h
e
m
e
 N
a
m
e
/ 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 S
u
m
m
a
ry
 

W
a
rd
(s
) 

A
ff
e
c
te
d
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 –
 

2
0
1
4
/1
5
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 –
 

2
0
1
5
/1
6
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 -
 

2
0
1
6
/1
7
 

C
o
rr
id
o
rs
, 
N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 a
n
d
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 M
e
a
s
u
re
s
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
: 

£
1
,5
0
9
,0
0
0
 

£
1
,5
0
9
,0
0
0
 

£
1
,5
0
9
,0
0
0
 

B
a
rk
in
g
 S
ta
ti
o
n
/ 

D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m
 E
a
s
t 

S
ta
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 c
o
s
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
B
a
rk
in
g
 S
ta
ti
o
n
 

to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 p
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 
s
a
fe
ty
 a
n
d
 r
e
lie
v
e
 

o
v
e
rc
ro
w
d
in
g
. 
A
 k
e
y
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 i
s
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
s
te
p
-f
re
e
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 s
ta
ti
o
n
 c
o
n
c
o
u
rs
e
 a
n
d
 p
la
tf
o
rm

s
. 
T
im
in
g
 

o
f 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
o
n
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 f
ra
n
c
h
is
e
e
 a
n
d
 

w
h
e
th
e
r 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
a
g
re
e
s
 t
o
 f
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
h
ic
h
 

a
re
 a
 “
p
ri
c
e
d
 o
p
ti
o
n
” 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 I
n
v
it
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 T
e
n
d
e
r.
 

 A
s
 a
n
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
b
o
v
e
, 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 w
ill
in
g
 t
o
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
in
s
ta
lli
n
g
 l
if
ts
 a
t 
D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m
 

E
a
s
t 
s
ta
ti
o
n
 a
s
 a
 m

e
a
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
in
g
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
. 
A
w
a
it
in
g
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
T
fL
 s
te
p
-f
re
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
e
a
s
ib
ili
ty
 s
tu
d
y
 d
u
e
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
3
 a
s
 b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
. 

  

A
b
b
e
y
, 

E
a
s
tb
ro
o
k
 

 
- 

£
9
0
0
,0
0
0
 

 

R
e
n
w
ic
k
 R
o
a
d
/ 

C
h
o
a
ts
 R
o
a
d
 

S
a
fe
ty
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
  

In
te
ri
m
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
ro
a
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 

in
 a
d
v
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 o
p
e
n
in
g
 o
f 
R
iv
e
rv
ie
w
 S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
in
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
5
. 
S
p
e
c
if
ic
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 T
B
C
, 
b
u
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 f
o
o
tw
a
y
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
in
c
o
rp
o
ra
ti
n
g
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 

c
ro
s
s
in
g
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
, 
tr
a
ff
ic
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 

in
c
id
e
n
c
e
s
 o
f 
H
G
V
 r
a
t-
ru
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 v
e
h
ic
le
 s
p
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 c
y
c
le
 l
a
n
e
s
 a
n
d
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 

c
y
c
lis
ts
. 

  

T
h
a
m
e
s
 

£
7
5
0
,0
0
0
 

 
-  

-  

B
a
lla
rd
s
 R
o
a
d
/ 

N
e
w
 R
o
a
d
 

J
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

L
a
rg
e
 s
c
a
le
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 l
o
n
g
-

s
ta
n
d
in
g
 r
o
a
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
/c
y
c
lis
t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
S
p
e
c
if
ic
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 T
B
C
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 t
re
a
tm

e
n
ts
, 

n
e
w
 p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
/c
y
c
lis
t 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
, 
p
a
rk
in
g
/l
o
a
d
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 

p
u
b
lic
 r
e
a
lm
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
F
e
a
s
ib
ili
ty
/d
e
s
ig
n
 w
o
rk
 t
o
 b
e
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 2
0
1
4
/1
5
 w
it
h
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 2
0
1
5
/1
6
. 

 

R
iv
e
r 

£
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

 
£
4
0
0
,0
0
0
 

- 

B
a
rk
in
g
 T
o
w
n
 

S
m
a
ll 
s
c
a
le
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
/e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
t 
v
a
ri
o
u
s
 
A
b
b
e
y
, 

£
2
5
0
,0
0
0
 

£
2
5
0
,0
0
0
 

- 

Page 66



S
c
h
e
m
e
 N
a
m
e
/ 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 S
u
m
m
a
ry
 

W
a
rd
(s
) 

A
ff
e
c
te
d
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 –
 

2
0
1
4
/1
5
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 –
 

2
0
1
5
/1
6
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 -
 

2
0
1
6
/1
7
 

C
e
n
tr
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
 

R
o
a
d
/L
in
to
n
 R
o
a
d
, 
A
x
e
 S
tr
e
e
t 
a
n
d
 A
b
b
e
y
 R
o
a
d
. 
W
o
rk
s
 t
o
 b
e
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 T
B
C
, 
b
u
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

p
a
rk
in
g
 s
u
p
p
ly
/ 
c
o
n
tr
o
ls
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
s
; 
ra
n
g
e
 o
f 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 f
o
o
tw
a
y
s
, 
c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
 a
n
d
 b
u
s
 

s
to
p
s
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 f
o
r 
m
o
b
ili
ty
 i
m
p
a
ir
e
d
; 
a
n
d
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 

tr
a
ff
ic
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t/
 s
a
fe
ty
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o
f 

lo
c
a
lis
e
d
 c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
, 
s
p
e
e
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
. 

 

G
a
s
c
o
ig
n
e
 

G
a
le
 S
tr
e
e
t 

C
o
rr
id
o
r 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 

T
h
e
 G
a
le
 S
tr
e
e
t/
 W

o
o
d
w
a
rd
 R
o
a
d
/ 
H
e
d
g
e
m
a
n
s
 R
o
a
d
 A
re
a
 

h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
s
 a
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
w
o
u
ld
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
fr
o
m
 

fu
rt
h
e
r 
p
u
b
lic
 r
e
a
lm
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
w
o
rk
s
. 
It
s
 p
ro
x
im
it
y
 t
o
 

B
e
c
o
n
tr
e
e
 s
ta
ti
o
n
 m
e
a
n
s
 i
t 
h
a
s
 a
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 h
ig
h
 p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
 

fo
o
tf
a
ll.
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
s
e
 s
tr
e
e
ts
 w
o
u
ld
 a
s
s
is
t 
th
e
 p
o
lic
y
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 o
f 
in
te
g
ra
ti
n
g
 n
e
w
/e
x
is
ti
n
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 w
id
e
r 
re
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

a
re
a
. 
K
e
y
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 s
a
fe
ty
/a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
h
o
p
p
in
g
 p
a
ra
d
e
. 

F
e
a
s
ib
ili
ty
/ 
d
e
s
ig
n
 w
o
rk
 t
o
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 2
0
1
5
/1
6
 w
it
h
 

c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 e
a
rm

a
rk
e
d
 f
o
r 
2
0
1
6
/1
7
. 

 

M
a
y
e
s
b
ro
o
k
, 

G
o
re
s
b
ro
o
k
 

-  
£
5
0
,0
0
0
 

 
£
3
0
0
,0
0
0
 

 

A
1
2
/W

h
a
le
b
o
n
e
 

J
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

J
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 

o
c
c
u
rs
 d
u
e
 t
o
 l
e
ft
 t
u
rn
in
g
 t
ra
ff
ic
 o
b
s
tr
u
c
ti
n
g
 n
o
rt
h
b
o
u
n
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 

a
n
d
 a
ls
o
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
R
o
s
e
 L
a
n
e
/W

h
a
le
b
o
n
e
 L
a
n
e
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
. 

S
p
e
c
if
ic
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 T
B
C
. 
D
e
s
ig
n
/c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
o
rk
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 

fo
r 
2
0
1
4
/1
5
, 
w
it
h
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 i
n
 2
0
1
5
/1
6
. 

 

C
h
a
d
w
e
ll 

H
e
a
th
 

£
5
0
,0
0
0
 

£
2
5
0
,0
0
0
 

- 

D
IY
 S
tr
e
e
ts
 P
ro
je
c
t 

–
 D
a
g
e
n
h
a
m
 

 

A
re
a
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 a
im
e
d
 a
t 
ta
c
k
lin
g
 c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 w
it
h
in
 l
o
c
a
l 
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
. 
F
o
rm

s
 

p
a
rt
 o
f 
S
u
s
tr
a
n
s
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
e
a
d
 '
D
IY
 S
tr
e
e
ts
' 
In
it
ia
ti
v
e
. 

W
o
rk
s
 t
o
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 T
B
C
, 
b
u
t 
m
a
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
a
rk
in
g
 s
u
p
p
ly
/c
o
n
tr
o
ls
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
s
; 
ra
n
g
e
 

o
f 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 f
o
o
tw
a
y
s
/c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
/b
u
s
 

s
to
p
s
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 f
o
r 
m
o
b
ili
ty
 i
m
p
a
ir
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
o
 

T
B
C
 

 
£
5
0
,0
0
0
 

£
2
5
0
,0
0
0
 

 
-  

Page 67



S
c
h
e
m
e
 N
a
m
e
/ 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 S
u
m
m
a
ry
 

W
a
rd
(s
) 

A
ff
e
c
te
d
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 –
 

2
0
1
4
/1
5
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 –
 

2
0
1
5
/1
6
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 -
 

2
0
1
6
/1
7
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 b
e
tt
e
r 
ro
u
te
s
 t
o
 p
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 l
in
k
s
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
; 
a
n
d
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t/
s
a
fe
ty
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o
f 
lo
c
a
lis
e
d
 c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
. 
 

 

R
o
a
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
F
u
n
d
 

 (
V
a
ri
o
u
s
 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

S
m
a
ll 
s
c
a
le
, 
s
it
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 r
o
a
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

o
f 
o
u
r 
L
IP
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ro
a
d
 c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
, 

a
n
d
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
o
u
r 
v
a
ri
o
u
s
 c
o
rr
id
o
r/
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
. 
S
it
e
s
 a
re
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 o
n
 a
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 b
a
s
is
 (
i.
e
. 
n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
) 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

w
ill
 b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
a
c
c
id
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
o
c
c
u
rs
. 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 a
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
/b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 T
B
C
, 
b
u
t 
c
o
u
ld
 c
o
m
p
ri
s
e
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 2
0
m
p
h
 

z
o
n
e
s
, 
C
P
Z
s
 a
n
d
 ‘
s
c
h
o
o
l 
g
a
te
’ 
ro
a
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

W
id
e
 

£
2
0
0
,0
0
0
 

 
£
2
0
0
,0
0
0
 

 
£
2
0
0
,0
0
0
 

 

S
a
fe
r/
S
m
a
rt
e
r 

T
ra
v
e
l 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

•
 
Im

p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
/e
v
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

tr
a
in
in
g
 m
a
te
ri
a
l/
p
u
b
lic
it
y
 l
e
a
fl
e
ts
 a
im
e
d
 a
t 
p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 r
o
a
d
 

s
a
fe
ty
. 
F
o
c
u
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 o
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 r
o
a
d
 

u
s
e
rs
. 
F
u
n
d
in
g
 a
ls
o
 e
a
rm

a
rk
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 

a
d
v
e
rt
is
in
g
/p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 
m
a
te
ri
a
l 
a
n
d
 a
 s
e
ri
e
s
 o
f 
h
ig
h
 

p
ro
fi
le
 e
v
e
n
ts
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

p
ro
m
o
te
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 t
ra
v
e
l 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
. 

•
 
P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
c
y
c
le
 t
ra
in
in
g
 t
o
 c
y
c
lis
ts
 o
f 
a
ll 
a
g
e
s
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 

c
y
c
lin
g
 a
s
 a
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 m

o
d
e
 o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l.
 

F
u
n
d
in
g
 a
ls
o
 e
a
rm

a
rk
e
d
 f
o
r 
p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 
e
v
e
n
ts
. 

•
 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 t
ra
v
e
l.
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 e
a
rm

a
rk
e
d
 f
o
r 
ra
n
g
e
 o
f 

p
ro
je
c
ts
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
/u
p
d
a
te
 o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
p
la
n
s
, 

p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 
e
v
e
n
ts
 (
e
.g
. 
W
a
lk
 o
n
 W

e
d
n
e
s
d
a
y
s
) 
a
n
d
 s
m
a
ll 

s
c
a
le
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 (
e
.g
. 
c
y
c
le
 p
a
rk
in
g
).
  

•
 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
/ 

im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
tr
a
v
e
l 
s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
/l
o
g
is
ti
c
s
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 t
ra
v
e
l 
a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ri
e
s
. 
 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

W
id
e
 

£
1
0
9
,0
0
0
 

 
£
1
0
9
,0
0
0
 

 
£
1
0
9
,0
0
0
 

 

Page 68



S
c
h
e
m
e
 N
a
m
e
/ 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 S
u
m
m
a
ry
 

W
a
rd
(s
) 

A
ff
e
c
te
d
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 –
 

2
0
1
4
/1
5
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 –
 

2
0
1
5
/1
6
 

In
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 

C
o
s
ts
 -
 

2
0
1
6
/1
7
 

T
O
T
A
L
: 

£
1
,5
0
9
,0
0
0
 

£
1
,5
0
9
,0
0
0
 

£
1
,5
0
9
,0
0
0
 

 

L
o
c
a
l 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 F
u
n
d
in
g
 I
n
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
: 

£
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

£
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

£
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

M
in
o
r 
W
o
rk
s
 

(V
a
ri
o
u
s
 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

A
d
-h
o
c
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
, 

re
m
o
v
a
l 
o
f 
s
tr
e
e
t 
c
lu
tt
e
r 
(s
ig
n
a
g
e
/f
u
rn
it
u
re
),
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

a
n
d
 n
e
w
 p
a
rk
in
g
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
, 
e
tc
. 

 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

W
id
e
 

£
7
0
,0
0
0
 

£
7
0
,0
0
0
 

£
7
0
,0
0
0
 

F
u
tu
re
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

(V
a
ri
o
u
s
 

L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
v
e
 s
tu
d
ie
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 f
u
tu
re
 L
IP
 C
o
rr
id
o
r/
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 b
a
s
e
d
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
. 
F
o
c
u
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 o
n
 r
o
a
d
 

s
a
fe
ty
/a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 T
B
C
. 
 

 

B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

W
id
e
 

£
3
0
,0
0
0
 

£
3
0
,0
0
0
 

£
3
0
,0
0
0
 

T
O
T
A
L
: 

£
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

£
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

£
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

G
R

A
N

D
 T

O
T

A
L

: 
£

2
,3

1
4

,0
0

0
 

£
2

,1
7

8
,0

0
0
 

£
2

,1
7

8
,0

0
0
 

    

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 2

: 
L

B
 B

a
rk

in
g

 &
 D

a
g

e
n

h
a

m
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 C

y
c

li
n

g
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
 –

 2
0

1
3

/1
4

 –
 2

0
1

6
/1

7
 

  

F
u

n
d

in
g

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

 
P

ro
p

o
s

e
d

 S
c

h
e

m
e
s

/I
n

it
ia

ti
v
e

s
 

2
0

1
4

/1
5
 

2
0

1
5

/1
6
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7
 

S
a
fe
r 
s
tr
e
e
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 b
ik
e
 –
 i
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 t
h
e
 p

e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 r

e
a
lit

y
 o

f 
c
y
c
le

 s
a
fe

ty
. 

 C
y
c
le

 t
ra

in
in

g
 f
o
r 

a
d
u
lt
s
 a

n
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
 

(B
ik

e
a
b
ili

ty
 c

y
c
le

 t
ra

in
in

g
) 

 

F
o
c
u
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 o

n
 d

e
liv

e
ri

n
g
 a

n
 i
n
te

g
ra

te
d
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 

o
f 

c
y
c
le

 t
ra

in
in

g
 a

n
d
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l/
s
o
c
ia

l 
c
y
c
lin

g
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
: 

•
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
C

y
c
le

 T
ra

in
in

g
 a

n
d
 C

y
c
le

 C
lu

b
s
; 

•
 

A
d
u
lt
 C

y
c
le

 T
ra

in
in

g
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 P

a
re

n
t 
C

y
c
lin

g
 

C
lu

b
s
 a

t 
lo

c
a
l 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

; 

•
 

C
h
ild

re
n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 F

a
m

ily
 R

id
e
s
; 

•
 

H
G

V
 D

ri
v
e
r 

C
P

C
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 (

ru
n
 j
o
in

tl
y
 

w
it
h
 L

B
s
 H

a
v
e
ri
n
g
 a

n
d
 R

e
d
b
ri
d
g

e
).

  

   
£
3
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
5
,0

0
0
 

 
£
5
,0

0
0
 

£
9
,0

0
0
 

   
£
3
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
5
,0

0
0
 

 
£
5
,0

0
0
 

£
9
,0

0
0
 

   
£
3
3
,0

0
0
 

£
1
7
,0

0
0
 

 
£
6
,0

0
0
 

£
1
2
,0

0
0
 

S
a
fe

r 
lo

rr
ie

s
 a

n
d
 v

a
n
s
 

(P
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
F

re
ig

h
t 
O

p
e
ra

to
r 

R
e
c
o
g
n
it
io

n
 

S
c
h
e
m

e
 a

n
d
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
C

o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
 

L
o
g
is

ti
c
 P

la
n
s
) 

 C
P

C
 S

a
fe

r 
U

rb
a
n
 D

ri
v
e
r 

T
ra

in
in

g
 

(C
o
u
rs

e
s
 f

o
r 

in
te

rn
a
l/
c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
fl
e
e
t 
d
ri
v
e
rs

) 
 

T
O
T
A
L
:  

£
5
9
,0
0
0
 

£
5
9
,0
0
0
 

£
6
8
,0
0
0
 

M
o
re
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 b
y
 b
ik
e
 –
 e

n
a
b
lin

g
 a

 w
id

e
r 

ra
n
g

e
 o

f 
p
e
o
p
le

 t
o
 s

h
if
t 
to

 c
y
c
lin

g
 o

r 
c
y
c
le

 m
o
re

. 
 C

y
c
le

 t
o
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 

(P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 p
ilo

ts
 t

o
 d

e
liv

e
r 

in
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

; 
‘B

ik
e
 I

t 
P

lu
s
’ 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

c
y
c
lin

g
 p

ro
je

c
ts

; 
c
y
c
le

 g
ra

n
ts

 f
o
r 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

) 
  

F
o
c
u
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 o

n
 i
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 t

h
e
 s

a
fe

ty
 o

f 
c
y
c
le

 r
o
u
te

s
 

to
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h
e
 c

re
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
C

y
c
le

 t
o
 

S
c
h
o
o
ls

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
. 
P

ri
o
ri
ty

 a
re

a
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
: 

1
. 

S
c
h
o
o
ls

 w
it
h
in

 G
o
re

s
b
ro

o
k
 W

a
rd

 a
re

a
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 5

 
p
ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 a
n
d
 J

o
 R

ic
h
a
rd

s
o
n
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
c
h
o
o
l.
 P

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
fo

r 
lin

k
s
 s

o
u
th

 t
o
 n

e
w

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 i
n
 

B
a
rk

in
g
 R

iv
e
rs

id
e
; 
 

2
. 

S
c
h
o
o
ls

 w
it
h
in

 P
a
rs

lo
e
s
 W

a
rd

 a
re

a
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 4

 
p
ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 a
n
d
 S

y
d
n
e
y
 R

u
s
s
e
ll 

C
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
. 

L
in

k
s
 i
n
to

 w
o
rk

 u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

s
 

p
a
rt

 o
f 

re
c
e
n
t 

D
IY

 S
tr

e
e
ts

 p
ro

je
c
t 

a
n
d
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

G
a
le

 S
tr

e
e
t 
c
o
rr

id
o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 s
c
h
e
m

e
; 

3
. 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 r

o
u
te

s
 t

o
/b

e
tw

e
e
n
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 i
n
 B

a
rk

in
g

, 
fo

c
u
s
in

g
 o

n
 E

a
s
tb

ru
ry

 C
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 a

n
d
 B

a
rk

in
g
 

A
b
b
e
y
 S

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l,
 a

n
d
 i
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 

   
£
1
0
8
,0

0
0
 

           

       
£
1
4
3
,0

0
0
 

       

            
£
1
4
3
,0

0
0
 

  

C
y
c
le

 p
a
rk

in
g
 

(I
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 o

n
-s

tr
e
e
t,
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 

c
y
c
le

 p
a
rk

in
g
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
) 

 

Page 71



F
u

n
d

in
g

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

 
P

ro
p

o
s

e
d

 S
c

h
e

m
e
s

/I
n

it
ia

ti
v
e

s
 

2
0

1
4

/1
5
 

2
0

1
5

/1
6
 

2
0

1
6

/1
7
 

c
o
n
n
e
c
ti
v
it
y
 w

it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
P

ri
m

a
ry

/J
u
n
io

r 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

. 
 

 F
u
n
d
in

g
 a

ls
o
 e

a
rm

a
rk

e
d
 f
o
r 

ra
n
g

e
 o

f 
s
m

a
ll 

s
c
a
le

 
in

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
: 

•
 

O
n
-s

tr
e
e
t 

a
n
d
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
c
y
c
le

 p
a
rk

in
g

; 

•
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
c
y
c
le

 g
ra

n
ts

; 

•
 

B
ik

e
 I
T

 P
lu

s
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 (
p
a
rt

-t
im

e
).

  
 

    
£
4
5
,0

0
0
 

£
2
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
7
,0

0
0
 

    
£
4
5
,0

0
0
 

£
2
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
7
,0

0
0
 

    
£
4
5
,0

0
0
 

£
2
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
7
,0

0
0
 

T
O
T
A
L
: 

 
£
1
9
0
,0
0
0
 

£
2
2
5
,0
0
0
 

£
2
2
5
,0
0
0
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
c
y
c
li
n
g
 –
 h

e
lp

in
g

 b
o
ro

u
g

h
s
 d

e
liv

e
r 

th
e
 C

y
c
lin

g
 V

is
io

n
. 

 M
o
n

it
o
ri
n
g
 

(M
e
a
s
u
ri
n
g
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 o
f 
c
y
c
lin

g
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

c
y
c
le

 c
o
u
n
ts

, 
im

p
a
c
t/

o
u
tc

o
m

e
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
) 

  

O
p
ti
o
n
 A
: 

•
 

S
ta

ff
in

g
 (

p
a
rt

 t
im

e
 p

o
s
t 

–
 3

 d
a
y
s
/w

e
e
k
);

 

•
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
C

y
c
le

 C
o
u
n
ts

; 

•
 

C
y
c
lin

g
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 a
n
d
 r

e
p
o
rt

. 
 

 O
p
ti
o
n
 B
: 
 

•
 

S
ta

ff
in

g
 (

fu
ll 

ti
m

e
 p

o
s
t)

. 
(c

y
c
le

 c
o
u
n
ts

 c
o
s
ts

 a
b
s
o
rb

e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 L

IP
 b

u
d
g

e
t)

. 

 
£
4
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
6
,0

0
0
 

  
£
6
6
,0

0
0
 

 
£
4
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
6
,0

0
0
 

  
£
6
6
,0

0
0
 

 
£
4
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
 

£
1
6
,0

0
0
 

  
£
6
6
,0

0
0
 

S
ta

ff
in

g
 

(F
u
n
d
in

g
 f

o
r 

1
 f

u
ll-

ti
m

e
 o

ff
ic

e
r)

 
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 c

y
c
lin

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
ie

s
 

(D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
c
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
/ 

in
te

g
ra

te
d
 

lo
c
a
l 
s
tr

a
te

g
y
) 

  

 
T
O
T
A
L
:  

£
6
6
,0
0
0
 

£
6
6
,0
0
0
 

£
6
6
,0
0
0
 

 
F
U
N
D
IN
G
 S
U
B
M
IS
S
IO
N
 T
O
T
A
L
: 

 
£
3
1
5
,0
0
0
 

£
3
5
0
,0
0
0
 

£
3
5
9
,0
0
0
 

  

Page 72



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 3

: 
L

IP
 I

n
d

ic
a

to
rs

/T
a

rg
e

ts
 

  C
a
te
g
o
ry
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r/
T
a
rg
e
t 

 
D
a
ta
 S
o
u
rc
e
/M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

D
e
li
v
e
ry
 P
la
n
 M
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
 T
a
rg
e
ts
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 T
a
c
k
li
n
g
 C
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 

C
o
re
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

 

1
. 
M
a
in
ta
in
 b
u
s
 e
x
c
e
s
s
 w

a
it
 t
im

e
 o
n
 h
ig
h
-f
re
q
u
e
n
c
y
 

ro
u
te
s
 a
t 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 l
e
v
e
ls
 (
1
.2
 m

in
u
te
s
) 
b
y
 2
0
1
7
/1
8
 

 

•
 
Q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 (
T
fL
) 

•
 
P
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

•
 
S
m
a
rt
e
r 
tr
a
v
e
l 
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

•
 
T
ra
ff
ic
/d
e
m
a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
A
ll
 

C
o
re
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

 

2
. 
In
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
w
a
lk
in
g
 t
ri
p
s
 f
ro
m
 3
7
%
 i
n
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 t
o
 3
8
.5
%
 i
n
 2
0
2
5
/2
6
 (
3
7
.7
%
 i
n
 2
0
1
6
/1
7
) 
 

3
. 
In
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
c
y
c
lin

g
 t
ri
p
s
 f
ro
m
 1
%
 i
n
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 t
o
 4
.3
%
 i
n
 2
0
2
5
/2
6
 (
2
.4
%
 i
n
 2
0
1
6
/1
7
) 
 

 

•
 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 T
ra
v
e
l 
D
e
m
a
n
d
 S
u
rv
e
y
 

(T
fL
) 

•
 
M
a
n
u
a
l 
a
n
d
 A
u
to
m
a
ti
c
 T
ra
ff
ic
 

C
o
u
n
ts
 (
B
o
ro
u
g
h
) 

•
 
C
y
c
lin

g
 a
n
d
 w

a
lk
in
g
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 

•
 
S
a
fe
ty
 a
n
d
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 

•
 
H
ig
h
w
a
ys
/p
u
b
lic
 r
e
a
lm

 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 S
a
fe
ty
 a
n
d
 S
e
c
u
ri
ty
 

C
o
re
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

 

4
. 
R
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 a
n
d
 s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 b
y
 4
0
%
 b
y
 2
0
1
9
/2
0
 (
2
7
.3
%
 

b
y
 2
0
1
6
/1
7
) 
 

5
. 
R
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ro
a
d
 c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 b
y
 4
0
%
 

b
y
 2
0
1
9
/2
0
 (
2
8
%
 b
y
 2
0
1
6
/1
7
) 

 

•
 
M
o
d
a
l 
P
o
lic
y
 U

n
it
 (
T
fL
) 

•
 
S
T
A
T
S
1
9
 D

a
ta
b
a
s
e
 (
M
e
t 
P
o
lic
e
) 

•
 
C
y
c
lin

g
 a
n
d
 w

a
lk
in
g
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 

•
 
S
a
fe
ty
 a
n
d
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 

•
 
T
ra
ff
ic
/d
e
m
a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

•
 
H
ig
h
w
a
ys
/p
u
b
lic
 r
e
a
lm

 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 

E
n
h
a
n
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 Q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
L
if
e
 

C
o
re
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

 

6
. 
R
e
d
u
c
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 g
ro
u
n
d
 b
a
s
e
d
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 C

O
2
 

e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 b
y
 4
5
.3
%
 b
y
 2
0
2
5
 (
2
4
.3
%
 b
y
 2
0
1
6
) 

 

•
 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 E
n
e
rg
y
 a
n
d
 G

re
e
n
h
o
u
s
e
 

G
a
s
 I
n
v
e
n
to
ry
 (
G
L
A
) 

•
 
P
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

•
 
C
y
c
lin

g
 a
n
d
 w

a
lk
in
g
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 

•
 
S
m
a
rt
e
r 
tr
a
v
e
l 
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

•
 
T
ra
ff
ic
/d
e
m
a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 M
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
o
u
r 
A
s
s
e
ts
 

C
o
re
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

 

7
. 
M
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
b
o
ro
u
g
h
 p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
ro
a
d
 i
n
 

n
e
e
d
 o
f 
re
p
a
ir
 a
t 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 l
e
v
e
ls
 (
4
.8
%
) 
b
y
 2
0
1
6
/1
7
 

 

•
 
V
is
u
a
l 
In
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 D

a
ta
 (
L
B
 

H
a
m
m
e
rs
m
it
h
 &
 F
u
lh
a
m
) 

•
 
T
ra
ff
ic
/d
e
m
a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

•
 
H
ig
h
w
a
ys
/p
u
b
lic
 r
e
a
lm

 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 

 

Page 73



T
a
rg
e
t 
1
: 
B
u
s
 e
x
c
e
s
s
 w
a
it
 t
im
e
 

 
 

T
a
rg
e
t 
2
: 
W
a
lk
in
g
 t
ri
p
s
 m
o
d
e
 s
h
a
re
 

 

T
a
rg
e
t 
3
: 
C
y
c
lin
g
 t
ri
p
s
 m
o
d
e
 s
h
a
re
 

 
 

T
a
rg
e
t 
4
: 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 

 

Page 74



 T
a
rg
e
t 
5
: 
T
o
ta
l 
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 

 
 

T
a
rg
e
t 
6
: 
B
o
ro
u
g
h
-w
id
e
 g
ro
u
n
d
 b
a
s
e
d
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 C
O

2
 e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 

 

T
a
rg
e
t 
7
: 
P
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
b
o
ro
u
g
h
 p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
ro
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 o
f 
re
p
a
ir
 

 
 

 

 

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

24 September 2013 
 

Title: Barking and Dagenham Employment Areas Local Development Order 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Regeneration 
 

Open Report For Decision  

Wards Affected: All  
 

Key Decision: Yes 

Report Author: Claire Adams, Principal Planning 
Policy Officer 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8227 5274 
E-mail: claire.adams@lbbd.gov.uk 

Accountable Divisional Director: Jeremy Grint, Divisional Director of Regeneration 
 

Accountable Director: Graham Farrant, Chief Executive  
 

Summary 
 
Across the country local authorities have prepared Local Development Orders for 
Enterprise Zones to allow businesses to do more things without the need for planning 
permission. This has prompted officers in the Council’s Regeneration Service to explore 
whether there is benefit in preparing a Local Development Order to benefit businesses in 
Barking and Dagenham and promote the borough as a business friendly place.  
 
The Council’s Local Plan protects the borough’s designated employment areas for, 
research and development (R&D), light industrial, general industrial and warehousing 
uses. This includes the industrial areas south of the A13, and the industrial areas along 
Hertford Road, Freshwater Road, Selina’s Lane and Wantz Road. This is subject to certain 
caveats. Firstly warehousing of 1000 square metres or more is not allowed north of the 
A13 and warehousing is not allowed in Dagenham Dock where environmental industries 
are encouraged. Separately the Joint Waste Plan clearly sets out the appropriate site 
allocations for Barking and Dagenham’s apportionment of waste; which are directed to 
Dagenham Dock. 
 
Therefore officers are recommending that Cabinet agree a draft Local Development Order 
which introduces permitted development rights allowing a change of use between R&D, 
light industrial, general industrial and warehousing uses provided the caveats in the Local 
Plan are adhered to. It is also proposed that the LDO allows a change of use from non-
residential institutional uses within designated employment areas, such as places of 
worship to R&D, light industrial, general industrial and warehousing uses but not the 
reverse. 
 
It is proposed that the LDO does not extend to the Ford Stamping Plant or the Sanofi site 
given the current status of these sites. It is also important to note that the LDO will not 
introduce any additional permitted development rights for waste management uses. 
  
Staff have explored whether the LDO could go further and allow modest extensions. Due 
to the patchwork quilt of land ownership in the borough’s employment areas and the 
variation in building sizes, types and quality this is not considered practicable. However 

AGENDA ITEM 7

Page 77



officers have included in the draft LDO permitted development rights for new or 
replacement windows and external cladding for R&D, light industrial, general industrial and 
warehousing uses. 
 
To ensure the amenities of residents are protected the LDO does not allow change of use 
or new windows within 20 metres, and new cladding and replacement windows with 5 
metres of the boundaries of existing housing or housing with the benefit of planning 
permission whether built or not. In these cases a planning permission would still be 
necessary. To assess the impact on the highway of permitted changes of use the LDO 
requires a transport statement for changes of use 2500 square metres and above and a 
transport assessment for changes of use over 4000 square metres. 
 
A copy of the draft Barking and Dagenham Employment Areas Local Development Order 
is provided in Appendix 1. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to approve the draft Barking and Dagenham Employment 
Areas Local Development Order, as attached at Appendix 1 to the report, for public 
consultation. 
 

Reason(s) 
 
The Employment Areas Local Development Order will help the Council to deliver the 
overall vision to ‘Encourage growth and unlock the potential of Barking and Dagenham 
and its residents’.  
 
This approach also supports the delivery of the Council’s priority to ‘Maximise growth 
opportunities and increase household income of borough residents’ by helping businesses 
come to the borough which bring employment opportunities for local people.   
 

 
 
1.  Introduction and Background  
 

What is a Local Development Order (LDO)? 
1.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended enables a local planning 

authority to make a Local Development Order (LDO) to grant planning permission 
for developments specified in the Order for any part of the land in the authority’s 
area. LDOs were introduced by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act in 2004 
which added the provision to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Once an 
Order is made it removes the need to obtain planning permission for certain kinds of 
development in a specified area. They are part of a move to remove bureaucracy 
and are a means for the planning system to incentivise development. For example 
LDOs have or are being introduced for Enterprise Zones across the country.  

 
1.2 The LDO being proposed will apply to the borough’s designated employment areas 

and directly responds to the Government’s desire to support economic growth 
through the planning system. The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (Amendment) (England) Orders 2010, 2012 and 2013 sets out 
existing permitted development rights for industrial and warehouse development but 
the proposed LDO will extend these further. 

Page 78



 
2. Proposal and Issues 
 

The Barking and Dagenham Employment Areas Local Development Order 2013 
 
2.1 A draft Local Development Order has been prepared, in accordance with The Town 

and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2010, for all designated Employment Areas excluding the Sanofi site and the Ford 
Stamping Plant (i.e. Strategic Industrial Locations and Locally Significant Industrial 
Sites as shown on the Local Plan Proposals Map) in the borough and as illustrated 
in Appendix A of the proposed LDO. 
 

2.2 The Barking and Dagenham Employment Areas LDO will grant planning permission 
for changes of use between R&D, light industrial, general industrial and 
warehousing uses. It is also proposed that the LDO allows a change of use from 
non-residential institutional uses within designated employment areas, such as 
places of worship to R&D, light industrial, general industrial and warehousing uses 
but not the reverse. Planning permission will continue to be needed for new or 
changes of use to warehousing of 1000 square metres or more north of the A13 
and in Dagenham Dock where environmental industries are encouraged. 

 
2.3 The LDO will allow the installation of new or replacement windows and recladding 

of building exteriors of buildings used for R&D, light industrial, general industrial and 
warehousing uses. 
 

2.4 To ensure the amenities of residents are protected the LDO does not allow changes 
of use or new windows within 20 metres, and new cladding and replacement 
windows with 5 metres of the boundaries of housing. In these cases a planning 
permission would still be necessary. To assess the impact on the highway of 
permitted changes of use the LDO requires a transport statement for changes of 
use of 2500 square metres and above, and a transport assessment for changes of 
use of 4000 square metres and above. 
 

2.5 Full details of the permitted development, and a plan showing the areas to which 
this applies, are provided in Appendix 1.  
 
Policy context 

2.6 The proposal implements the Council’s Local Plan Core Strategy policy CE4: “Mix 
and balance of uses within designated employment areas” and the borough’s 
emerging Economic Development Strategy. 
 

2.7 The proposal is also in line with the aims of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) which states, in paragraph 199, that, Local planning authorities ‘Hshould 
consider using Local Development Orders to relax planning controls for particular 
areas or categories of development, where the impacts would be acceptable, and in 
particular where this would promote economic, social or environmental gains for the 
area, such as boosting enterprise’. 

 
Advantages of an LDO 

2.8 Apart from simplifying the planning process for new businesses the establishment 
of the proposed LDO will send out a message that Barking and Dagenham 
welcomes and encourages new and growing businesses. It will make it easier for 

Page 79



businesses within the borough’s employment areas to make changes of use and 
improvements to their properties. This will save those wishing to invest in Barking 
and Dagenham time and money and will give them certainty of the outcome if their 
development conforms to the requirements of the LDO. It is also hoped that the 
LDO will help to attract new business investment to the area and retain existing 
businesses that wish to develop in established employment locations. 

 
Disadvantages of an LDO 

2.9 The main disadvantage to the Council is that development allowed under the LDO 
will not pay a planning fee. However this will only affect a handful of applications so 
will not have a significant effect on income from fees. Another disadvantage is that 
the Council will not be able to secure Section 106 contributions for affected 
developments. However since the change of use of an existing building from one 
commercial use to another rarely has a significant impact a S106 would not 
normally be justified. A nominal fee of £50 will be charged for development allowed 
through the LDO. The LDO does not waive the requirement for developments to 
pay the Community Infrastructure Levy. 
 
Impact of the LDO on residents and the local environment 

2.10 Conditions have been imposed so that development involving change of use or new 
windows is not permitted within 20 metres of residential properties and development 
involving replacement windows or re-cladding within 5 metres. 
 

2.9 It is important to note that the Order does not remove the requirements of other 
statutory regulation and consent regimes, such as the Building Regulations, Listed 
Building Consent, Advertisement Consent and Hazardous Substances Consent. 
These will all need to be obtained where appropriate through the existing regimes. 
In addition it is important to note that the Order does not remove other forms of 
statutory regulation including the Habitat Regulations, Environmental Impact 
Assessment and protected species legislation. 

 
2.10 The Council have already undertaken a Habitats Regulations Assessment 

Screening Report for the Core Strategy and Borough Wide Development Policies 
DPD. The results of this Screening Report, which were agreed by Natural England, 
were that the suite of documents would not result in likely significant effects upon a 
Natura 2000 site. Given that the LDO implements policy CE4 of the Core Strategy it 
is not considered necessary to do a separate screening for this LDO. The LDO 
includes maps of the two Health and Safety Executive (HSE) consultation zones 
which affect existing buildings with designated employment areas. The LDO makes 
clear that it does not remove the need for applicants to notify the HSE where the 
proposed change of use increases the number of people likely to be working at the 
premises. 

 
Timescale of LDO 

2.11 It is advisable for the LDO to be time limited initially. Officers propose the LDO to be 
introduced for three years, so that its operation can be reviewed. It is better to 
renew the order than withdraw it, as compensation could be payable. The review 
should consider whether the LDO is meeting the original policy objectives and 
whether the objectives are out of date. It is important to remember that the 
development allowed by the LDO will remain in place beyond the timescale of the 
LDO. 

 

Page 80



Notification and Monitoring 
2.12 Notification of proposed development under the Barking and Dagenham 

Employment Area LDO must be made to the Local Planning Authority prior to 
commencement of development using a pre-development notification (see 
Appendix 1).  
 

2.13 Any proposal which fits into the categories permitted by the LDO can take place 
without planning permission (subject to conditions). 
 

2.14 The Council will acknowledge receipt of submissions by email and within 10 
workings days of this date the Council will:  

 

• Confirm in writing if development is permitted by the LDO and, if not, why. 

• Ask for further information and a further 10 working days to consider the 
proposal on receipt of that information 

• Confirm the existing planning conditions which will continue to apply to the 
new use permitted by the LDO. 

 
2.15 The LDO will be formally monitored within the Local Plan Authorities Monitoring 

Report which is published annually. This will highlight how many developments 
have been allowed under the LDO and the impact this has had on the Employment 
Areas. This will be done using information submitted in the pre-development 
notification forms. 
 

2.16 It is also recommended that the LDO should be  reviewed annually by the 
Delegated Decisions Review Panel 
 
Procedure and Timescales 

2.17 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2010 Part 6, states that in order to make a local development order, the 
following must be prepare first: 
 
(a) A draft of the order; and 
(b) A statement of the reasons for making the order, which shall contain a 

description of the development which the order would permit, and a plan or 
statement identifying the land to which the order would relate. 

 
2.18 These are attached as appendix 1. This should be followed by consultation in 

accordance with paragraph 5 of the above legislation for a period of at least 28 
days. 
 

2.19 The draft Order should then be modified where appropriate and Officers will 
address the comments received and bring a final copy of the LDO to the Assembly 
for approval. 
 
Timetable for adopting the Employment Areas LDO 

2.20 The table below sets out the timetable for implementing the Barking and Dagenham 
Employment Areas Local Development Order. 

  

Page 81



 

Task Progress 

Report to Cabinet  24 September 2013 

Consultation (minimum 28 days) September/October 2013 

Modifications (if necessary) November 2013 

Assembly  January 2014 

Adoption of LDO January  2014 

 
3. Options Appraisal  
 
 Two options have been considered: 
 
3.1 Option 1: Maintain the status quo 
  
 Officers have conducted an assessment of planning consents issued in 

employment areas in recent years. This indicates that there have only been a 
handful of planning applications in the last two years which would have not been 
necessary with this LDO. These are shown in the table below. 

 
 

Planning 
App. Ref. 

Location Description Approved S106 Fee 

12/00424/FUL WTS 
Media, 
40B River 
Road 

Change of use from 
B1(a) to B1(b) and 
(c), B2 and B8 

Yes No £335.00 

10/01118/FUL 43 Thames 
Road 

Application for 
mixed use of 
building to allow 
use for purposes 
within B1 and B8 

Yes No £502.50 

10/00172/FUL Emperor 
House, 
Freshwater 
Road 

Use of warehouse 
(B8) for industrial 
purposes (B2) 

Yes No £335.00 

11/00049/FUL Unit 2, 
Beaver 
Centre, 
Selinas 
Lane 

Retrospective 
application for 
change of use to 
general industry 
(B2) 

Yes No £335.00 

Total     £1507.5 

 
 However it is not known how much latent demand there is for the freedoms 

introduced by the LDO, this depends to what extent planning really is a barrier to 
growth. Moreover although new buildings will still require planning permission, 
businesses can do this with the knowledge that once they receive permission that 
they can then change between the uses permitted by the LDO without the need for 
planning permission. It is important that Barking and Dagenham is seen as being 
business friendly. LDOs are a requirement for Enterprise Zone status and therefore 
across the country LDOs have been adopted for Enterprise Zones. However LDOs 
do not need to be confined to Enterprise Zones and a LDO for Barking and 
Dagenham will not only have practical benefits but is also a clear demonstration 

Page 82



that irrespective of Enterprise Zone status Barking and Dagenham means business. 
Therefore adoption of the LDO is an important component of the Council’s 
emerging Economic Growth Strategy.  

 
3.2 Option 2: Implement a Local Development Order 
 In deciding what permitted development rights to include in the LDO the Council has 

to balance the benefits to business with the impact of development on existing 
homes and businesses. Moreover the LDO cannot conflict with the policies in the 
Council’s Local Plan. The Council’s Local Plan protects the borough’s designated 
employment areas for, research and development (R&D), light industrial, general 
industrial and warehousing uses. Therefore planning applications for changes of 
use between these uses in these locations can normally expect to receive consent 
provided they do not have an unacceptable impact on the road network. 
Consequently officers consider that the LDO should allow these uses provided that 
in line with the Core Strategy a transport statement is provided for uses of 2500 
square metres and above and a transport assessment is submitted for uses 4000 
square metres and above so the impacts on the road network can be assessed. 
Staff have explored whether the LDO could go further and allow modest extensions. 
Due to the patchwork quilt of land ownership in the borough’s employment areas 
and the variation in building sizes, types and quality this is not considered 
practicable or desirable. However officers have included in the draft LDO permitted 
development rights for new or replacement windows and external cladding. To 
protect residential amenity the LDO does not allow change of use or new windows 
within 20 metres, and new cladding and replacement windows with 5 metres of the 
boundaries of housing. In these cases a planning permission would still be 
necessary. 

 
3.3  The LDO will not have a significant effect on reducing the number of planning 

applications and therefore will not impact significantly on planning income. However 
by introducing the LDO, the Council will be sending out a strong message to 
businesses and potential investors that Barking and Dagenham is a ‘can do’ Council 
which works with developers to encourage growth and unlock potential. It may 
therefore increase the attractiveness of Barking and Dagenham as a place to do 
business and may generate more commercial planning applications. 

 
4. Consultation  
 
4.1 Consultation will be undertaken in compiance with the publicity and consultation 

requirements of Article 34 of the town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure)(England) Order 2010, which relates specifically to 
publicity requirements for LDOs. This will include consultation with the Barking and 
Dagenham Chamber of Commerce and other local business forums. 

 
4.3 Following consultation, all responses will be recorded, analysed and assessed in a 

Statement of Community Involvement report. This will inform and accompany the 
final draft version of the LDO. This version will be reported to Cabinet and Assembly 
seeking approval for adoption. 

 
  

Page 83



5. Financial Implications  
 
 Implications completed by:  Carl Tomlinson, Group Finance Manager 

 
5.1 The introduction of the LDO is not expected to have a significant impact on the level 

of income received from planning fees or S106 payments. The annual income 
received by the Authority in respect of planning application fees is in excess of 
£500,000. However, the amount of income that would have been lost in the last two 
years as a result of the proposed change would have been £1,507. This loss of 
income would also be partly offset by the £50 fee to be charged for a development 
allowed through the LDO. In respect of S106, as the change of use of an existing 
building from one commercial use to another rarely has a significant impact, the 
level of S106 income is not anticipated to be significantly affected.    
 

5.2 The cost of preparing the LDO, consulting on it, and then adoption will be met from 
the existing Development Planning budget. The LDO should not have a significant 
impact on the cost of planning enforcement because it is increasing permitted 
development rights. 
 

5.3 Potential income to be received through the new Community Infrastructure Levy is 
not expected to be affected as any permitted development will still be liable to 
paying it in the same way as development which requires planning permission. 

 
6. Legal Implications  
 

Implications completed by: Paul Feild Senior Governance Lawyer 
 
6.1 As observed in the body of this report The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 

amended enables a local planning authority to make a Local Development Order 
(LDO) to grant planning permission for developments specified in the Order for any 
part of the land in the authority’s area. It establishes local permitted development for 
such development as specified in the Order. The Order will apply to certain changes 
of use and minor modifications to buildings focussed on creating and encouraging 
employment opportunities within the areas of the borough earmarked as to be 
specific employment areas. The proposals are compliant with the National Planning 
Policy Framework as they will further the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and in particular that sustainable development commences without 
delay.  
 

6.2 Development is permitted by this Order where it is within the defined range of the 
permitted uses and development parameters. The LDO does not supersede the 
requirement for development to comply with all other relevant UK and international 
legislation, for example building control or environmental permits. The proposal is to 
be time limited and will be subject to annual and periodic monitoring so as to ensure 
it is effective and fit for purpose. 

 
 
  

Page 84



7. Other Implications 
 
7.1 Risk Management  
 

Risk Probability Impact Priority Action 

LDO allows 
development 
which causes a 
nuisance to 
neighbours 

Low High High Conditions are imposed to 
mitigate impacts. 

LDO allows 
development 
which affects 
visual appearance 
of areas 

Low High High Conditions are imposed to 
mitigate impacts. 

Increased activity 
within Employment 
Areas may have 
an impact on traffic 

Low Medium Medium Department of Transport 
thresholds have been applied 
for submission of transport 
statements and transport 
assessments. 

LDO may allow too 
many B8 
developments at 
the expense of B1 
and B2 uses which 
tend to generate 
higher levels of 
employment 

Medium Medium High Restrictions on the LDO 
prevent changes to B8 use in 
Dagenham Dock, and 
prevent changes of use to B8 
if the premises have a floor 
area of 1,000sqm or larger in 
Employment Areas north of 
the A13. 

The Council will 
lose income from 
planning 
application fees  

Low Low Low Only a handful of planning 
applications in the last two 
years would have been 
affected by this LDO. So it 
will not have a significant 
affect on planning income.  

The Council will 
not be able to 
secure S106 
agreements since 
planning 
permission will not 
be required 

Low Low Low  Since the change of use of 
an existing building from one 
commercial use to another 
rarely has a significant 
impact a S106 would not 
normally be justified 

 
7.2 Staffing Issues - The proposals will not necessitate the need for additional staff.  
 
7.3 Customer Impact - The proposals are likely to have a positive effect on the local 

community by attracting new investment and allowing existing businesses to adapt 
to change. This in turn may increase employment opportunities in the borough. 

 
7.4 Crime and Disorder Issues. It is not anticipated that the proposed LDO will have a 

negative impact in terms of crime and disorder.  Indeed the proposal will make it 
easier for business to invest in the borough and bring employment opportunities.  At 
the same time there will be less vacant buildings and less opportunity for criminal 

Page 85



damage.  It will be important, with the removal of the need for planning permission 
around change of use and minor redevelopment that applicants are reminded at the 
outset of the need to keep buildings and building materials secure during 
redevelopment. 

 
 
Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 

• LDOs and Localism: Can local development orders contribute to the new planning 
agenda? Planning Advisory Service (April 2011). 

 
List of appendices: 

• Appendix 1: London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Employment Areas Local 
Development Order and Statement of Reasons. 

Page 86



1 

 

Appendix 1 
 
 
 
London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Employment 
Areas Local Development Order and Statement of 
Reasons. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Barking and Dagenham: a business friendly borough  

 
August 2013 

Page 87



2 

 

Contents 
 
A. Barking and Dagenham: London’s Newest Opportunity   
 
Statement of Reasons  
 
1. Introduction  
 
2. Consultation on the LDO 
 
3. Purpose of the LDO  
 
4. Area covered by the LDO 
 
5. What does the LDO permit? 
 
6. Conditions 
 
7. Informatives 
 
8. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
9. How will the LDO be administered and monitored? 
 
 
Barking and Dagenham Employment Area Local Development Order 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A:  Plan showing areas included within the Barking and Dagenham  

Employment Areas LDO 
 
Appendix B: Pre-development Notification Form  
 
Appendix C: HSE Consultation Zones 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



3 

 

A  Barking and Dagenham: London’s Newest Opportunity  
 
A1 The Council’s overarching vision is encouraging growth and unlocking the 

potential of Barking and Dagenham and its residents. This Local Development 
Order has been devised to encourage growth in line with the Council’s 
emerging Economic Growth Strategy. 
 

A2 Barking and Dagenham has some of the best value land for development and 
the most affordable premises for businesses, both large and small, in London. 
It also has some of the capital’s largest stretches of undeveloped riverside 
frontage. 
 

A3 The borough combines the advantages of London’s unmatched accessibility 
and markets, with the benefits of the suburbs – with 530 hectares of Green 
Belt land, plus 25 parks and open spaces, and tree lined streets. 

 
A4 Barking and Dagenham has a long history of manufacturing excellence. 

Industry flourished thanks to strategic transport links, proximity to substantial 
markets and a skilled population with competitive wages and committed to 
hard work – these strengths continue to make Barking and Dagenham a great 
place to do business today. 

 
A5 The borough is turning its manufacturing strengths and rich industrial heritage 

into creating a low carbon future, while winning high profile accolades for 
quality buildings and developments such as the award for Best European 
Public Space for Barking Town Square. 

 
A6 The Rivers Thames and Roding, which played such a key role in the 

borough’s economic heritage, remain central to its future, not only in terms of 
transporting freight, but also in delivering a high quality place in which to live 
and work. 

 
A7 A four-year £15million Local Economic Growth Initiative programme enabled 

the opening of Barking Enterprise Centre and Dagenham Business Centre, 
and helped build a strong foundation for comprehensive enterprise and 
business support. As a result, Barking and Dagenham has one of the highest 
business start-up rates of any borough in the country. 

 
A8 More than 20,000 new homes are proposed to be built in the borough over the 

next 15 years which, in turn, will bring new businesses and customers into the 
borough. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



4 

 

A Well Connected Place 
A9 Barking and Dagenham is at the heart of East London with excellent road and 

public transport links. Stratford, Canary Wharf, The Royal Docks and the City 
of London are all accessible within 20 minutes. Crossrail will result in 
Chadwell Heath station being a 24 minutes journey to Liverpool Street and 
under an hour to Heathrow. The A13 also leads west to London City Airport in 
under ten minutes. Stansted and Southend airports can be reached in under 
an hour. The A12, A13, and A406 provide convenient access to Central 
London, the M11 corridor, the M25 and the wider South East including the 
new London Gateway Port complex at Stanford-le-Hope. 

 
A10 The borough’s position makes it ideal as a location for businesses serving 

London and the south east. This includes the substantial logistics sector 
already in the borough which could be supplemented by a range of 
enterprises offering support. Some of the companies that have taken 
advantage of Barking and Dagenham’s location include Ford’s, British 
Bakeries, Innovative Output Solutions, DHL, UPS, TNT and Kuehne + Nagel. 

 
A11 Barking and Dagenham also offers scope for further sustainable freight 

movements with more safeguarded wharves than any other London Borough. 
Rail freight capacity is also available including direct access onto the High 
Speed 1 line into continental Europe. The River Thames also has active 
wharves at Ford, Dagenham Dock and River Road and more than 2km of 
frontage for public access at Barking Riverside. Barking and Dagenham 
therefore offers some of the most extensive undeveloped stretches of 
riverside frontage in London. 

 
London Sustainable Industries Park (LSIP) 

A12 The LSIP at Dagenham Dock will be the UK’s largest concentration of 
environmental industries and technologies with significant opportunities for 
investment. 

 
A13 Leading green enterprises already present at the LSIP are: Closed Loop 

Recycling (turning used food grade plastic into new packaging), Berryman 
Glass (glass recycling), Van Dalen UK (Recycled materials), K & D Joinery 
(building for the retrofit market), ING Solar (design and installation of 
photovoltaic systems) and OCL Regeneration (recycled aggregates) are 
benefiting from being based at the LSIP. 

 
A14 Superb transport links into Central London provide a powerful incentive for 

those businesses locating in the Park. Dagenham Dock is served both by the 
C2C train service with fast connections to Central London and the East 
London Transit (ELT) offers easy connections to Barking and Ilford town 
centres. 
 

A15 There are significant opportunities for new sustainable industrial development 
at the LSIP. For further information visit www.londonsip.com 

 
 

Page 90



5 

 

Businesseast: attractive large scale site combining  
                          bio-science and business 
 

A16 Businesseast, the former 44 hectare Sanofi site, is located opposite 
Dagenham East station on the District Line. 

 
A17 The site offers easy access to London, significant vacant brownfield land, dry 

and wet laboratory space, sterile and temperature-controlled buildings, air 
handling systems, micro labs and associated offices. All these facilities would 
be prohibitively expensive to build from scratch, underlining the hugely 
attractive offer the area provides. 
 

A18 The site is ideally placed for development as a leading-edge science park for 
individual companies or a university or group of universities. Some existing lab 
buildings can be maximised through development into individual units for 
research, or as the base for start-up companies active in research and 
development, biotech and the pharmaceutical or bioscience sectors. 

 
For further information visit www.business-east.co.uk 

 
South Dagenham & Beam Park West: large scale brownfield sites  

                                                                            with great potential 
 

A19 The restructuring of Ford means two substantial development sites are 
available. Beam Park West offers over 15 hectares with a new Planning 
Prospectus setting out a range of opportunities. 

 
A20 AXA REIM have recently obtained planning consent for 38,090sqm B1, B2, 

B8 development on a 9 hectare site north of Dagenham Dock station (Orion 
Park) providing new units on the basis of freehold/leasehold design and build 
development, constructed to occupiers specific requirements. Developments 
can be delivered within 12 months of parties agreeing contracts. 

 
For information visit: www.orionpark.co.uk 
 
London’s Newest Opportunity   

 
A21 Full details of London’s Newest Opportunity can be found at: 

www.lbbd.gov.uk/londonsnewestopportunity 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



6 

 

Statement of Reasons for London Borough of Barking and 

Dagenham Employment Areas Draft Local Development Order 

 
1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 This document provides a Statement of Reasons for the Draft Barking and 

Dagenham Employment Areas Local Development Order (LDO) and a copy of 
the Draft LDO itself. The LDO has been made to support the objectives of the 
Council’s emerging Economic Growth Strategy and to make it easier for 
developers to comply with Local Plan policy. 

 
1.2 Article 34 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) (England) Order 2010 (DMPO) paragraph (1) outlines that ‘where 
a local planning authority propose to make an LDO they shall first prepare: 

 
(a) A draft of the order; and 
(b) A statement of their reasons for making the order’. 
 

1.3  A draft of the Order follows this statement. 
 

1.4 Article 34, paragraph (2) of the DMPO states that ‘the statement of reasons 
shall contain: 

 
(a) A description of the development which the order would permit; and  
(b) A plan or statement identifying the land to which the order would 
relate’. 

 
1.5 The text in this document acts as the statement of reasons for making the 

LDO. A plan identifying the land to which the LDO relates is attached as 
Appendix A. 
 

1.6 The Council have already undertaken a Habitats Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for the Core Strategy and Borough Wide Development 
Policies DPD. The results of this Screening Report, which were agreed by 
Natural England, were that the suite of documents would not result in likely 
significant effects upon a Natura 2000 site. Given that the LDO implements 
policy CE4 of the Core Strategy it is considered it is not necessary to do a 
separate screening for this LDO. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



7 

 

2. Consultation on the LDO 
 
2.1 The Council is undertaking public consultation on the Employment Areas LDO 

for a period of xx days from xx to xx in compliance with the publicity and 
consultation requirements of Article 34 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure)(England) Order 2010. This includes 
consultation with the Barking and Dagenham Chamber of Commerce and 
local Business Forums. 
 

2.2 Comments made on the LDO may be made in the following way 
 

http://barking-dagenham.limehouse.co.uk/portal/  

Alternatively, you can request a copy by emailing planningpolicy@lbbd.gov.uk 

or writing to: 

Claire Adams 
Regeneration 
London Borough of Barking and Dagenham 
Room 104 
Town Hall  
1 Town Square  
Barking  
IG11 7LU 
 

Responses can be made online at  

http://barking-dagenham.limehouse.co.uk/portal/, sent by email to 

planningpolicy@lbbd.gov.uk or by post to the above address.  

2.3 Following consultation, all responses will be recorded, analysed and assessed 
in a Statement of Community Involvement report which will inform and 
accompany the final version of the LDO. 

 
2.4 This version will be reported to Barking and Dagenham council’s Cabinet and 

Assembly seeking approval to submit the final LDO to the Secretary of State 
for adoption. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



8 

 

3.  Purpose of the LDO 
 
3.1 The purpose of the Barking and Dagenham Employment Area LDO is to 

extend the range of permitted development rights in the borough’s designated 
employment areas to allow businesses to change use or make certain 
alterations without the need for planning permission. The changes of use 
allowed by the HMO are consistent with Core Strategy Policy CE4 of the Local 
Plan. It is intended that the LDO will make it easier for businesses to diversify 
or move to bigger premises without the hurdle of seeking planning consent. It 
therefore helps implement the Council’s emerging Economic Growth Strategy 
and the Council’s Local Plan. 
 
 

4. Area covered by the LDO 
 
4.1 The LDO relates to all employment areas designated on the London Borough 

of Barking and Dagenham’s Local Plan Proposals Map (February 2012) as 
Strategic Industrial Locations (SILs) or Locally Significant Industrial Sites 
LSISs) excluding the Sanofi site and Ford Stamping Plant. These are shown 
on the plan attached as Appendix A. These comprise: 

 

• Kingsway Industrial Estate (SIL) 

• River Road Employment Area (SIL) 

• Rippleside (SIL) 

• Dagenham Dock (SIL) 

• Ford (SIL) 
 

• Freshwater Road (LSIS) 

• Sterling and Wantz Industrial Estate (LSIS) 

• Hertford Road (LSIS) 

• Fresh Wharf (southern part) (LSIS) 

• Gascoigne Business Area (LSIS) 

• Lyon Business Park (LSIS) 
 
 

5. What does the LDO permit? 
 
5.1 An LDO is a grant of planning permission through Section 61A of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended. 
 

5.2 In addition to existing permitted development rights and in line with Core 
Strategy Policy CE4 of the Local Plan the Barking and Dagenham 
Employment Areas LDO will grant planning permission within the employment 
areas shown on the plan in Appendix A for the following changes of use. 
These rights do not apply to sites within 20 metres of the boundary of existing 
residential properties or residential properties with the benefit of planning 
permission whether built or not: 

 

Page 94



9 

 

(a) Change of use from B2 to B8 of the Use Classes Order; 
(b) Change of use from B1, to B2 or B8 of the Use Classes Order; 
(c) Change of use from B8 to B1(b), B1(c) or B2 of the Use Classes Order; 
(d) Change of use from D1 to B1(b), B1(c), B2 or B8 of the Use Classes 

Order; 
 
5.3 In addition to existing permitted development rights the Barking and 

Dagenham Employment Areas LDO will grant planning permission within the 
employment areas shown on the plan in Appendix A for the following 
development for B1(b), B1(c), B2 and B8 uses: 

 
(a)  Installation of new windows where they are more than 20 metres from 

the boundary of existing residential properties or residential properties 
with the benefit of planning permission whether built or not: 

(b)  Replacement windows and recladding of building exteriors where they 
are more than 5 metres from the boundary of existing residential 
properties or residential properties with the benefit of planning 
permission whether built or not: 

 
5.4 In line with Core Strategy Policy CE4 of the Local Plan development is not 

permitted by this LDO for the following: 
 

• North of the A13 a change of use from B1, B2 or D1 to B8 if the change 
of use would involve floorspace of 1,000 square metres or above 

• Within Dagenham Dock (as shown in Appendix A) change of use from 
B1, B2 or D1 to B8 and any other change of use permitted by this LDO 
to a use which is not in the environmental industries sector. 
 

5.5 This LDO does not introduce any additional permitted development rights for 
waste management uses. This includes Dagenham Dock and therefore for the 
purposes of this LDO they are excluded from the definition of environmental 
industries. This is because the Council has a clearly defined strategy for 
meeting the waste apportionment set by the Mayor of London and granting 
additional permitted development rights for waste management uses would 
undermine this.  Therefore planning applications for waste management uses 
will continue to be necessary and will be determined against the policies in the 
Joint Waste Plan. 
http://www.lbbd.gov.uk/Environment/PlanningPolicy/LocalPlan/Pages/JointWa
stePlan.aspx). 

 
 
5.6 This LDO does not permit development which has an unacceptable impact on 

the surrounding transport and road network. Therefore for changes of use to a 
building between 2499 and 3999 square metres of floorspace a transport 
statement must be submitted. For changes of use involving a building over 
3999 square metres of floorspace a transport assessment must be submitted. 
This is to allow the Council to determine whether the proposed change of use 
has an unacceptable impact on the surrounding transport and road network. 

 

Page 95



10 

 

6. Conditions 

6.1 The LDO is subject to the following conditions: 
 

General Conditions 

GC1 Any planning conditions imposed on the existing planning consent for 
the current lawful use will continue to apply to any change of use 
permitted under this LDO. For the avoidance of doubt the Council will 
supply a list of existing planning conditions when it confirms any LDO 
notification. 

GC2 The LDO and the terms within it will be active for a period of three 
years following the day of its adoption on XX 2013 and will expire 
following this period. It will cease to apply on the Day following the third 
anniversary of its adoption, i.e. XX 2016. 

GC3 Subject to these conditions, uses which have started under the 
provision of the LDO can continue even if the LDO expires or is 
modified, but no new changes of use will be allowed under the terms of 
the LDO following its expiry without express planning permission.  

Specific conditions 

SC1 A transport statement will be required for any change of use to a 
building over 2499 square metres gross floorspace and a transport 
assessment for any change of use to a building over 3999 square 
metres floorspace. 

 
Reason. 
In line with Policy BR10 of the Council’s Local Plan to ensure changes 
of use do not have an unacceptable impact on the surrounding 
transport and road network. 

 
 

7. Informatives 

 

IN1 The LDO does not grant consent for the change of use of, or 
modifications to, any existing or future listed buildings situated within 
the boundary of the LDO area, which must be the subject of planning 
permission.  

 

IN2 The LDO does not grant consent for Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 
development (for which an Environmental Statement is required) within 
the meaning of regulation 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2011  

 

IN3 The LDO does not remove the requirement for development to comply 

Page 96



11 

 

with all other relevant UK and international legislation for example 
advertisement consent, licensing regulations and the Building 
Regulations. 

 

IN4 Approval for permitted development granted under this Order is based 
on the information submitted with the application. If this information is 
found to be incorrect, the proposal would no longer be permitted under 
the LDO and any approval given would be null and void. A full planning 
application would then be required to regularise the development. 

 

IN5 Any changes of use within Flood Zone 3 may require a Land Drainage 
Consent from the Environment Agency. 

 

IN6 When  the Council confirms a LDO notification by a developer it will 
also confirm the existing planning conditions that apply to the 
development. To vary any existing planning conditions an application 
will then need to be made to the Council in the normal way.  

 

IN7 HSE consultation zones exist on Dagenham Dock around the 
Stolthaven complex and the around the East Ham Gas Holder station. 
These are shown in Appendix B. Where any change of use is likely to 
increase the number of people working at the premises the HSE must 
be consulted. The LDO does not waive this requirement. 

 
 

8. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
8.1  Permitted development may be liable to pay CIL (CIL Regulation (3)(a)(ii)) 

from 6 April 2013. When you intend to commence development permitted by 
an LDO you must submit a Notice of Chargeable Development to the local 
authority before you commence this development. The CIL charge is then 
calculated and applied by the Council (if the development is liable to pay the 
charge) just as though planning permission had been issued. This form can 
be found on the Council’s website: 

 
http://www.lbbd.gov.uk/Environment/planning/Pages/AdoptedMayoralCIL.aspx 
Please contact us on 020 8724 8097 if you require advice on whether your 
development is CIL liable. 

 
 

9. How will the LDO be administered and monitored? 
 
9.1 Notification of proposed development under the Barking and Dagenham 

Employment Area LDO must be made to the Local Planning Authority prior to 
commencement of development using the pre-development notification form 
attached as Appendix C. The application form can also be found on the 
Council’s website: 
 
http://www.lbbd.gov.uk/Environment/planning/Pages/Applicationformsandvalid
ationcriteria.aspx 

Page 97



12 

 

 
9.2 Any proposal which fits into the categories permitted by the LDO can take 

place without planning permission (subject to conditions). 
 

9.3 The Council will acknowledge receipt of submissions by email and within 10 
workings days of this date the Council will:  

 

• Confirm in writing if development is permitted by the LDO and, if not, 
why. 

• Ask for further information and a further 10 working days to consider 
the proposal on receipt of that information 

• Confirm the existing planning conditions which will continue to apply to 
the new use permitted by the LDO. 

 
Validation Requirements 
 

• All plans and drawings must include a North point, specify paper size 
(e.g. A3) and a scale bar indicating a minimum of 0-10metres. The 
reason for this is that all plans submitted are scanned. Two copies of 
the plans are required. 

• The location plan should identify the land to which the application 
relates. It should be based on an up-to-date map at a scale of 1:1250 
or 1:2500. The site should be edged in red and sufficient roads and 
buildings should be identified. A blue line should be drawn around any 
other land owned by the applicant, close or adjoining the site. 

• The site plan should typically be at a scale of 1:100 or 1:200 identifying 
the position of the development in relation to the site boundaries and 
other existing buildings on the site, with written dimensions including 
those to the site boundaries. Where appropriate, the plan should also 
show the position of the nearest residential property.  

• Notice of Chargeable Development (only required if the development is 
CIL liable) 

• A transport statement will be required for any change of use over 2499 
square metres and a transport assessment for any change of use over 
3999 square metres. Please see condition SC1. 

 
Monitoring 
 
9.4 The Council will be monitoring any changes on the ground and should any 

breaches of the terms of the LDO occur, the council will consider appropriate 
enforcement action. 
 

9.5 The LDO will be formally monitored within the Local Plan (formally known as 
the Local Development Framework) Authorities Monitoring Report which is 
published annually. This will highlight how many developments have been 
allowed under the LDO and the impact this has had on the Employment Areas 
which it applies to. This will be done using information submitted in the pre-
development notification forms. 

 

Page 98



13 

 

9.6 The LDO will also be subject to a yearly review by the Delegated Decisions 
Review Panel. 

 
9.7 After three years from the date of adoption, the LDO will automatically cease 

unless the council chooses to renew the LDO in its current or a revised form. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



14 

 

Section 61A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 
London Borough of Barking and Dagenham 
 
Employment Areas Local Development Order 
 
This Local Development Order (“LDO”) is made by the London Borough of Barking 
and Dagenham under Section 61A (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended). 
 
It applies to the designated employment areas - Strategic Industrial Locations (SILs) 
and Locally Significant industrial Sites (LSISs) - detailed on the plan in Appendix A. 
 
This LDO grants planning permission subject to conditions and limitations as set out 
in this Order. Any development that does not comply with the conditions and 
limitations of this LDO will require planning permission. Unauthorised development 
will be liable to enforcement action. 
 
The LDO and the terms within it will be active for a period of three years following the 
day of its adoption on XX 2013 and will expire following this period. It will cease to 
apply on the Day following the third anniversary of its adoption, i.e. XX 2016.  

Subject to these conditions, uses which have started under the provision of the LDO 
can continue even if the LDO expires or is modified, but no new changes of use will 
be allowed under the terms of the LDO following its expiry without express planning 
permission.  

Class 1  
Permitted Development  

In addition to existing permitted development rights the Barking and Dagenham 
Employment Areas LDO will grant planning permission within the employment areas 
shown on the plan in Appendix A for the following changes of use. These rights do 
not apply to sites within 20 metres of the boundary of existing residential properties 
or residential properties with the benefit of planning permission whether built or not: 
 
(a) Change of use from B2 to B8 of the Use Classes Order; 
(b) Change of use from B1, to B2 or B8 of the Use Classes Order; 
(c) Change of use from B8 to B1(b), B1(c) or B2 of the Use Classes Order; 
(d) Change of use from D1 to B1(b), B1(c), B2 or B8 of the Use Classes Order; 
 
In addition to existing permitted development rights the Barking and Dagenham 
Employment Areas LDO will grant planning permission within the employment areas 
shown on the plan in Appendix A for the following development for B1(b), B1(c), B2 
and B8 uses:: 
 
(a)  Installation of new windows where they are more than 20 metres from the 

boundary of existing residential properties or residential properties with the 
benefit of planning permission whether built or not: 

Page 100



15 

 

(b)  Replacement windows and recladding of building exteriors where they are 
more than 5 metres from the boundary of existing residential properties or 
residential properties with the benefit of planning permission whether built or 
not: 

 
Development not permitted   

Development is not permitted by this LDO for the following: 

(a) North of the A13 a change of use from B1, B2 or D1 to B8 if the change of use 
would involve floorspace of 1,000 square metres or above 

(b) Within Dagenham Dock (as shown in Appendix A) change of use from B1, B2 
or D1 to B8 and any other change of use permitted by this LDO to a use 
which is not in the environmental industries sector. 

 
This LDO does not introduce any additional permitted development rights for waste 
management uses. Planning applications for waste management uses will continue 
to be necessary and will be determined against the policies in the Joint Waste Plan. 
http://www.lbbd.gov.uk/Environment/PlanningPolicy/LocalPlan/Pages/JointWastePla
n.aspx). 
 
This LDO does not permit development which has an unacceptable impact on the 
surrounding transport and road network. Therefore for changes of use between 2499 
and 3999 square metres of floorspace a transport statement must be submitted. For 
changes of use involving over 3999 square metres of floorspace transport 
assessment must be submitted. This is to allow the Council to determine whether the 
proposed change of use has an unacceptable impact on the surrounding transport 
and road network. 
 

General Conditions 

GC1 Any planning conditions imposed on the existing permitted development will 
continue to apply to any change of use permitted under this LDO. For the 
avoidance of doubt the Council will supply a list of existing planning conditions 
when it confirms a LDO notification.  

GC2 The LDO and the terms within it will be active for a period of three years 
following the day of its adoption on XX 2013 and will expire following this 
period. It will cease to apply on the Day following the third anniversary of its 
adoption, i.e. XX 2016. 

GC3 Subject to these conditions, uses which have started under the provision of 
the LDO can continue even if the LDO expires or is modified, but no new 
changes of use will be allowed under the terms of the LDO following its expiry 
without express planning permission. 

 
Specific conditions 

Page 101



16 

 

SC1 A transport statement will be required for any change of use to a building over 
2499 square metres gross floorspace and a transport assessment for any 
change of use to a building over 3999 square metres floorspace. 

 
Reason. 
In line with Policy BR10 of the Council’s Local Plan to ensure changes of use 
do not have an unacceptable impact on the surrounding transport and road 
network. 

 
Informatives 

IN1 The LDO does not grant consent for the change of use of, or modifications to, 
any existing or future listed buildings situated within the boundary of the LDO 
area, which must be the subject of planning permission.  

 

IN2 The LDO does not grant consent for Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 development 
(for which an Environmental Statement is required) within the meaning of 
regulation 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 2011  

 

IN3 The LDO does not remove the requirement for development to comply with all 
other relevant UK and international legislation for example advertisement 
consent, licensing regulations and the Building Regulations. 

 

IN4 Approval for permitted development granted under this Order is based on the 
information submitted with the application. If this information is found to be 
incorrect, the proposal would no longer be permitted under the LDO and any 
approval given would be null and void. A full planning application would then 
be required to regularise the development. 

 

IN5 Any changes of use within Flood Zone 3 may require a Land Drainage 
Consent from the Environment Agency. 

 

IN6 When  the Council confirms a LDO notification by a developer it will also 
confirm the existing planning conditions that apply to the development. To 
vary any existing planning conditions an application will then need to be made 
to the Council in the normal way.  

 

IN7 HSE consultation zones exist on Dagenham Dock around the Stolthaven 
complex and the around the East Ham Gas Holder station. These are shown 
in Appendix B. Where any change of use is likely to increase the number of 
people working at the premises the HSE must be consulted. The LDO does 
not waive this requirement. 

Page 102



17 

 

 Appendix A: Plan showing areas included within the Barking and 
Dagenham Employment Areas LDO 

Page 103



18 

 

Appendix B 
 
East Ham HSE Consultation Zone 

 
 

Page 104



19 

 

Dagenham Dock – Stolthaven Consultation Zone 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



20 

 

Appendix C: Pre-development Notification Form 
 
By submitting this form you are requesting that the London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham confirm whether the works you are proposing would constitute permitted 
development under the additional rights granted by the Barking and Dagenham 
Employment Areas Local Development Order (LDO). 
 
In assessing this form and the plans provided, the Council will only consider whether 
your proposal is of a type which constitutes permitted development as provided for 
by the LDO and, as such, no opinion will be provided on other forms of potentially 
permitted development. With regard to planning, this will constitute a formal 
response as required by the Order. Please note that your development will still be 
subject to the normal requirements with regard to the need for Building Regulation 
consent and other legislation. 
 
Please complete this form and return to the Council together with the: 
 

• Location plan (scale 1:1250 or 1:2500) 

• Site plan (1:00 or 1:200) 

• Notice of Chargeable Development (where development is CIL liable) 
 
All measurements should be provided in metric and floor areas specified as gross 
internal area (GIA). 
 
The ‘pre-notification’ fee (£50) must be paid to the Council with your submission. 
Cheques should be made payable to ‘London Borough of Barking and Dagenham’. 
 
The Council will acknowledge receipt of your submission by email (it is therefore 
essential that an email address is provided). Within 10-working days of receipt of 
your submission the Council will: 

 

• Confirm in writing (or by email) if development is permitted by the LDO and, if 
not, why. 

• Ask for further information and a further 10 working days to consider the 
proposal on receipt of that information 

• Confirm the existing planning conditions which will continue to apply to the 
new use permitted by the LDO. 

 
 
The completed form and drawings should be sent by post to: 
Development Management Manager, London Borough of Barking and Dagenham, 
Room 104, Town Hall, Barking, IG11 7LU or by email to 
planning@lbbd.gov.uk 

Page 106



21 

 

 
Applicant  Agent 

NameJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ. 
AddressJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ.. 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ.. 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ.. 
PostcodeJJJJJJJJJJJJ. 
Telephone noJJJJJJJJJJ.. 
EmailJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 

NameJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ. 
AddressJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ.. 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ.. 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ.. 
PostcodeJJJJJJJJJJJJ. 
Telephone noJJJJJJJJJJ.. 
EmailJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 

Address / location of proposed works 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 
 

Description of development or change of use (and Use Classes if known) 
������������������������������������. 
������������������������������������. 
������������������������������������. 
������������������������������������. 
������������������������������������. 
������������������������������������. 
 

Gross Floor Area of development proposed���������������. 
 

Brief statement of why you consider the proposed development to be 
permitted by the LDO 
������������������������������������ 
������������������������������������ 
������������������������������������ 
������������������������������������ 

Date works will commence on 
�����������������������������������.. 
 

 

Declaration I hereby give notice of my intention to carry out the above works. I also 
confirm my intention that, if it is confirmed that planning permission is not required as 
provided for by the Barking and Dagenham Employment Areas LDO, I shall carry out the 
proposed work in accordance with the details included on this form. I understand that 
any variation from these details may require a re-assessment of the situation. 
 
Name�������������������������������....... 
 

Signature�������������������������������.. 
 

Date���������������������������������.. 
 

Attached information 
I attach the following information: 
 
Location plan (scale 1:1250 or 1:2500) 
 

Page 107



22 

 

Site plan (1:500 or 1:200) 
 
The pre-notification fee of £50 (cheques should be made payable to ‘London 
Borough of Barking and Dagenham’) 
 
A transport statement must be submitted for any development between 2500 and 
3999 square metres gross floorspace and a transport assessment for any 
development over 4000 square metres gross floorspace 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ........................................ 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ 

 

 
 
 
Notes: 
 
Freedom of Information Act: 
Please note with regard to the above legislation, it is possible that this enquiry, 
together with any response made by this Council, could be made available for public 
inspection at some future date. 
 
Building Regulations: 
Please contact London Borough of Barking and Dagenham’s Building Control 
Section concerning any separate consent that may be required under the Building 
Regulations. 
 

Page 108



CABINET 
 

24 September 2013 
 

Title: Future Arrangements for the Management of Scrattons Community Centre  
 

Report of the Leader of the Council 
 

Open Report For Decision  
 

Wards Affected: Thames  
 

Key Decision: Yes 

Report Author: Andy Knight, Group Manager for 
Community, Sport and Arts 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8724 8522  
E-mail: andy.knight@lbbd.gov.uk  

Accountable Divisional Director: Paul Hogan, Divisional Director for Culture and Sport 
 

Accountable Director: Anne Bristow, Corporate Director of Adult and Community 
Services 
 

Summary 
 
This report seeks approval to grant a lease to the Scrattons Community Association in 
respect of the Community Centre formally known as Scrattons Sport and Social Club.   
Cabinet has previously approved (21 December 2010; minute 76 refers) the transfer of 
several community centres into community management via the award of a long term 
lease.  
 
Assembly (5 December 2012; minute 51 refers) received a petition about the Scrattons 
Sport and Social Club.  It supported the option for the local community to take formal 
responsibility for the building through a lease agreement subject to funding being 
identified to meet the building costs, which has been achieved. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
(i) Authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services and Chief Finance Officer, to grant a 30 year lease for the 
Scrattons Community Centre to the Scrattons Community Association, subject to 
satisfactory negotiation of the lease and associated requirements; and  
 

(ii) In the event that it is not possible to enter into a lease agreement with the 
Scrattons Community Association, to authorise officers to enter into a lease on the 
same terms with another suitable organisation. 

 

Reason(s) 
 
The proposal will assist the Council in making better use of its resources and assets and 
links to the overall priority and vision for better health and wellbeing. 

 
  

AGENDA ITEM 8

Page 109



1. Background 
 

1.1 Following the surrender of the lease by the Scrattons Sports and Social Club on 13 
July 2012 the building reverted back to the Council.  

 
1.2 On 26 July 2012 the building was subject to an arson attack and significant damage 

was caused. Work is underway to rebuild the Community Centre utilising funds 
received from the Council’s insurers. A verbal update on progress will be provided 
at the Cabinet meeting. 
 
Petition to Assembly 

 
1.3 A petition was presented to Assembly (5 December 2012; minute 51 refers) on 

behalf of the Scrattons Farm residents to save the sport and social club.  

1.4 At the meeting Assembly: 

i)  noted that the petition from local residents to save the Scratton’s Sports and 
Social Club had received a positive response, 

ii) noted the steps that had been taken to ensure that the community would 
continue to be able to use the building for social purposes, 

iii) supported the option for the local community to take formal responsibility for the 
building through a lease agreement subject to funding being identified to meet 
the building costs. 

 
Governance arrangements for community halls 

1.5 A policy was established in Barking and Dagenham in 1986 permitting local 
community associations to manage Community Centres under a management 
agreement on weekdays.   A 2003 report to Cabinet considered the possibility of 
formally leasing premises to community groups with the Council retaining 
responsibility for the maintenance of the centres.  In 2005 a further report to the 
Cabinet recommended that an asset transfer take place under full repairing and 
insuring leases.   

1.6 Following the Government’s endorsement of the value of asset transfer as detailed 
above, a report to Cabinet (9 September 2008; minute 38 refers) restated the case 
for asset transfer in this Borough and the Cabinet agreed a policy which included: 

Community Halls may be transferred on a long lease to voluntary sector 
organisations where a business case has demonstrated social or community 
benefits which would arise from such a transfer and where the management 
capacity of the organisation has been demonstrated to be sufficiently robust. 

1.7 At the Cabinet meeting (21 December 2011), it was agreed to grant a registrable 
long lease for several of the community centres in the Borough to their respective 
Community Associations at peppercorn rents, in recognition of the age and state of 
repair of those facilities. 

 
  

Page 110



2. Proposals and issues 
 
 Benefits of community management  
 
2.1 Transferring the Community Centre as an asset to the community can have the 

following benefits: 
 

• To be of no financial burden to the Council while still enabling valued community 
services to be available to the community 
 

• To provide a stable and ongoing infrastructure for a community hub in the 
Borough for the foreseeable future 
 

• To increase the capacity of the Scrattons Community Association to manage 
and deliver diverse programmes to meet local needs and interests, and to 
contribute to wider partnership objectives such as building a strong community 
 

• To enable the Scrattons Community Association to leverage funding from other 
sources (not available to the Council) to enable continued investment in the 
facilities, regular  upgrading and maintenance of the community centre’s  
infrastructure 

 
 Scrattons Community Association 
 
2.2 Following a public meeting on 1 December 2012, a steering group was set up by 

local residents and interested parties. This subsequently became constituted as the 
Scrattons Community Association, which is now negotiating with the Council to take 
on the operation of the new Community Centre on the same conditions as the other 
community asset transfers the Council has agreed for its community halls. 
 

2.3  However, as this is a brand new building and in line with more recent decisions, it is 
proposed that the lease will be on commercial financial terms but  the rent to be 
paid will be wholly offset by a grant from the Council, which will be conditional on 
the Community Association achieving the anticipated social objectives for the 
Community Centre.  
 

2.4  The approval of the lease will also be conditional on the Council having the 
opportunity to appoint trustees (directors) to the Community Association if so 
required, and the lease will not permit the premises to be sub let and will include 
break clauses (the first at two years into the life of the lease) to protect the interests 
of both the Community Association and the Council.  
 

2.5 It is understood that corporate guidelines are to be produced that will set out how 
the grant to provide rent subsidy will be monitored consistently across the Council. 
However, as the Scrattons Community Association is a new organisation that has 
not had time to build up any cash reserves and there is no programme of activities 
yet in place at the new centre to generate income, it is not proposed to review the 
appropriateness of providing a grant to offset the commercial rent for a period of 
three years. 
 

Page 111



2.6 If for any reason it does not prove possible to enter into a lease agreement with the 
Scrattons Community Association by 1 November 2013, then it is proposed to put in 
place a temporary management agreement to protect the interests of the Council. 
 

2.7 Should negotiations break down with the Community Association it is proposed to 
advertise more widely the opportunity to take on the lease. 

 
3. Options Appraisal  
 
3.1 The options available to Cabinet centre around deciding on the most efficient and 

effective way to manage the new community centre. Three options have been 
identified: 

 
Option A - Offer the Scrattons Community Association the opportunity to take on the 
operation of the community centre via a long term lease. This option is 
recommended as providing the best balance of providing value for money to the 
Council whilst retaining facilities for the community. 

 
Option B - Let the building through the Council’s normal commercial letting 
procedures. The geographic isolation of the area will limit the level of interest that 
this opportunity would generate. Experience suggests that it is likely that the 
building would attract offers from faith groups; however, it is not considered that this 
would provide the best outcome for local residents in terms of the range of activities 
and services that would be available to them at the Community Centre. Also, at 
Assembly, Members specifically supported a local community management 
arrangement for the Community Centre.    

 
Option C – Seek to enter into a lease for the Community Centre with an alternative 
provider. This remains an option should the Scrattons Community Association not 
wish to take on the lease or cannot provide suitable reassurance of their ability to 
manage the facility.  However, given the work that the Community Association has 
done to date and the closeness of their members to the community, it is considered 
appropriate to give them the first option to take on the operation of the Centre. 

 
3.2 This report recommends that option A should be implemented but if this does not 

prove feasible then option C should be pursued. 
 
4. Consultation  
 
4.1 Thames Ward Councillors are directly involved in shaping the development of the 

new Scrattons Community Association.  
 
4.2 Public meetings have been held to inform local people about the proposals for the 

future operation of the community centre and to encourage interested people to 
become directly involved in its operation. 

 
5. Financial Implications  
 
 Implications completed by: Roger Hampson, Group Manager - Finance 
 
5.1 There are no direct financial implications for the Council. The preferred option would 

see the community centre operated at no cost to the Council by the Scrattons 

Page 112



Community Association via a long term lease. However, it should be noted that if 
the community association fails to meet the terms of the lease the community 
centre would revert to the Council.  

 
5.2 If this occurred it is likely that the Council would incur revenue costs, which have not 

been budgeted for, until a new management arrangement could be put in place. 
 
6. Legal Implications  
 

Implications completed by: Jason Ofosu, Acting Senior Property Lawyer 
 
6.1 The Council will retain the freehold interest and grant a long lease of 30 years for a 

commercial rent to the relevant Community Association. 
 

6.2 The Council will enter into a management agreement with the relevant Community 
Association to deal with the management of the Centre.  
 

6.3 The Council and the relevant Community Association will agree heads of terms for 
leasing arrangements. 
 

6.4 The Chief Executive can agree the terms of the lease and management agreements 
in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer (Constitution Land Acquisition and 
Disposals Rules refer) and on the advice of Property Services and the Legal 
Practice. 
 

6.5 Section 123 Local Government Act 1972 and the Council’s Land Disposal rules 
require land to be disposed of at market value. The Council has a general power of 
competence under section 1 of the Localism Act, although as always its application 
of these powers must be carefully considered and appropriate to the relevant 
circumstances. Section 1 of the Localism Act allows the Council “to do anything that 
individuals generally may do”. Therefore the council could decide the rent does not 
have to be market value since the Community Association is acting for the benefit of 
the Council, its area or persons' resident or present in the area.  
 

6.6 The lease should be a full repairing and insuring lease so that the Council do not 
bear the cost of repair and maintenance of the Property. The Legal Practice should 
be consulted on the preparation and completion of the lease. 
 

6.7 In the Assembly report (5 December 2012) it was noted by the Legal Practice to 
continue to have due regard to S.149 of the Equality Act which requires public 
bodies to consider all individuals when carrying out their activities. 
 

6.8 Public bodies are therefore required to have regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, advance equal opportunities and foster good relationships between 
different people when undertaking activities. Additionally, this provision encourages 
public bodies to understand how different people will be affected by their activities, 
so that their policies are appropriate and meet different people’s needs. 
 

  

Page 113



7. Other Implications 
 
7.1 Risk Management - The following risks have been identified in relation to this 

proposal: 
 

i) The Community Association do not have the necessary skills or capacity to 
successfully manage the Community Centre.  This risk is mitigated by the 
provision of advice and support to enable Associations to get appropriately 
constituted, and to build capacity.   
 

ii) The Community Association folds for some reason.  It is recognised that many 
groups have been run ably by individuals for many years but they will not be 
able to do so for ever. If the Association were to fold, the lease would be 
terminated, and the property would return to the control of the Council.  There 
would then be another opportunity to re-advertise it to the community to seek 
another managing organisation for a long lease. 

 
iii) The Community Association themselves activate the lease break clause.  In this 

case, the Council would need to consider its position at the time, and again 
could proceed to re-advertise, but the continued availability of the Centre to the 
community could not be guaranteed. 

 
iv) If the Community Association does fold and / or the lease is terminated, charges 

on the property and / or external funding obligations may remain unfulfilled.  This 
is considered to be a small risk, mitigated by advice and support provided to the 
Association.  The drafting of the lease will seek to ensure that any obligations 
entered into by the Community Association remain the legal duty of the 
Association and do not revert to the Council in the case of termination.  

 
v) The Community Centre becomes used exclusively by one group in the 

community, without achieving the wider social objectives for which they were 
designed.  This risk will be mitigated by the insertion of a requirement in the 
lease’s management agreement that the facility must remain fully accessible to 
all in the community. Failure to comply would constitute a breach of the lease 
agreement. Also the Council could of course review whether it is appropriate to 
continue to provide a grant to offset the commercial rent being paid by the 
Community Association. 

 
vi) There may be an impact on the affordability and accessibility of space available 

to groups using the community centre, as the Association reviews pricing 
policies to ensure that they reflect the need to cover repairs and maintenance 
costs, and seek to fill them at all times.  The Council may need to rationalise 
provision if this becomes an issue for any services which it provides. 

 
vii) In the recession, the Community Association cannot find funding sources to 

enable them to do the necessary works to the Community Centre that may arise 
over the life of the lease.  Support and advice is available to Community 
Associations to enable them to bid to all relevant funding bodies.  It is also 
anticipated that the Association may wish to use the skills of local people where 
appropriate to complete works with the aim of increasing their affordability. 

 

Page 114



7.2 Customer Impact - Provisions will be inserted into lease with the community 
association to ensure that the Community Centre remains accessible by all groups 
in the community.  This should mitigate the risk of impacts on equality groups and 
customers. 
 
The transfer of the Community Centre to community groups has the potential to 
positively impact on customers and community cohesion, since the facilities will 
remain open for community use, activities will continue to run which bring people 
from different backgrounds together, and there will be the potential for the 
Community Association to leverage funds not currently available in relation to 
Community Centres to enable their further development. 

 
If the Community Association or other organisations cannot be found to take on the 
centre and a closure is necessary, then, depending on the geographical location 
and presence of other facilities in the area, there is a risk that there will be a 
negative impact on services to customers, and to the ability to build community 
cohesion.  As older people and people with young children are less able to travel to 
alternative facilities, they may be particularly affected by such closures. 

 
7.3 Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults and Children - It is expected that the 

Community Association will provide a programme of positive and diversionary 
activities for young people.  Officers will work with trustees of the club to establish a 
robust safeguarding policies and procedures. .  

 
7.4 Health issues – the Community Centre will provide a safe, comfortable and 

accessible space where local people can meet, socialise and participate in a range 
of activities including those that will support health and wellbeing. 

 
7.5 Crime and Disorder Issues - The Council has a statutory duty to consider crime 

and disorder implications in all its decision making.  
 
 The Community Centre will provide a wide range of activities and quality facilities, 

which will provide positive activities the local residents. When the previous 
Community Centre was closed and not in use it became the target for vandalism 
and arson. Consideration will be given as to how to protect the asset should a delay 
in issuing a lease arise.  

 
 Due to previous incidents at the Community Centre, the leaseholder should be 

required to agree plans with local police and Fire Brigade to ensure minimisation  of 
the possibility of any further incidents. 

 
7.6 Property / Asset Issues - To avoid leaving the building open to possible vandalism 

it is important that the completion of the building work be timed to occur after or at 
the same time as the signing of the lease. 
   
It is intended that the terms of the lease will require the Community Association to 
repair, maintain and insure the facilities. Regular monitoring by Property Services 
will ensure that the Community Association are complying with the lease conditions, 
enabling action to be taken as appropriate if any are in breach.  

 
  

Page 115



Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 
 

• Report to Cabinet, Community halls – savings package, 8 July 2003 

• Report to Cabinet, Community halls – leasing to community associations- rent plan, 
13 December 2005 (Minute 202) 

• Report to Cabinet: Community Facilities Review, 9 September 2008 (Minute 38) 

• Report to Cabinet, Future management of Community halls, 21 December 2010 
(Minute 76) 

• Report to Assembly, Response to Petition re Scrattons Sport and Social Club, 5 
December 2012 

 
List of appendices: 
 
 None 

Page 116



CABINET 
 

24 September 2013 
 

Title: May and Baker Sports Ground 
 

Report of the Leader of the Council  
 

Open Report For Decision  
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Report Author: Paul Hogan, Divisional 
Director, Culture and Sport  
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 227 3576 
E-mail: paul.hogan@lbbd.gov.uk  

Accountable Divisional Director: Paul Hogan, Divisional Director, Culture and Sport  
 

Accountable Director: Anne Bristow, Corporate Director, Adult and Community Services 
 

Summary:  
 
The ownership of the May and Baker sports ground will transfer to the Council as part of 
the s106 agreement relating to the disposal of the Sanofi site. 
 
Due to the revenue cost implications and limited grounds maintenance staffing capacity, it 
is not considered appropriate for the facilities and services provided at the sports ground to 
be delivered by the Council.  
 
The May and Baker Eastbrook Community Club, a limited company with charitable status, 
has been established with the view to the Club taking on the financial and operational 
responsibility for the site at no cost to the Council. 
 
Authority is sought to grant a 25 year lease to the May and Baker Eastbrook Community 
Club. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services and Chief Finance Officer, to grant a 25 year 
lease for the May and Baker sports ground, as shown edged red on the plan at Appendix 
1, to the May and Baker Eastbrook Community Club, subject to satisfactory negotiation of 
the lease and associated requirements relating to the land transfer of the sports ground 
from Sanofi to the Council. 
 

Reason(s) 
 
The proposal will assist the Council in making better use of its resources and assets and 
links to the overall priority and vision for better health and wellbeing. 
 

 
  

AGENDA ITEM 9

Page 117



1. Introduction and Background  
 

1.1 The May and Baker sports ground is located off Dagenham Road in Dagenham 
and is adjacent to the Eastbrookend Country Park. Due to the range and quality of 
facilities at the ground, it is considered to be the Borough’s most important outdoor 
sports facility not currently in Council ownership. 
 

1.2 The site is owned by Sanofi and comprises the following facilities: 
 

• 6 x football pitches – used by 16+ football teams (including 10 youth teams); 

• Floodlit training area; 

• 2 x rugby pitches – used by 2 rugby teams; 

• 2 x cricket pitches – used by 10 cricket teams (including 4 youth teams) 

• 1 x squash court 

• Fitness centre 

• Tennis courts – used by two tennis teams in the Romford and District League. 
 
1.3 Dagenham and Redbridge football club use the site as a training ground and a 

base for its academy teams. 
 
1.4 The ground also has good quality changing rooms and a variety of rooms that can 

be used for social events including bar and catering facilities.  
 

2. Proposals and Issues  
 
2.1 The day to day operation of the site is currently managed by the May and Baker 

sports and social club on behalf of Sanofi. 
 
2.2 It is expected that Sanofi will vacate their site including the sports ground and 

facilities during 2013. 
 

2.3 The Council wants to protect the site for use by future generations to play sport but 
in these times of austerity it is not feasible to provide any ongoing revenue or capital 
funding to enable this to happen.  

 
2.4 As part of the s106 agreement between the Council and Sanofi, the ownership 

(freehold) of the sports facilities and playing pitches will transfer to the Council when 
Sanofi vacate the site and have satisfied the obligations set out in the s106 
agreement.  

 
2.5 This requires Sanofi to transfer the land (greenbelt to be incorporated into the 

Eastbrookend Country Park and the sports ground, which is the focus of this report) 
following satisfaction of certain conditions including remediation works, provision of 
utilities services to the existing clubhouse and football pitches, and to provide the 
Council with the necessary remediation and survey reports.   

 
2.6 Following satisfaction of the conditions Sanofi will serve a transfer notice on the 

Council requiring the Council to accept the transfer of the freehold interest for a 
peppercorn. The Council will remain liable for the site until grant of the lease to the 
Community Club. 

 

Page 118



2.7 Sanofi’s approach to meeting the terms of the s106 agreement has been exemplary 
and goes well beyond what could have reasonably been expected of them. They 
have invested significant funds to bring the sports facilities up to scratch and have 
addressed all of the structural, mechanical and electrical and fabric issues identified 
in the condition surveys. Sanofi has also provided one off revenue funding to 
support the first year’s operation of the new club and the development and 
implementation of a fundraising strategy. 

 
2.8 The remaining outstanding works, which are in relation to legionella management, 

are currently being implemented and a verbal update on progress will be provided 
at the Cabinet meeting. 

 
3. Options appraisal  

 
3.1 The land transfer of the May and Baker sports ground and associated facilities to 

the Council has already been agreed (but not yet implemented) as part of the s106 
agreement for the disposal of the Sanofi site; therefore, the options available to 
Cabinet are limited to deciding on the most efficient and effective way to manage 
the sports ground.  

 
3.2 Option A – the Council directly manages and maintains the sports ground and 

buildings. This option is not recommended because the Council’s Environment 
service would not be able to fulfil this role without revenue subsidy.  

 
3.3 Option B – identify a private sector partner to manage and maintain the sports 

ground and buildings on behalf of the Council via a long term contract or long term 
lease arrangement. This option is not recommended because it is likely that this 
would require an element of subsidy from the Council and because this approach 
would not support community involvement in the development and operation of the 
facilities, which was a key issue for Ward Councillors, local sports clubs and the 
wider community during the consultation process about the future of the site. 

 
3.4 Option C – establish a community trust (limited company with charitable status) to 

manage and maintain the sports ground and buildings. This is preferred option 
because it is expected that the community trust will not require any revenue subsidy 
from the Council. Also the membership of the community trust is firmly rooted in the 
local community which will help to ensure that its focus will be to support the 
development of grass roots sport and to get more local people involved in sport and 
physical activity. 

  
 4. Consultation 
 
4.1 The Eastbrook Ward Councillors have been directly involved in shaping the 

development of the May and Baker Eastbrook Community Club and are now 
directors (trustees) of the club.  

 
4.2 The proposals set out in this report have also been the subject of a report to the 

Council’s Property Advisory Group, which has endorsed the recommendations 
contained in this report. 

 

Page 119



4.3 Public meetings were held to inform local people and sports clubs about the 
proposals for the future operation of the sports ground and to encourage interested 
people to become directly involved in the new community club. 

 
5. Financial Implications  

Implications completed by: Roger Hampson, Group Manager - Finance 
 
5.1 There are no direct financial implications for the Council. The preferred option would 

see the sports ground operated at no cost to the Council by a community club via a 
long term lease.  

 
5.2 It is proposed that the financial terms of the lease will be a commercial rent, which 

is then wholly offset by a grant from the Council. This is because the Club has been 
established by the Council as a vehicle to enable the substantial revenue costs that 
would otherwise be incurred for an ‘in house’ operation to be avoided.  

 
5.3 It should be noted that if the community club fails then the sports ground would 

revert to the Council. If this occurs it is likely that the Council would incur revenue 
costs until a new management arrangement could be put in place. 

 
6. Legal Implications  
 

Implications completed by: Jason Ofosu, Acting Senior Property Lawyer 
 
6.1 The Council will retain the freehold interest and grant a long lease of 25 years for a 

commercial rent to the May and Baker Eastbrook Community Club. 
 

6.2 The Council will enter into a management agreement with the relevant Community 
Association to deal with the management of the Centre.  

 
6.3 The Council and the relevant Community Association will agree heads of terms for 

leasing arrangements. 
 
6.4 The Chief Executive can agree the terms of the lease and management agreements 

in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer (Constitution Land Acquisition and 
Disposals Rules refer) and on the advice of Property Services and the Legal 
Practice. 

 
6.5 Section 123 Local Government Act 1972 and the Council’s Land Disposal rules 

require land to be disposed of at market value. The Council has a general power of 
competence under section 1 of the Localism Act, although as always its application 
of these powers must be carefully considered and appropriate to the relevant 
circumstances. Section 1 of the Localism Act allows the Council “to do anything that 
individuals generally may do”. Therefore the council could decide the rent does not 
have to be market value since the Community Association is acting for the benefit of 
the Council, its area or persons' resident or present in the area.  

 
6.6 The lease should be a full repairing and insuring lease so that the Council do not 

bear the cost of repair and maintenance of the Property. The Legal Practice should 
be consulted on the preparation and completion of the lease. 

 
  

Page 120



7. Other Implications 
 
7.1 Risk Management – There are considered to be three key risks associated with 

this proposal: asset management; governance; sustainability. 
 
Asset management  
 
Under the terms of the s106 agreement Sanofi has undertaken a condition survey 
of the premises at the sports ground and is required to implement the necessary 
remedial works identified in relation to the building structure and fabric as well as 
mechanical and electrical installations and legionella management. The necessary 
works are now being completed and will be approved by the Council’s Assets and 
Commercial Services team. 

 
 On this basis Members can be confident that the facilities are sound, in a good state 

of repair and fit for purpose. Under the terms of the proposed lease, the community 
club will be responsible for repairs,  maintenance and insurance of the site and an 
inspection regime will be put in place to ensure compliance. 

 
 Governance  
 

Currently the site is managed on a day to day basis by the May and Baker sports 
and social club, which will cease to operate on the approval of the lease to the May 
and Baker Eastbrook Community Club. The site and facilities will then be operated 
for the benefit of the whole community and no longer run as a private club. 

 
The Community Club has been established by the Council as a limited company 
with charitable status. The Council can appoint up to seven trustees (directors) of 
the Club. Following a public consultation exercise, a strong and representative 
management board has been established with trustees including members of the 
existing management committee of the May and Baker sports club; the head 
teacher and bursar from Eastbrook School; Jon Cruddas MP; the managing 
director of Dagenham and Redbridge football club; and the three Eastbrook ward 
councillors amongst others. 

 
Fit and proper person checks have been completed for trustees. 
 
The trustees are now meeting as a ‘shadow board’ so that they can effectively take 
control of the management of the site as soon as the lease is approved.  

 
A trading company has been established to operate the bar and catering facilities at 
the site. All profits from this operation will be used to subsidise the activities of the 
Club.  

 
 It is considered that the governance arrangements that have been put in place will 

provide adequate oversight of the operation of the community club to ensure that 
the Council’s interests are protected. 

 
  

Page 121



 Sustainability  
 

The proposed length of lease (25 years) will enable the Club to apply for funding to 
Sport England and to charitable trusts and relevant National Governing Bodies for 
sport.  

 
The business plan for the Club sets out the requirement to raise c£30,000 per 
annum from fundraising activities to balance the books, which is in addition to 
income from trading activities and pitch hire. Whilst it is considered that this is 
achievable, the financial model for the operation of the site would be unsustainable 
if there is a requirement to pay a commercial rent without this being wholly offset by 
a grant.  
 
It is understood that corporate guidelines are to be produced that will set out how 
this type of grant support will be monitored consistently across the Council. 

 
7.2 Contractual issues – The legal implications section sets out the Council’s powers 

in relation to this matter. Legal Services will be fully consulted and will prepare all 
the necessary legal documentation.  

 
7.3 Customer impact - It is expected that the existing clubs and individuals who 

currently use the sports ground and associated facilities will continue to do so under 
the proposed management regime. 

 
Due to the change in governance arrangements to a charitable trust with community 
and councillor involvement, it is anticipated that there will be improved access for 
local people to participate in sport and physical activity at the sports ground. 

 
7.4 Crime and Disorder Issues - The Council has a statutory duty to consider crime 

and disorder implications in all its decision making. The community club will provide 
a wide range of activities and quality facilities, which will provide positive activities 
for all residents.  

 
7.5 Health issues – It is well known that a lack of physical activity is one of the main 

risk factors for heart disease and diabetes. But less well known is the fact that a 
lack of physical activity can increase risk factors in a range of other health areas, 
including mental health. 

 
 The activities delivered at the sports ground are consistent with our Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy to improve the health and well-being of individuals and build 
community cohesion through increased participation of children, young people and 
adults in sport and physical activity.  
 

7.6 Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults and Children - The community club will provide 
an extensive programme of positive and diversionary activities for young people. 

 
Officers will work with trustees of the club to establish robust safeguarding policies 
and procedures. It will be a condition of use that clubs using the sports ground will 
have appropriate procedures in place in line with the safeguarding policies of their 
respective National Governing Bodies.  

 

Page 122



7.7  Property/Asset issues – it is intended that the terms of the lease will require the 
community club to repair, maintain and insure the facilities at the sports ground.  

 
 
Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 
 
None 
 
List of appendices: 

 
Appendix 1 –Location Plan 
 

Page 123



Page 124

This page is intentionally left blank



Works

Civic Centre, Dagenham Scale:-
Dagenham, RM10 7BNProduced By:- JRoach
Tel: - 020 8215 3000 Date - 12.12.2012

1:5,500

May & Baker Eastbrook Community Club,
Dagenham Road, Romford Essex RM7 0QX

X
N

Page 125



Page 126

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

24 September 2013 
 

Title: Delegation of Enforcement Powers for Regulating Illegal Money Lending Activity 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Crime, Justice and Communities 
 

Open Report For Decision 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Report Author: Theo Lamptey, Trading 
Standards 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8227 5655 
E-mail: theo.lamptey@lbbd.gov.uk 

Accountable Divisional Director: Robin Payne, Divisional Director Environment 
Services 
 

Accountable Director: Darren Henaghan, Corporate Director Housing and Environment 
 

Summary:  
 
This report seeks Cabinet approval for Barking and Dagenham Council to authorise 
Birmingham City Council for its specialist Illegal Money Lending Team (IMLT) to 
investigate illegal money lending activity within the Borough and institute legal 
proceedings on behalf of this Council against illegal money lenders (loan sharks).  
 
This proposal, if agreed, will add to Birmingham City Council’s resources and will enable 
Barking and Dagenham Trading Standards Service to have access to a team of highly 
trained experts from the IMLT.  The proposal will also support performance of the 
Council’s duty in relation to enforcement of the provisions of the Consumer Credit Act 
1974. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to agree: 
 
(i) To delegate the Council’s enforcement functions in respect of Part III of the 

Consumer Credit Act 1974 to Birmingham City Council and powers of prosecution 
for any matter associated with or discovered during an investigation by 
Birmingham City Council’s Illegal Money Lending Team, pursuant to Section 101 
of the Local Government Act 1972, Regulation 7 of the Local Authority 
(Arrangements for Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2000 and 
Section 13 (7) of the Local Government Act 2000; and 

 
(ii) The ‘Protocol for Illegal Money Lending Team Investigations’ as set out at 

Appendix A and to authorise the Corporate Director of Housing and Environment, 
in consultation with the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, to enter into the 
agreement with Birmingham City Council for its Illegal Money Lending Team  to 
undertake the work in the Borough. 

 

  

AGENDA ITEM 10

Page 127



Reason(s) 
 
This area of law enforcement requires specialist resource, expertise, techniques and 
facilities which Barking and Dagenham Trading Standards Services would not otherwise 
have access to members of the IMLT include officers with high-level training and 
expertise in surveillance techniques as well as security operations. The team includes, 
amongst others, ex police officers and security services personnel. 
 

 
1. Introduction and Background  
 
1.1 The primary legislation governing the consumer credit industry is the Consumer 

Credit Act 1974. The Trading Standards Service enforces this in each Local 
Authority area. The Act is based on a licensing system and all consumer credit and 
consumer hire businesses operating in the UK (with certain exemptions) must 
possess an appropriate licence issued by the Office of Fair Trading (OFT).  The 
OFT must be satisfied that an applicant for a Consumer Credit Licence is a fit and 
proper person before issuing that person with a licence to trade. 

 
1.2 To operate a consumer credit business without being licensed is a criminal offence 

and carries a maximum penalty of £5,000 and/or up to two years imprisonment.  
Licences can be revoked where it can be established that the licensee has acted 
inappropriately.  Warnings and conditions can be added to the licence where 
necessary.  Illegal money lending covers a range of activities, from persons that are 
actually licensed but are acting unlawfully, to the extreme of a person offering cash 
loans without being licensed at all (Loan Sharks). Loan Shark activity is 
characterised by deliberate criminal fraud and theft, with extortionate rates of 
interest on loans that mean borrowers face demands for payment of thousands of 
pounds more than they borrowed and can often never pay off the loans. Borrowers 
who fail to pay or refuse to pay are subject to intimidation, theft, forced prostitution 
and other, extreme physical violence. 

 
1.3 An Illegal Money Lending Team was established within Birmingham Trading 

Standards as a pilot project in England, one of only two in Great Britain; the other 
pilot area being Glasgow – covering Scotland. The remit of the team is to 
investigate illegal money lending activity, establish if a problem exists and, if so, 
bring to justice those persons carrying on this activity. The team is made up of 
highly experienced investigators with a broad range of backgrounds and 
investigative skills.  

 
1.4 The scheme, initially working across the midlands, has already been extended to 

cover the North West, East of England, South East and Yorkshire and Humber 
areas.  

 
1.5 Research, funded by the Department of Business Innovation and Skills (BIS) and 

using information gathered by the Birmingham pilot project, has been published 
which identifies the extent of this type of activity as well as the reasons that people 
use illegal money lenders.  Funding for the project is provided from the Financial 
Inclusion Fund administered by the Treasury and managed by the BIS. The 
Treasury and BIS announced that due to the success of the Birmingham team that 
funding will continue and can be used to roll out to other authorities. 

 

Page 128



1.6 On 29 December 2010 Business Minister Edward Davey announced that £5.2 
million would be available to continue the national Illegal money lending project for 
2012/14 through the trading standards service. 

 
1.7 In addition, the Minister also announced that BIS intended to restructure the project 

by moving the project to a three national team model. The Minister indicated that 
BIS were looking to maintain front line services whilst providing a value for money 
project.  The England team was to be hosted by Birmingham City Council and 
would continue to provide a resource to investigate illegal money lending across 
England.   

 
1.8 Birmingham was chosen to lead the new England team due to the efficiencies 

associated with the expansion. This was favoured to creating a brand new team 
that would attract high development and set up costs.  Centralising national 
services was the key.  The team based in Birmingham will continue to operate the 
“parachute in and out model”, with a local presence through regional officers, this 
being the recommended option by the recent research commissioned through 
Policies. 

 
1.9 The benefit that this team can bring to Barking and Dagenham is significant. 

Barking and Dagenham Trading Standards Services, like most local authorities, is 
not able to provide the level of specialist resource to provide this function. This is an 
excellent example of how sharing resources on specific issues can bring benefits 
otherwise unavailable in providing support to vulnerable consumers and tackling 
rogues. 

 
2. Proposal and Issues  
 
2.1 The Trading Standards team in Barking and Dagenham in common with the 

majority of the Trading Standards Departments across the country do not currently 
have the resources and expertise to set up an effective illegal money lending team. 

 
2.2 One of the options available to the Council is to do nothing.  
 
2.3 The option currently available to the Council is to take advantage of this 

government funded initiative to allow victims of illegal money lending and to benefit 
from the enforcement activities undertaken by Birmingham City Council (IMLT). 

 
2.4 Alternatively, the other options are to allow illegal money lending activity to proceed 

unchallenged in this borough or to fund and develop our own illegal money team.  
 
3. Objectives of the Project  
 
3.1  Objective 1 - To obtain a clear understanding of the scale and impact of illegal 

money lending as well as learning lessons on the best way to enforce. 
 
3.1.1 The evidence so far indicates that illegal moneylenders are widespread and 

prevalent. They operate in areas that have a high proportion of rented 
accommodation and target the most vulnerable members of society. High rise flats 
are common premises targeted by loan sharks as legitimate lenders do not lend to 
people residing in this type of accommodation due to the health and safety risks for 
their collectors. 

Page 129



 
3.1.2  Evidence shows illegal moneylenders vary from those who lend £10 over a few 

days and demand £12 on repayment, to those who provide substantial loans to 
those looking to set up businesses. Interest rates range from 100% and up to 
117,000% APR in some instances. 

 
3.1.3  Information gathered so far suggests that illegal money lending is being operated 

across all sectors of the community.  The majority of people using moneylenders 
are in receipt of income support or benefits and are introduced through word of 
mouth. However evidence also suggests that money lenders operate within the 
wider community and the pilot has identified illegal money lending within the 
business community.  In many of the investigations it has been established that the 
moneylenders resort to intimidation and violence in order to secure payment.  Other 
common traits include: adding indiscriminate charges, targeting single mothers and 
introducing payment through sexual favours. 

 
3.1.4  Moneylenders often use victims of money lending to assist them with maintaining 

their criminal lifestyle and anonymity, for example illegal money lenders’ vehicles 
are often registered at a clients’ address.   

 
3.1.5 There is also anecdotal evidence which suggests that illegal moneylenders have an 

impact on the wider community in which they operate, with victims resorting to petty 
crime to enable them to meet payments. Reducing the activities of illegal 
moneylenders or removing them altogether may therefore help to reduce levels of 
other criminal activity within a community. 

 
3.1.6 With regard to enforcement activity the investigation of illegal money lending has 

proven to be very resource intensive. Target individuals need to be observed and 
monitored to determine their activity, to identify them and if possible establish their 
address. A significant proportion of targets are also what are termed “life style 
criminals”, which means that evidence of other illegal activity can surface during the 
course of an investigation. This may not only involve other agencies but can also 
extend the life of an investigation, thereby adding to the pressure on resources. 

 
3.2 Objective 2 - To create a climate where victims can come forward – confident that 

prosecutions will be undertaken, and convictions obtained, without fear of reprisals. 
 
3.2.1 Effective branding and publicity of the pilot project has meant extensive promotion 

of the aims of the project and work of the team, within both the local and wider 
community. Evidence suggests that this has been achieved because it can be 
evidenced that victims are willing to contact the hotlines, and to provide further 
evidence to help achieve prosecutions. This will be established in North Yorkshire. 
 

3.2.2  The team has used injunctions, backed by the power of arrest under the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act 2003, to remove lenders from their area of operation.  Injunctions are 
reinforced with an agreement from the local police to flag the matter on their system 
and respond immediately if they receive a call from one of the victims.  

 
3.3 Objective 3 – To change the perception amongst those lending that illegal money 

lending is rarely prosecuted. 
 
3.3.1 A proactive media campaign is ongoing in those areas that have successfully 

Page 130



targeted criminals. Engaging the media promotes the work of the team and raises 
public awareness.   

 
3.4  Objective 4 – To develop ways of replacing the removed lenders with more support 

for their victims. 
 
3.4.1 The Illegal Money Lending Team will help victims of illegal moneylenders with 

practical help and support through and in conjunction with the services of local Debt 
Advice Teams and the National Debtline. It has been noted that victims often need 
more than simple money advice and so face-to-face advice is considered the most 
helpful way forward and is the route normally adopted.  

 
3.4.2 Links are also established with credit unions and their associations and where 

practicable these agencies are also called upon to provide help and advice. The 
Illegal Money Lending Team offers money management to all victims of 
moneylenders who contact them for advice and assistance. Partnership working in 
this area is recognised as being essential in this area of service provision. This will 
be the key role of the ‘Financial Inclusions Partnership Officer’ 

 
3.4.3 Birmingham City Council’s vision of providing a credit union partnership may be 

able to play a role in this area.  Indeed these two initiatives very much share similar 
objectives. 

 
4.  Delegation 
 
4.1 In order to expand the scheme into London Borough of Barking and Dagenham, 

Birmingham City Council requires formal delegation of functions to carry out the 
investigations etc under the Act and to prosecute any matters in the area.  

 
4.2 It is proposed that the delegation will continue until 31st March 2014 with a view to 

extending the arrangement if successful in the borough. The Treasury has already 
indicated an extension of the programme as part of the government plans to 
support consumers to address issues related to crime associated with this activity.  

 
4.3 In order to ensure clarity in respect of the operation of these arrangements, the 

attached draft protocol sets out the processes and practices to enable Birmingham 
City Council and its officer to undertake investigations and legal procedures. 
 

4.4 This delegation does not prevent Barking and Dagenham Trading Standards 
Services from undertaking the function. 

 
5. Financial Implications  
 
 Implications completed by: Carl Tomlinson, Finance Group Manager 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications for Barking and Dagenham Council as a result of 

this proposal, as Birmingham City Council is responsible for the financial 
management of the IMLT. The funding agreement between Birmingham City 
Council and HM Treasury covers all the running costs of the IMLT as well as 
provisions for the costs of expected legal proceedings and no resources will be 
required from LBBD. Occasional incidental costs in providing a work base for 

Page 131



officers operating in London Borough of Barking and Dagenham will be contained 
within the Trading Standards, Regulatory Services budget. 

 
6. Legal Implications  
 

Implications completed by: David Lawson, Deputy Head of Legal 
 
6.1 By virtue of Section 161 of the Consumer Credit Act 1974, it is the duty of each 

‘local weights and measures authority’ to enforce the provisions of the Act within 
their local authority boundary. This is an executive function for the purposes of the 
Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 and therefore it is necessary for 
Cabinet, as the executive, to formally delegate this function to Birmingham City 
Council under Section 13 and 19 of the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local 
Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 
2000.  Birmingham City Council is also required to formally accept the delegation.  

 
6.2  Any prosecutions will be undertaken by Birmingham City Council with no liability for 

costs to Barking and Dagenham Council. 
 
7. Other Implications 
 
7.1 Crime and Disorder - Illegal moneylenders invariably target low-income 

households and the most vulnerable members of society.  This can mean that their 
activities have disproportionate implications for the more deprived areas and action 
taken against them therefore supports the policy priorities associated with crime 
and disorder and protecting the more vulnerable members of the community.  

 
 Illegal money lending has a serious detrimental effect on both individuals and the 

community. Tackling the root causes and providing legitimate alternative sources of 
credit will contribute to reducing stress and pressures on many individuals and 
communities. 

 
 Marginalising rogue traders creates an environment which supports and 

encourages legitimate credit providers and reduces the fear of crime. 
 
 Enforcement by the funded illegal money lending team will contribute to the Council 

priority, to encourage and promote local economic prosperity as well as building 
communities and transforming lives.  

 
7.2. Risk Management - The corporate risk management system has been used to 

assess the level of risk. The risk to adopting this partnership approach by providing 
delegated powers is assessed as low. The approach removes any risk to future 
funding of this work as the officers will be employed by another local authority. 

 
7.3 Equal Opportunities - It is often the poorer and more vulnerable members of 

society who become victims of illegal moneylenders and find it difficult to access 
appropriate support and help. 

 
 
  

Page 132



Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 
 

• Consumer Credit Act 1974 

• Local Government Act 1972 

• Local Authority (Arrangements for Discharge of Functions)(England) Regulations 
2000 

• Local Government Act 2000 
 
List of appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 - Protocol for Illegal Money Lending Investigation 
 
 

Page 133



Page 134

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 
 

DEPARTMENT FOR BUSINESS INNOVATION AND SKILLS (BIS) 
ILLEGAL MONEY LENDING PROJECT 

 
 

PROTOCOL FOR ILLEGAL MONEY LENDING SECTION INVESTIGATIONS  
 
 

Interpretation 

 
For the purposes of this Protocol – 
 
“BCC” means Birmingham City Council   
 
“LBBD” means London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council Trading Standards  
 
“IMLS” means the Illegal Money Lending Section 

“Delegated Power” means the discharge of the function of the Enforcement of Part III 
of the Consumer Credit Act 1974 granted to BCC by LBBD in pursuance of section 101 
and 222 of the Local Government Act 1972, Regulation 7 of the Local Authorities 
(Arrangements for Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2000, sections 13 to 
19 of the Local Government Act 2000 and any other legislation enabling the discharge 
 
“Commencement Date” means the date the Delegated Power is granted 
 
“Term” means from the date of signing of this protocol to 31st March 2015  
 
 “Birmingham Trading Standards” means Regulatory Services of BCC 
 
“Barking and Dagenham Contact Officer (LBBDCO)” means the relevant person 
appointed by the Head of (Trading Standards) of LBBD to liaise with the Head of Illegal 
Money Lending Section on matters relating to and in connection with the Illegal Money 
Lending Project 
 
“Appropriate Contact Officer” means The Director of Regulation and Enforcement or 
the Head of Illegal Money Lending of Birmingham Regulation and Enforcement or any 
person nominated by the Council or authorised by them 

 
  

Page 135



 
1. Application 
 
1.1 This Protocol applies to the DBIS / HM Treasury funded ‘Illegal Money Lending 

Project’ and covers the following issues:- 
 

• The conduct of investigations and associated working practices for the IMLS 
officers when conducting investigations or operating in Barking and Dagenham 
Council  

• The mechanisms whereby Barking and Dagenham Council is updated on the 
progress of the project and any significant issue relating thereto. 

• The exchange of intelligence and information between the IMLS and LBBD 

• The institution of legal proceedings. 
 
 
2. Protocol 
 
2.1 The purpose of this protocol is to facilitate the delegation of powers to BCC and 

officers employed within BCC’s IMLS to enforce the provisions of the Consumer 
Credit Act 1974 within the area of Barking and Dagenham.  The protocol 
encourages the exchange of information and a working partnership approach 
between BCC and LBBD in relation to the Consumer Credit Act 1974. 

 
2.2 This Protocol will come into force on the Commencement Date and terminates at 

the end of the Term. 
 
2.3 Notwithstanding the terms and conditions of this Protocol, this Protocol does not 

prejudice the right of LBBD to withdraw the Delegated Power at any time during 
the Term. However LBBD undertakes not to withdraw the Delegated Power unless 
it considers there is good reason to do so. The Delegated Power is not to be 
unreasonably withdrawn by LBBD. 

 
3. The IMLS 
 
3.1 It is recognised that officers in the IMLS will need authority to initiate and/or 

undertake investigations and/or the prosecution of potential offences falling within 
the scope of the ‘Illegal Money Lending Project’ where such potential offences fall 
entirely outside of the BCC boundaries.  This protocol and also the Delegated 
Power is deemed to provide such authority to BCC and its officers regarding all 
matters.  

 
3.2 The IMLS will comprise of a Head of Service and up to 65 staff directly employed 

by BCC.  The Head of Illegal Money Lending Section will be responsible for the 
day-to-day operation and supervision of the IMLS. 

 
3.3 The Head of Illegal Money Lending Section will report directly to the Director of 

Regulation and Enforcement or nominated officer as appropriate. 
 
3.4 The Head of the Illegal Money Lending Section  BCC will, when required, provide  

quarterly progress reports, from the Commencement Date, to the Head of 
(Trading Standards) of LBBD giving details of investigations, (unless there is a 
significant risk that any such disclosure may jeopardise an investigation, such a 

Page 136



decision is within the discretion of the Director of Regulation and Enforcement or 
Head of Trading Standards BCC) prosecutions being pursued or concluded and 
developments concerning or affecting the Illegal Money Lending Project in Barking 
and Dagenham. 

 
3.5 It is recognised that after Delegated Power is granted to BCC, all decisions 

concerning the pursuance of relevant investigations, decisions to prosecute and 
the laying of charges and/or information on such relevant matters within Barking 
and Dagenham, shall be taken by BCC and in accordance with the relevant Code 
for Crown Prosecutors and BCC’s Enforcement Policy.  

 
 
4. Working Arrangements in the Barking and Dagenham Council Area 
 
4.1 LBBD will designate and appoint a Barking and Dagenham Council Contact 

Officer (LBBDCO). 
 
4.2 The Head of Illegal Money Lending Section will at any time considers necessary 

and prudent, or at the request of the LBBDCO, brief the LBBDCO on any 
intelligence gathered, any progress made on investigations and/or prosecutions 
pending or otherwise, relating to or affecting Barking and Dagenham and/or its 
residents. 

 
 
4.3 Further to Clause 4.2 above, all reasonable steps will be taken by the Head of 

Illegal Money Lending Section to keep the LBBDCO updated on the progress of 
investigations and enquiries being carried out in Barking and Dagenham and any 
changes made or introduced by Government concerning the ‘Illegal Money 
Lending Project’.  It is incumbent on the Head of Illegal Money Lending Section 
to maintain regular dialogue/communication with the LBBDCO. 

 
4.4 The IMLS will have regular contact with the Police and other Government 

agencies.  The Head of Illegal Money Lending Section will consult the LBBDCO 
to identify any local arrangements, investigations and protocols before any 
investigation is commenced in pursuance of the ‘Illegal Money Lending Project’. 
Wherever possible, the Head of Illegal Money Lending Section will actively 
involve the LBBDCO and seek to develop close links between those agencies 
and BCC. 

 
4.5 The Head of Illegal Money Lending Section will as soon as reasonably 

practicably inform the LBBDCO of the outcome of any concluded prosecution 
proceedings conducted within Barking and Dagenham.  

 
4.6 BCC, where possible, will consult with LBBD in good time before issuing any 

press release concerning any prosecution pursued by BCC pursuant to this 
Protocol.  

 
4.7 Any contact with local government bodies, other police forces, credit unions or 

similar organisations that may be locally funded or may involve local sensitivities 
will be agreed with the LBBDCO in advance.  Upon being notified of an intention 
to contact such a body, London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council 
Trading Standards may arrange for one of their own officers to accompany the 
relevant officer of the IMLS on any visit. 

Page 137



 
4.8 Where the Head of Illegal Money Lending Section and the Head of Trading 

Standards of London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council agree that an 
officer or officers of London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council Trading 
Standards will be actively involved in an investigation, that officer will remain an 
employee of LBBD but for the purpose of that investigation, will come under the 
control of the IMLS team manager.  Such agreement will be subject to the Head 
of Illegal Money Lending Section being satisfied that the officer’s or officers’ 
participation will not compromise any investigation or endanger any member of 
the IMLT, supporting staff or witnesses, that the officer has the appropriate 
training and experience to undertake the task; and upon any other terms that the 
Head of Illegal Money Lending Section and the Head of Trading Standards of 
London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council consider necessary and/or 
appropriate. 

 
4.9 Unless there is prior agreement with the Head of Illegal Money Lending Section 

for assistance in an investigation, which is accompanied by an official purchase 
order from BCC, no reimbursement will be made for time spent on activities 
supporting the ‘Illegal Money Lending Project’ or expenditure incurred by any 
LBBD officer. 

 
4.10 The exercise by BCC of these arrangements shall be at no cost to LBBD  
 
4.11 BCC shall have an Appropriate Contact Officer. 
 
4.12 In the absence of the IMLS Head of Service, the role, duties, and responsibilities 

of the Head of Illegal Money Lending Section shall be discharged and carried out 
by the other Appropriate Contact Officers as nominated.   

 
5. Referral of Information/Intelligence to the Project Team 
 
5.1 It is recognised that the IMLS will rely on receiving information about Illegal 

Money Lender activities.  
 
5.2 LBBD will endeavour to provide as much relevant information and intelligence as 

reasonably and practicably possible to the IMLS concerning any investigation 
being carried out within Barking and Dagenham having regard to any statutory 
limitations/restrictions. 

 
5.3 Information and intelligence will be provided by the LBBDCO to the Head of 

Illegal Money Lending Section or a person designated by him/her.  
 
5.4 BCC, IMLS will not, as a matter of routine, investigate individual complaints 

received concerning alleged Illegal Money Lender activities.  However, such 
complaints may be used by the IMLS as a source of intelligence.  

 
5.5 BCC, IMLS and LBBD agree to process personal data only in accordance with 

the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 and to disclose information only 
in accordance with the requirements of the Enterprise Act 2002. 
  

6. Conduct and Control of Investigations 
 

Page 138



6.1 The conduct and control of all investigations undertaken and prosecutions by the 
IMLS in Barking and Dagenham will be the responsibility of BCC.  Investigations 
will be undertaken in line with the BCC’s published Enforcement Policy and 
subject to the policies and procedures approved and adopted by Birmingham 
Trading Standards. 

 
6.2 BCC will be responsible for all aspects of the investigations and responsibilities 

under the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996, Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000, the Data Protection Act 1998, the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 and the Enterprise Act 2002. 

 
6.3 BCC will be solely responsible for the Health and Safety of IMLS officers and any 

other officer or person within the direct management of the IMLS providing 
support and assistance in any investigation undertaken by the IMLT. 

 
6.4 Where breaches of Part III of the Consumer Credit Act 1974 are identified, action 

will be taken in accordance with the enforcement policy and procedures adopted 
by Birmingham Trading Standards.   

 
6.5 When the Head of Service, IMLS BCC, recommends a prosecution under Part III 

of the Consumer Credit Act 1974, if required, LBBD will be provided with a copy 
of the relevant prosecution file, which will consist of a detailed case summary, 
schedule of issues, aggravating and mitigating factors, reasons justifying 
prosecution and any other material fact that LBBD ought reasonably to be aware 
of. LBBD will be invited to communicate any comments it considers appropriate 
and necessary concerning the intended prosecution to the Director of Regulation 
and Enforcement, the informant for BCC. Such comments will be given due 
attention and consideration by the informant for BCC. 

 
 
7. Responsibilities and Actions of the Authorities 
 
7.1 BCC shall be liable for the actions and competence of the persons employed 

within the IMLS and shall ensure that the IMLS shall comply with all legislative 
requirements and take all reasonable steps to ensure any actions taken are 
lawful and within the spirit of the protocol. 

 
7.2 LBBD shall be liable for the actions and competence of persons within its employ 

and shall take all reasonable steps to ensure the competence of those persons in 
carrying out their functions and that they comply with legislative requirements and 
the spirit of this protocol. 

 
7.3 Information / intelligence provided between BCC and LBBD shall be used for the 

purpose intended and shall not be divulged to third parties unless to do so would 
be lawful and in pursuant of an investigation / enquiry subject to this protocol. 

 
7.4 BCC and LBBD endorse a joined up working approach to the enforcement of the 

Consumer Credit Act 1974.  The partners will attempt to promote consistency in 
enforcement. However, this protocol does not attempt to restrict the powers of 
authorised officers of the IMLS or BCC from discharging their duties, as 
appropriate. 

 

Page 139



 
 
 
Commencement date:  28 November 2013 
 
 
 
 
Signed 
 
 
Darren Henaghan 
Corporate Director Housing and Environment 
London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed 
 
Jacqui Kennedy 
Director of Regulation and Enforcement 
Birmingham City Council. 

Page 140



CABINET 
 

24 September 2013 
 

Title: Debt Management Performance and Write-Offs 2013/14 (Quarter 1) 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance 
 

Open Report 
 

For Information 

Wards Affected: None  
 

Key Decision: No 

Report Author: Peter Cosgrove, 
Operations General Manager 
 

Contact Details:  
Tel: 0208 227 3850 
E-mail: peter.cosgrove@elevateeastlondon.co.uk 
 

Accountable Divisional Director: Jonathan Bunt, Chief Finance Officer 
 

Accountable Director:  Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 
 

Summary 
This report sets out the performance of the Council’s joint venture, Elevate East London, in 
carrying out the debt management function on behalf of the Council and covers the first 
quarter of the year 2013/14.  It also includes details of debt written off in accordance with 
the write off policy approved by Cabinet on 18 October 2011. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
(i) Note the contents of this report as it relates to the performance of the debt 

management function carried out by the Revenues and Benefits service operated 
by Elevate East London, including the performance of bailiffs; and 

 
(ii) Note the debt write-offs for the first quarter of 2013/14 and that a number of these 

debts will be publicised in accordance with the policy agreed by Cabinet.   
 

Reason 
Assisting in the Council’s Policy aim of ensuring a well run organisation delivering its 
statutory duties in the most practical and cost-effective way.  It will ensure good financial 
practice and adherence to the Council’s Financial Rules to report on debt management 
performance and total debt write-off each quarter. 
 

 

1. Introduction and Background  

1.1 The Council’s Revenues, Benefits, General Income and Rents Service is operated 
by the Council’s joint venture, Elevate East London LLP (Elevate).  The service is 
responsible for the management of the Council’s debt falling due by way of statutory 
levies and chargeable services. 

1.2 This report sets out the performance for the first quarter of 2013/14 and covers the 
overall progress of each element of the service for the period.  In addition it 

AGENDA ITEM 11

Page 141



summarises the debts that have been agreed for write off in accordance with the 
Council’s Financial Rules.  Write offs in the first quarter have been actioned in 
accordance with the Council’s debt management policy agreed on 18 October 
2011. 

 

2. Proposal and Issues  

2.1 Set out in table 1 below is the performance for quarter 1 of 2013/14 achieved by 
Elevate for each of the functions of the Revenues Service during the financial year. 

Table 1: Collection Rate Performance – 13-14 

Type of Debt 
Annual 

Target 

Target for 
Quarter 1 Performance Variance 

Actual 
collected 

£m 

Council Tax 93.5% 28.3% 29.4% +1.1% 16.489 

NNDR 97.4% 33.6% 32.1% -1.5% 19.045 

Rent 96.50% 96.50% 97.49% +0.99% 24.833. 

Leaseholders 91.8% 23.25% 29.00% +5.75% 1.083 

General Income 94.64% 38.98% 56.99% +18.01% 13.080 

 

Council Tax collection performance  

2.2 Council Tax collection at the end of the first quarter is 1.1% above the target and 
0.1% below the actual performance at the same time last year.  Collection of 
Council Tax from those who used to receive Council Tax Benefit for the full sum but 
now receive Council Tax Support (CTS) for a lower amount, and therefore have to 
pay some Council Tax.  The collection for those on CTS at the end of the first 
quarter was 25.7% compared to 29.6% for those not in receipt of CTS. 

2.3 Changes and improvements: 

i. During the first quarter payers receiving CTS were split from other payers 
to try and reduce the impact upon the service.  Therefore reminders, Final 
Notices and summonses were sent at different times to all other payers. 

ii. Recovery action has increased by from 20,000 to 41,000 reminders.  
Some of this is due to the additional new payers, i.e. those who 
previously received full Council Tax benefit, and the rest reflects that 
collection is becoming more difficult.  The processes put in place by 
Elevate have ensured to date that the overall collection rate has remained 
comparable with last year. 

iii. Additional Customer Service officers have been trained and the Service is 
supporting their development to ensure they reach the required standard. 

iv. The segmentation of accounts prior to bailiff action has seen collection 
maintained with another 501 attachment to earnings and 863 attachments 
to benefits created. 

Page 142



v. The payment arrangement procedure continues to ensure that those 
requiring more time to pay are managed correctly.  Those that fail to 
adhere to the terms of the arrangement are quickly identified and debt 
recovery action initiated. 

 

NNDR collection performance  

2.4 The NNDR collection rate at the end of the first quarter is 32.1% which is 1.5% 
below the target and 0.7% below the same time in 2012/13. 

2.5 The financial climate continues to have a detrimental effect upon businesses within 
the Borough making collection of Business Rates within year challenging. 

2.6 Debt recovery procedures have been reviewed to ensure that debts are progressed 
to bailiffs in a timely fashion. 

2.7 Proactive outbound calling has been adopted to identify ratepayers that are 
beginning to fall behind with payments.  This will ensure that these cases are 
quickly identified and payment agreed. 

2.8 The Service is in the middle of significant change due to London Borough of 
Havering’s decision to terminate our partnership on this service.  The reason 
provided for this is to add this service to their revised approach to providing 
Customer Services, including business ratepayers.   

   

Rent collection performance  

2.9 The rent collection target of 96.5% is being exceeded at the end of quarter 1 with 
collection of 97.49%. 

 2.10 The introduction of the bedroom tax affects 1,600 of our tenants.  Of the 1,600 
tenants who have lost housing benefit this year because they are deemed to have 
one or more excess bedrooms; 47% are in rent arrears.  This group as a whole owe 
£340k.  Taking further recovery action in respect of this group of tenants will be 
potentially constrained.  Recovery action against tenants who have arrears which 
are caused in the main by the bedroom tax changes is restricted as  further action 
will not take place while tenants in this group are actively seeking to move to 
smaller accommodation.  

2.11 Various actions have been taken to improve performance in rent collection: 

i. A good platform is in place to ensure that new arrears are minimised with 
procedures agreed between the Council and Elevate.  These procedures 
are designed to ensure that rent accounts are closed more swiftly when 
tenants move out. 

ii. Elevate are proactively seeking to backdate housing benefit entitlement 
for tenants who have experienced a loss of entitlement due to being too 
vulnerable to comply with the standard claims requirement. 

iii. Elevate have included messages on rent statements and on-line 
reminding tenants to put rent payment first and have highlighted the 
possible consequence of non-payment. 

iv. Improved procedures are in place at the sign up of new tenancies to 
maximise housing benefit take up from the start of tenancy and 
encourage payments through direct debit.   

Page 143



 
Leaseholders’ debt collection performance 
 
2.12 The leasehold collection target for the year has been set at 91.80%.  In the first 

quarter Elevate achieved 29% which is above the expected profile by 5.75%. 
 

General Income collection performance  

Overall position 

2.13 General Income is used to describe the ancillary sources of income available to the 
Council which support the cost of local service provision.  Examples of areas from 
which the Council derives income include: penalty charge notices; social care 
charges; housing benefit overpayments; rechargeable works for housing; nursery 
fees; trade refuse; truancy penalty notices; hire of halls and football pitches.  Oracle 
is used for the billing of these debts and collection performance by Elevate for its 
activities across all these debts is reported together. 

2.14 Collection has started the year well with over £13m being collected in the first 
quarter against a debit of £23m.  This collection is above the profile for the previous 
year with more effective school salary collection having been implemented by the 
team.  The remainder of this section considers a selection of General Income debts 
which have specific separate target collection rates. 

ACS Homes and ACS Residential (Collection of social (home and residential) care 
charges) 

2.15 The Council’s Fairer Contribution Policy commenced from October 2011 and 
applies to home care.  Residential care charges are covered by the Department of 
Health’s Charging for Residential Accommodation Guide (CRAG). 

2.16 Collections of debt for home and residential care are reported separately.  For both, 
the agreed measure for performance reporting is the percentage collected on debt 
over 90 days old and performance reporting can include debts from previous 
financial years.   

2.17 Residential care debt which the Council has secured with a charging order against 
the client’s assets, usually their property, is not included in these figures. 

 
   Residential care  

 
Invoices 

Debit 
Raised 
(£000) 

Total 
Collected 
(£000) 

Collection 
rate 

Target Difference 

Jun 90+ days 3,796 3,424 90.20% 90.00% +0.20% 

 
   Homecare 

 
Invoices 

Debit 
Raised 

(£000) 

Total 
Collected 

(£000) 

Collection 
rate 

Target Difference 

June 90+ days 2,010 1,839 91.50% 90.00% +1.50% 

 

2.18 The recovery process of these debts is similar to that of other debts, but with added 
recognition given to particular circumstances.  In order to ensure that the action 
taken is appropriate and to maximise payments each case is considered on its 

Page 144



merits at each stage of recovery and wherever possible payment arrangements are 
agreed.  In addition a further financial reassessment of a client’s contribution is 
undertaken where there is extraordinary expenditure associated with the care of the 
service user.  

Housing and Environment: Penalty Charge Notices 

2.19 This recovery work only includes debts due to Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) for 
parking, bus lane and box junction infringements once a warrant has been obtained 
from the Traffic Enforcement Centre (TEC).  The majority of these relate to parking 
infringements and Elevate enforce these warrants through bailiffs and monitor their 
performance.  Overall collection rates on PCNs will be reported by Environmental 
and Enforcement Services (Parking Services).  Performance is set out in 2.21 
below. 

Housing Benefit Overpayments 

2.20 In the first quarter of the year collection totalled £801,000.  This is in line with the 
collection profile from 2012/13. 

 

Bailiff Performance 

2.21 Bailiff action is a key tool for the Council to recover overdue debts but is only one 
area of collection work.  Due to the probable increase in arrears following the 
introduction of Council Tax Support as a replacement of Council Tax Benefit, there 
are now over 16,000 additional households liable to pay Council Tax.  There will 
also be impacts on the Council’s ability to collect sums due as the Welfare reforms 
begin to take effect.   

2.22 A full report was therefore made to the Public Accounts and Audit Select Committee 
(PAASC) meeting on 26 June clarifying the scale of the potential impact in 2013/14, 
and the recovery processes the Council uses.  The key to the Council’s approach is 
that it encourages contact and payments as soon as possible, which maximises the 
opportunity for the taxpayer to not incur the added costs relating to summons.  The 
norm in 20112/12 and 2012/13 was for less than 25% of reminders to lead to action 
by bailiffs.  It is not anticipated that this percentage will change in 2013/14.  

2.23 An extract from the PAASC report clarifying the recovery process is included at 
Appendix A. 

2.24 Information on the performance of the Bailiffs is set out in the table below by type of 
debt for quarter 1 of 2013/14: 

 

Service 
Value less returns  

(£000) 
Total remitted 

(£000) 
Collection rate 

Council Tax 1,566 23 1.47% 

NNDR 1,116 185 16.59% 

General Income 48 9 19.5% 

Road Traffic 1,130 198 17.54% 

Commercial rent 14 12 85.6% 

Page 145



2.25 The majority of cases sent to the bailiffs for Council Tax in quarter one relate to 
2012/13 debts but in the period reported, some current year cases were also 
referred.  This resulted in the bailiff having a proportion of cases which would have 
only been with them for action for around 10 working days.  In effect this means that 
the bailiff had no time in which to begin recovery action which is reflected in the low 
collection rate.  Quarter one collection last year was 3.15%.  Collection will improve 
in the second and subsequent quarters. 

Debt Write-off: Quarter 4 2012/13  

2.26 Any debt recommended for write off is in accordance with the policy of the Council 
who have the final decision with regard to write off.  The value of debt 
recommended to the Chief Finance Officer and subsequently approved for write off 
during the first quarter of 2013/14 (April to June 2013) totalled: £171,623 (Appendix 
B).   

2.27 The figures in Appendix C show the total write-offs for 2011/12 and 2012/13 as well 
the debts written off in the first quarter of 2013/14.   

2.28 589 debts were written off in quarter 1 of which: 

Absconded/not 
traced 

Uneconomic to 
pursue 

Debtor 
Insolvent 

Deceased Other 
reasons 

10.9% 64.5% 2.4% 19.7% 2.5% 

(The Other reasons category includes examples such as: where the debt liability is 
removed by the Court or the debtor is living outside the jurisdiction of the English 
Courts and is unlikely to return). 

 
Publication of individual details of debts written off (Appendix D) 
 
2.29 In line with Council policy established in 2007 due to the difficulties of finding 

absconding debtors, a list showing the details of some debtors who have had debts 
written off is attached to this report at Appendix D.  The list has been limited to the 
ten largest debts only and can be used in the public domain. 

 
3. Options Appraisal  
 
3.1 This is not relevant for an information report. 
 
4. Consultation  
 
4.1 This is not relevant for this information report. 
 

5. Financial Implications  

5.1 Collecting all sums due to the Council is critical to its ability to function.  In view of 
this, monitoring performance is a key part of the monthly meetings with Elevate.   

5.2 The monthly meetings between Elevate and the Council focus on the areas where 
the targets are not being achieved and discuss other possibilities to improve 
collection.  An example of this is the need to collect prior to or when a service is 
provided, thereby avoiding the need to raise an invoice and collect a debt. 

Page 146



5.3 These meetings also ensure that key activities to enable debts to be collected and 
accurately administered are being carried out.  A key indicator of this is the 
processing of bad debts.  At the end of Q1 the total of write-offs at £171,623 
indicates that this is happening, but not at the level needed. 

 

6. Legal Implications   

6.1 The pursuit of debts owed to the Council is a fiduciary duty. The Council seeks to 
recover money owed to it by the courts once all options are exhausted.  Not all debt 
will be recovered and a pragmatic approach has to be taken with debts as being on 
occasions, uneconomical to recover in terms of the cost of process and the means 
of the debtor to pay.  As observed in the body of this report, in the case of rent 
arrears, a possession and subsequent eviction orders are a discretionary remedy 
and the courts will on many occasions suspend the possession order on condition 
the tenant makes a contribution to their arrears.  The Council’s decision to utilise 
Introductory Tenancies will over time begin to have an impact as only those tenants 
with a satisfactory rent payment history can expect to be offered a secure tenancy. 

6.2 The decision to write off debts has been delegated to Chief Officers who must have 
regard to the Financial Rules.  

 

7. Other Implications 

7.1 Risk Management - No specific implications save that of this report acting as an 
early warning system to any problems in the area of write off’s. 

 

Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 

RBGIR monthly report 

 

List of appendices 

Appendix A – Debt recovery process – extract from report to PAASC 26 June 2013 

Appendix B – Debt Write Off Table for Quarter 1 2013/14. 

Appendix C – Debts written off in 2011/12 and 2012/13 and totals. 

Appendix D – Ten Largest Debts Written Off in Quarter 4, 2012/13 

Page 147



Page 148

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Appendix A 
 

Extract from PAASC 26 June 2013 – Council Tax Recovery Process 
 

2.Proposal and Issues 

The Council Tax recovery process – key points 
2.1 The recovery of Council Tax relies upon taxpayers being billed promptly with 

sympathetic, swift and decisive recovery action if payments are late. 

 

2.2 Taxpayers may pay by 10 or 12 instalments.  When an instalment is not paid a 

reminder is sent seven days later advising them of the amount to pay and the 

deadline by which the account must be brought up to date.  After a further 7 days a 

final notice is sent, if there is no response 14 days later a summons should be 

issued. 

2.3 Where a summons is issued costs are added to the account.  Costs are structured 

as follows:  £93 for the summons and an additional £30 when a hearing at the 

Magistrates’ Court takes place making a total of £123. 

 

2.4 There is a direct cost to the Council of £3 per summons which is paid to the court at 

the point they are issued.  The remainder of the charge reflects the cost to the 

Council of processing the case.  In some cases summonses are withdrawn and the 

costs not charged.  This can occur for a number of reasons: 

i. The taxpayer pays in full before the hearing, only the £93 is then payable, 

ii. There are acceptable reasons for non payment (bereavement, illness etc), or 

iii. CTS is in the process of being assessed. 

 

2.5 A total of 10,500 summonses were issued in 2012/13 and 28% were withdrawn. 
 
2.6 The table below shows the impact and projections for 2013/14 based upon an 

estimated 5,000 additional summonses and similar rate of withdrawals (28%). 

 2012/13 
Actual 

2013/14 
Forecast 

Summons (number) 10.2k 15.2k 

Liability orders (number) 7.7k 12.2k 

Costs raised £1,179k £1,779k 

Withdrawn summonses (number) 2.9k 4.3k 

Withdrawn liability orders (number 2.1k 3.4k 

Net costs raised £849k £1,281k 

 
2.7 The account is taken to the Magistrates’ court in order to obtain a liability order.  

The purpose of the liability order is to authorise further action to recover the debt, 

such enforcement action is not allowed without this order. With a liability order the 

following action can be used to recover the debt: 

i. Attachments to earnings or benefit,  

ii. Recovery action by enforcement agents (bailiffs),  

iii. Bankruptcy 

iv. Charging Order 

Page 149



 
 

v. Committal to prison.  

2.8 The above enforcement actions need to be taken separately and cannot be pursued 

concurrently, e.g. a debt cannot be sent to the bailiffs whilst an attachment is in 

place. 

 

2.9 Enforcement action serves two main purposes, firstly it prompts payment in its own 

right and secondly it acts as a deterrent.  Detail of these possible actions is set out 

below: 
 

Arrangements i. Although, by law, taxpayers are given instalments to 
pay their Council Tax, in many cases they default and 
request a payment arrangement outside their statutory 
instalment plan.  The process used by the Council 
allows for such arrangements but specific criteria must 
be met before an arrangement is agreed.  These 
criteria are:  

a. A summons must be issued and liability order 
obtained; this ensures that the debt will be 
secured in court and further debt recovery action 
can be taken if the arrangement is not kept. 

b. Employment details are recorded, this allows an 
attachment to earnings to be applied if the 
arrangement is broken 

c. Payment by Direct Debit is put in place, 
d. A payment of a proportion of the debt is made 

immediately 

  

Attachments i. Where payment has not been received or payment 
arrangements broken attachments will be applied. 

ii. Where the taxpayer is in receipt of income support or 
job seekers allowance an attachment of benefit 
application will be sent to the DWP asking for payment 
to be deducted directly from their benefits.  It is 
expected that a large number of applications could be 
sent in the new circumstances of CTS.  However, there 
are restrictions placed upon this action and taxpayers 
may only have one attachment to their benefit payments 
at any one time.  Given the multiple strands of Welfare 
Reform and the demands of other creditors this rule is  
important as deductions can also be made  for housing 
costs, hostel payments, rent arrears, service charges 
for fuel and water, fuel costs, water charges, child 
support maintenance, and some loans. 

iii. Where employer details are known an attachment to 

earnings will be applied.  In these cases the employer is 

legally obliged to deduct a percentage from the 

employee’s earnings.  This percentage is based upon a 

sliding scale dependent upon earnings, and is 

stipulated in the Administration and Enforcement 

Page 150



 
 

regulations and therefore cannot be amended by the 

Council.  This is the most effective method of debt 

recovery for Council Tax ensuring regular payment of a 

set amount towards the debt is made.  In addition it may 

help the taxpayer to manage their finances. 

 

Bailiff Action i. Should the taxpayer fail to make the agreed payments 

and an attachment is not possible (as an attachment is 

already in place for another debt) the case is referred to 

the bailiffs. 

ii. Bailiffs will attend taxpayer’s property with the intention 

of collecting payment or removing goods to the value of 

the debt.  The amount the bailiff charges are prescribed 

in the regulations and include £24.50 for a first visit and 

then £18 for a second. Bailiffs are will also charge for 

levying, this is the process of making an inventory of 

goods within a property with the intention of removing. 

The charge for this is, by regulation, based upon a 

percentage of the debt and in the vast majority of cases 

a payment arrangement is agreed and the goods are 

not removed.  However, if the arrangement is not 

maintained the bailiff has the right to remove the goods 

that have been levied upon.  

iii. Bailiffs are required to adopt and use the Council’s 

Code of practice when recovering debt (Appendix 1). 

 

Bankruptcy i. Bankruptcy action is taken where sufficient payment has 

not been received over a period of time and the debt 

has become large enough to warrant this kind of action. 

ii. This action cannot be taken against a taxpayer unless 

the total debt exceeds £750. 

iii. Checks are carried out to ensure that the taxpayer has 

sufficient assets to warrant the action.  This is usually 

determined by ensuring that there is sufficient equity in 

any property owned and also includes an automatic 

referral to social services before action is taken. 

 
 

Committal 
action 
 

i. Committal action is used as a last resort when it 

appears the debtor has the means but will not pay.  The 

actual purpose of this action is to ensure the taxpayer 

attends a Means Hearing at the Magistrates’ Court.  At 

this hearing it is for the Court to determine the reason 

for non-payment and to assess the taxpayer’s ability to 

pay based upon their income and expenditure. 

ii. Where wilful refusal or culpable neglect is found, the 

court may award a custodial sentence.   

Page 151



 
 

 
2.10 Enforcement action has been used very successfully at Barking and Dagenham 

with increases in collection seen as described above.  They can and are used 

where appropriate; however there is room for discretion and each case where 

appropriate is considered on its own merits where for example the taxpayer is 

experiencing extreme hardship, bereavement or illness. 

 

2.11 Statistics relating to relating to recovery actions taken in 2011/12 and 2012/13 are 

shown in the table below: 

Recovery action 2011/12 2012/13  

Reminders 35,686 35,177  

Final Notices 18,379 16,507  

Summonses 10,836 10,205  

Attachment to benefit 1,496 1,822  

Attachment to benefit (pending)  723 1,002  

Attachment to earnings 1,491 1,781  

Bailiffs 8,129 8,413  

Bankruptcy 2 9  

Committal hearings 7 10  

Committal action - custody 1 0  

Charging orders 7 5  

 
end 

Page 152



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 B

 
  T

a
b

le
 1

: 
D

e
b

ts
 W

ri
tt

e
n

 O
ff

 d
u

ri
n

g
 Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
1

 2
0
1

3
/1

4
 (

£
) 

W
ri
te
-o
ff
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 

In
c
o
m
e
 

D
e
b
ts
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

T
e
n
a
n
t 

A
rr
e
a
rs
  

R
e
n
ts
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 

N
N
D
R
 

T
O
T
A
L
 

A
p

r-
1
3
 

U
n

d
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

2
,1

6
0

 
0

 
0

 
1

1
,9

8
9

 
0

 
1

4
,1

4
9

 

O
v
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

O
v
e

r 
1

0
k
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
o
ta
l 

0
 

2
,1
6
0
 

0
 

0
 

1
1
,9
8
9
 

0
 

1
4
,1
4
9
 

M
a
y
-1

3
 

U
n

d
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

2
2

,5
0

0
 

0
 

1
,4

5
7

 
2

7
,2

9
2

 
1

4
,3

2
4

 
6

5
,5

7
2

 

O
v
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

9
,7

2
1

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
2

,2
6

9
 

1
1

,9
9

0
 

O
v
e

r 
1

0
k
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
o
ta
l 

0
 

3
2
,2
2
1
 

0
 

1
,4
5
7
 

2
7
,2
9
2
 

1
6
,5
9
2
 

7
7
,5
6
2
 

J
u

n
-1

3
 

U
n

d
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

3
2

,8
7

2
 

2
3

,7
2

9
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

5
6

,6
0

1
 

O
v
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

1
2

,9
6

1
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

1
2

,9
6

1
 

O
v
e

r 
1

0
k
 

0
 

1
0

,3
5

0
 

0
 

  
0

 
0

 
1

0
,3

5
0

 

T
o
ta
l 

0
 

5
6
,1
8
3
 

2
3
,7
2
9
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

7
9
,9
1
2
 

  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 T
o
ta
ls
 

0
 

9
0
,5
6
4
 

2
3
,7
2
9
 

1
,4
5
7
 

3
9
,2
8
0
 

1
6
,5
9
2
 

1
7
1
,6
2
3
 

       

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Page 153



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 B

 
  T

a
b

le
 2

: 
D

e
b

ts
 W

ri
tt

e
n

 O
ff

 d
u

ri
n

g
 Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
1

 2
0
1

3
/1

4
 (

N
u

m
b

e
rs

) 

W
ri
te
-o
ff
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 

In
c
o
m
e
 

D
e
b
ts
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

T
e
n
a
n
t 

A
rr
e
a
rs
  

R
e
n
ts
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 

N
N
D
R
 

T
O
T
A
L
 

A
p

r-
1
3
 

U
n

d
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

2
7

 
0

 
0

 
2

1
 

0
 

4
8

 

O
v
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

O
v
e

r 
1

0
k
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
o
ta
l 

0
 

2
7
 

0
 

0
 

2
1
 

0
 

4
8
 

M
a
y
-1

3
 

U
n

d
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

1
4

1
 

0
 

1
 

5
1

 
2

3
 

2
1

6
 

O
v
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

3
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

2
 

5
 

O
v
e

r 
1

0
k
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
o
ta
l 

0
 

1
4
4
 

0
 

1
 

5
1
 

2
5
 

2
2
1
 

J
u

n
-1

3
 

U
n

d
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

1
6

2
 

1
5

3
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

3
1

5
 

O
v
e

r 
2

k
 

0
 

4
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

4
 

O
v
e

r 
1

0
k
 

0
 

1
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

1
 

T
o
ta
l 

0
 

1
6
7
 

1
5
3
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

3
2
0
 

  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 T
o
ta
ls
 

0
 

3
3
8
 

1
5
3
 

1
 

7
2
 

2
5
 

5
8
9
 

        

Page 154



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 B

 
  T

a
b

le
 3

: 
C

o
s

ts
 W

ri
tt

e
n

 O
ff

 d
u

ri
n

g
 Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
1

 2
0
1

3
/1

4
 (

£
) 

 

C
o

s
t 

w
ri

te
-o

ff
 

H
o

u
s

in
g

 
B

e
n

e
fi

ts
 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

In
c

o
m

e
 

D
e

b
ts

 

F
o

rm
e

r 
T

e
n

a
n

t 
A

rr
e

a
rs

  
R

e
n

ts
 

C
o

u
n

c
il

 T
a

x
 

N
N

D
R

 
T

O
T

A
L

 

A
p

r-
1

3
 

0
 

2
0

5
 

0
 

0
 

2
,6

8
4
 

0
 

2
,8

8
9
 

M
a

y
-1

3
 

0
 

2
2

2
 

£
0
 

0
 

6
,6

2
6
 

3
,8

3
5
 

1
0

,6
8

3
 

J
u

n
-1

3
 

0
 

0
 

9
7

4
 

0
 

0
 

£
0
 

9
7

4
 

Q
u

a
rt

e
r 

1
 T

o
ta

ls
 

0
 

4
2

7
 

9
7

4
 

0
 

9
,3

1
0
 

3
,8

3
5
 

1
4

,5
4

6
 

Page 155



Page 156

This page is intentionally left blank



 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 C
 

 D
E
N
T
S
 W

R
IT
T
E
N
 O
F
F
 (
£
) 

 T
a
b
le
 2
: 
D
e
b
ts
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
 d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
1
/1
2
  

 

W
ri
te
 

O
ff
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 

In
c
o
m
e
 

D
e
b
ts
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

T
e
n
a
n
t 

A
rr
e
a
rs
 

 
R
e
n
ts
 

 
P
S
L
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
 

H
o
m
e
 

C
a
re
 

R
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

C
a
re
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
 

T
a
x
 

N
N
D
R
 

T
O
T
A
L
 

 
2
0
1
1
/1
2
 

T
o
ta
ls
 

 

2
6

0
,4

8
7
 

1
4

5
,2

8
4
 

9
8

7
,3

8
3
 

2
,8

0
8
 

N
/A

 
0

 
0

 
2

0
5

,7
8

9
 

7
7

2
,6

8
3
 

2
,3
7
4
,4
3
3
 

 T
a
b
le
 3
: 
D
e
b
ts
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
 d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
2
/1
3
 

 

W
ri
te
 

O
ff
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 

In
c
o
m
e
 

D
e
b
ts
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

T
e
n
a
n
t 

A
rr
e
a
rs
 

R
e
n
ts
 

P
S
L
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
 

H
o
m
e
 

C
a
re
 

R
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

C
a
re
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
 

T
a
x
 

N
N
D
R
 

T
O
T
A
L
 

 
2
0
1
2
/1
3
 

T
o
ta
ls
 

 

1
1

0
,8

7
6
 

1
4

1
,8

9
6
 

8
8

6
,8

9
0
 

2
3

,3
6

0
 

N
/A

 
0

 
0

 
1

,0
1
5

,4
0

8
 

5
6
9

,8
4

2
 

2
,7
4
8
,2
8
1
 

 T
a
b
le
 4
: 
D
e
b
ts
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
 d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
3
/1
4
 (
Q
1
 o
n
ly
) 

 

W
ri
te
 

O
ff
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 

In
c
o
m
e
 

D
e
b
ts
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

T
e
n
a
n
t 

A
rr
e
a
rs
 

R
e
n
ts
 

P
S
L
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
 

H
o
m
e
 

C
a
re
 

R
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

C
a
re
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
 

T
a
x
 

N
N
D
R
 

T
O
T
A
L
 

 
2
0
1
3
/1
4
  

Q
1
 

0
 

9
0

,5
6

4
 

2
3

,7
2

9
 

1
,4

5
7
 

N
/A

 
0

 
0

 
3

9
,2

8
0
 

1
6

,5
9

2
 

1
7
1
,6
2
3
 

 

Page 157



Page 158

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 D

 

T
e
n
 l
a
rg
e
s
t 
d
e
b
ts
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 f
o
r 
w
ri
te
-o
ff
: 
- 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
, 
2
0
1
3
/1
4
 

 N
A
M
E
 

A
M
O
U
N
T
 

D
E
P
A
R
T
M
E
N
T
 

R
E
A
S
O
N
 

 M
o

n
ic

a
 K

u
n

z
e

k
w

e
g

u
ta

 

 

£
3

,4
6

1
 

 

G
I 

A
  

J
u

d
g

e
m

e
n

t 
w

a
s

 o
b

ta
in

e
d

 a
n

d
 p

a
s

s
e

d
 i

t 
to

 t
h

e
 b

a
ili

ff
s

 f
o

r 
H

ig
h

 

C
o

u
rt

 A
c

ti
o

n
. 

 T
h

e
 B

a
ili

ff
 r

e
tu

rn
e

d
 t

h
is

 t
o

 u
s

 a
s

 t
h

e
y 

w
e

re
 u

n
a

b
le

 t
o

 

e
n

fo
rc

e
 a

ft
e

r 
v

is
it

in
g

, 
s

e
n

d
in

g
 l

e
tt

e
rs

 a
n

d
 t

e
le

p
h

o
n

e
 c

a
lls

 a
s

 t
h

e
re

 

w
e

re
 n

o
 g

o
o

d
s

 o
f 

s
u

ff
ic

ie
n

t 
v

a
lu

e
. 

 If
e

lo
la

 O
w

o
s

e
m

i 

 

£
2

,2
6

9
 

 

N
N

D
R

 

L
ia

b
le

 f
ro

m
 2

7
.1

2
.2

0
1

1
 u

n
ti

l 
2

7
.7

.2
0

1
2

. 
 C

h
a

rg
e

 w
a

s
 £

2
,7

2
3

 

in
c

lu
d

in
g

 c
o

s
ts

, 
p

a
id

 n
o

th
in

g
. 

 M
a

d
e

 l
ia

b
le

 a
s

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 D
ir

e
c

to
r 

a
s

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 E
a

g
le

 B
u

s
in

e
s

s
 a

n
d

 L
e

g
a

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 L

td
 h

a
d

 b
e

e
n

 

d
is

s
o

lv
e

d
. 

 L
e

a
s

e
 f

o
r 

p
ro

p
e

rt
y 

h
a

d
 n

o
t 

b
e

e
n

 d
is

c
la

im
e

d
. 

 A
b

s
c

o
n

d
e

d
 

a
n

d
 a

ll 
tr

a
c

e
s

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 w

e
re

 u
n

s
u

c
c

e
s

s
fu

l.
 

 M
r 

Z
u

b
a

ir
 A

h
m

e
d

 

 

£
1

,4
4

2
 

 

N
N

D
R

 

L
ia

b
le

 f
ro

m
 2

.6
.2

0
1

0
 u

n
ti

l 
1

.9
.2

0
1

2
. 

 C
h

a
rg

e
 w

a
s

 £
3

,7
8

2
 i

n
c

lu
d

in
g

 

c
o

s
ts

, 
p

a
id

 £
1

,9
3

4
. 

 A
b

s
c

o
n

d
e

d
 a

n
d

 n
e

w
 o

c
c

u
p

ie
r 

b
ill

e
d

. 
 A

ll 
tr

a
c

e
s

 

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 w

it
h

 n
o

 s
u

c
c

e
s

s
. 

 M
r 

M
u

h
a

m
m

e
d

 T
a

h
ir

 

 

£
1

,3
8

2
 

 

C
T

A
X

 

L
ia

b
le

 f
ro

m
 2

6
.0

2
.0

9
 t

o
 0

1
.0

6
.1

2
. 

 A
c

c
o

u
n

t 
w

a
s

 p
a

s
s

e
d

 f
o

r 
w

ri
te

 o
ff

 

a
s

 s
e

v
e

ra
l 

a
tt

e
m

p
ts

 a
t 

tr
a

c
in

g
 h

im
 w

e
re

 c
a

rr
ie

d
 o

u
t 

a
n

d
 w

e
re

 

u
n

s
u

c
c

e
s

s
fu

l.
  

T
e

n
a

n
t 

h
a

s
 a

b
s

c
o

n
d

e
d

. 

 M
r 

A
d

e
w

a
le

 A
ri

w
o

d
o

la
 

 

£
1

,3
5

2
 

 

G
I 

J
u

d
g

e
m

e
n

t 
o

b
ta

in
e

d
. 

 S
e

n
t 

to
 t

h
e

 N
e

w
ly

n
’s

 B
a

ili
ff

 f
o

r 
H

ig
h

 C
o

u
rt

 

A
c

ti
o

n
. 

 U
n

s
u

c
c

e
s

s
fu

l 
a

s
 b

a
ili

ff
 w

e
re

 u
n

a
b

le
 t

o
 c

o
n

ta
c

t 
th

e
 d

e
b

to
r.

. 
 

R
e

tu
rn

e
d

 f
ro

m
 B

a
ili

ff
 a

s
 u

n
a

b
le

 t
o

 r
e

c
o

v
e

r 
th

e
 d

e
b

t.
 

 M
r 

O
la

le
k

a
n

 O
la

ri
n

s
o

y
e

 

 

£
1

,2
8

1
 

 

C
T

A
X

 

L
ia

b
le

 f
ro

m
 0

6
.0

2
.1

0
 t

o
 2

8
.1

1
.1

2
. 

 T
h

e
 t

e
n

a
n

t 
a

b
s

c
o

n
d

e
d

 t
h

e
 

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

 a
n

d
 l

e
ft

 n
o

 f
o

rw
a

rd
in

g
 a

d
d

re
s

s
. 

 A
ll 

re
le

v
a

n
t 

tr
a

c
in

g
 w

a
s

 

c
a

rr
ie

d
 o

u
t 

w
h

ic
h

 p
ro

v
e

d
 u

n
s

u
c

c
e

s
s

fu
l.

 

 

M
s

 D
e

b
o

ra
h

 B
 W

ri
g

h
t 

£
1

,2
5

6
 

C
T

A
X

 
L

ia
b

le
 f

ro
m

 0
3

.1
1

.0
5

 t
o

 0
1

.0
9

.1
2

. 
 T

h
e

 t
e

n
a

n
t 

d
id

 n
o

t 
p

a
y

 a
ft

e
r 

th
e

ir
 

C
T

B
 e

n
d

e
d

. 
 A

 f
o

rw
a

rd
in

g
 a

d
d

re
s

s
 w

a
s

 p
ro

v
id

e
d

 b
u

t 
p

ro
v

e
d

 t
o

 b
e

 

in
v

a
lid

. 
  

T
h

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 w
a

s
 u

n
a

b
le

 t
o

 f
in

d
 a

n
o

th
e

r 
o

n
e

 a
ft

e
r 

d
o

in
g

 

tr
a

c
in

g
 w

o
rk

. 
 A

c
c

o
u

n
t 

w
a

s
 p

a
s

s
e

d
 f

o
r 

w
ri

te
 o

ff
. 

Page 159



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 D

 

N
A
M
E
 

A
M
O
U
N
T
 

D
E
P
A
R
T
M
E
N
T
 

R
E
A
S
O
N
 

 M
s

 M
a

u
re

e
n

 O
s

h
o

d
in

 

 

£
1

,2
4

3
 

 

C
T

A
X

 

L
ia
b
le
 f
ro
m
 2
4
.0
6
.1
0
 t
o
 1
4
.0
7
.1
1
. 
 T
e
n
a
n
t 
d
id
 n
o
t 
in
fo
rm
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 s
h
e
 

w
a
s
 l
ia
b
le
 w
h
ils
t 
s
h
e
 l
iv
e
d
 t
h
e
re
. 
 H
e
r 
a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
w
a
s
 c
re
a
te
d
 a
ft
e
r 
s
h
e
 l
e
ft
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
y
. 
 A
ft
e
r 
c
a
rr
y
in
g
 o
u
t 
s
e
a
rc
h
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
 c
re
d
it
 c
h
e
c
k
 n
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
c
o
n
ta
c
t 

d
e
ta
ils
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 f
o
u
n
d
 s
o
 d
e
b
t 
w
a
s
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
. 

 M
s

 V
ic

to
ri

a
 A

k
in

s
o

la
 

 

£
1

,1
8

4
 

 

C
T

A
X

 

L
ia
b
le
 f
ro
m
 0
1
.0
5
.1
0
 t
o
 0
1
.0
7
.1
1
. 
 T
e
n
a
n
t 
a
b
s
c
o
n
d
e
d
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

o
w
n
e
r 
d
id
 n
o
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
 f
o
rw
a
rd
in
g
 a
d
d
re
s
s
. 
 T
ra
c
in
g
 w
a
s
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
b
u
t 

p
ro
v
e
d
 u
n
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
s
o
 d
e
b
t 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
. 

 M
r 

N
a

n
a

 B
e

rk
o

 

 

£
1

,1
6

9
 

 

C
T

A
X

 

L
ia
b
le
 f
ro
m
 2
1
.0
9
.0
9
 t
o
 1
8
.0
9
.1
0
. 
T
e
n
a
n
t 
d
id
 n
o
t 
in
fo
rm
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 h
e
 w
a
s
 

lia
b
le
 w
h
ils
t 
h
e
 l
iv
e
d
 t
h
e
re
. 
 H
is
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
w
a
s
 c
re
a
te
d
 a
ft
e
r 
h
e
 l
e
ft
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
y
. 
 A
ft
e
r 
c
a
rr
y
in
g
 o
u
t 
s
e
a
rc
h
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
 c
re
d
it
 c
h
e
c
k
 n
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
c
o
n
ta
c
t 

d
e
ta
ils
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 f
o
u
n
d
 s
o
 d
e
b
t 
w
a
s
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
. 

 

 G
i 

 
G

e
n

e
ra

l 
In

c
o

m
e

 

N
N

D
R

  
N

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

N
o

n
-D

o
m

e
s

ti
c

 R
a

te
s

 

C
T

A
X

 
 

C
o

u
n

c
il 

T
a

x
 

Page 160


	Agenda
	
	3 Minutes - To confirm as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 23 July 2013
	4 Budget Monitoring 2013/14 - April to July 2013 (Month 4)
	Budget Monitoring - Appendix A - General Fund Expenditure
	Budget Monitoring - Appendix B - Savings Targets
	Budget Monitoring - Appendix C - HRA Expenditure
	Budget Monitoring - Appendix D - Capital Programme

	5 Corporate Priority Performance Reporting - Quarter 1 Update
	Corporate Priority Performance Q1 Report - App. 1

	6 Second Local Implementation Plan 2014/15 - 2016/17 Delivery and Monitoring Plan and Borough Cycling Programme 2013/14 - 2016/17
	LIP Delivery Plan Report - App. 1
	LIP Delivery Plan Report - App. 2
	LIP Delivery Plan Report - App. 3

	7 Barking and Dagenham Employment Areas Local Development Order
	Employment LDO Report - App. 1

	8 Future Arrangements for the Management of Scrattons Community Centre
	9 May and Baker Sports Ground
	May and Baker Report - App. 1 (Site Plan)

	10 Delegation of Enforcement Powers for Regulating Illegal Money Lending Activity
	Delegation of IML Report - App. 1

	11 Debt Management Performance and Write-Offs 2013/14 (Quarter 1)
	Debt Management Q1 2013-14 Report - App. A
	Debt Management Q1 2013-14 Report - App. B
	Debt Management Q1 2013-14 Report - App. C
	Debt Management Q1 2013-14 Report - App. D


